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PART |

This document and other public statements we malecontain statements that do not relate strialyistorical fact, any of which
may be forward-looking statements within the meguoiithe U.S. Private Securities Litigation Refokat of 1995. When we use the words
"anticipates,” "plans," "expects" and similar exps#ons, we are identifying forward-looking statetseRorward-looking statements involve
known and unknown risks and uncertainties which o@ayse our actual results, performance or achievam® be materially different from
those expressed or implied by forward-looking stegets. While it is impossible to identify or predict allch matters, these differences may
result from, among other things, the inherent utaiaty of the timing and success of, and expensecésted with, research, development,
regulatory approval and commercialization of ouogucts and product candidates, including the risleg clinical trials will not commence or
proceed as planned; products appearing promisingdry trials will not demonstrate efficacy or sigfen largel-scale trials; clinical trial data
on our products and product candidates will be wofable; our products will not receive marketingoapval from regulators or, if approved,
do not gain sufficient market acceptance to justéyelopment and commercialization costs; the sal@soducts by our partners and the
royalty generated thereby; competing products auttyeon the market or in development might redbeecdommercial potential of our
products; we, our collaborators or others mightntiéy side effects after the product is on the regrkr efficacy or safety concerns regard
marketed products, whether or not originating freatbsequent testing or other activities by us, gowental regulators, other entities or
organizations or otherwise, and whether or not stifeeally justified, may lead to product recallsjthdrawals of marketing approval,
reformulation of the product, additional pre-climictesting or clinical trials, changes in labelirg the product, the need for additional
marketing applications, declining sales or othevaise events.

We are also subject to risks and uncertainties aissed with the actions of our corporate, acadeanid other collaborators and
government regulatory agencies, including risksrfnmarket forces and trends; potential product lidygi intellectual property, litigation ant
other dispute resolution, environmental and othigks; the risk that we may not be able to entey fat/orable collaboration or other
relationships or that existing or future relationgh may not proceed as planned; the risk that aureand pending patent protection for our
products may be invalid, unenforceable or challehge fail to provide adequate market exclusivitythat our rights to i-licensed
intellectual property may be terminated for ouldiaé to satisfy performance milestones; the risHitffculties in, and regulatory compliance
relating to, manufacturing products; and the unaérty of our future profitability.

Risks and uncertainties also include general ecaa@onditions, including interest and currency eage-rate fluctuations and the
availability of capital; changes in generally acte@ accounting principles; the impact of legislatiand regulatory compliance; the highly
regulated nature of our business, including governtitost-containment initiatives and restrictiomstbird-party payments for our products;
trade buying patterns; the competitive climate wf imdustry; and other factors set forth in thisadonent and other reports filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). In paaticwe cannot assure you that Relistavill be commercially successful or be approved
in the future in other formulations, indicationsjarisdictions, or that any of our other programélwesult in a commercial product.

We do not have a policy of updating or revisingMard-looking statements and we assume no obligatiarpdate any statements as &
result of new information or future events or depehents. It should not be assumed that our silemeetime means that actual events are
bearing out as expressed or implied in forward-iogkstatements.

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, gretatements and other documents with the SEC uhdeBecurities Exchange Act
1934. The SEC maintains an Internet website thaiadios reports, proxy and information statementsather information regarding issuers,
including Progenics, that file electronically withe SEC. You may obtain documents that we file withSEC at http://www.sec.gov , and reac
and copy them at the SEC's Public Reference RodiiaF Street NE, Washington, DC 20549. You mayiokinformation on operation of
the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC a®@-BEC-0330. We also make available free of chatgennual, quarterly and current
reports and proxy materials on http://www.progemics .

Additional information concerning Progenics andbitssiness may be available in press releases er ptiblic announcements and
quarterly and current reports and documents filgd the SEC. Information on or accessed throughambsite is not included in the
Company's SEC filings.

In this document, Relistor, a registered trademiafiers to methylnaltrexone — the active ingredadriRelistor -- as it has been and is
being developed and commercialized by or in coltatbon with Progenics. Subcutaneous Relistor hesived regulatory marketing approval
for specific indications, and references to Retisio not imply that any other form or possible oé¢he drug has received approval. Relistor's
approved U.S. label and full U.S. prescribing infation is available at www.Relistor.com. Other aymed labels for Relistor apply in ex-U.S.
markets. Azedra and Onalta are trademarks of odeddtar Insight Pharmaceuticals, Inc. subsidiary.
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Iltem 1. Business

Progenics Pharmaceuticals develops innovative nmedidor oncology. Our clinical development effarenter on late-stage oncology
assets. An important focus for Progenics is tarj#terapeutics and imaging agents. A number otaundidates target prostate specific
membrane antigen (PSMA).

Oncology

OUR PRODUCT CANDIDATES

In development for Status
PSMA ADC Treatment of prostate cancer Phase 2 testing in
chemotherapy-

experienced and
chemotherapy-naive
patients complete

1404 Imaging agent for prostate cant Phase 2 testin
completec
Azedra™ Treatment of pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma Resumed Phase 2b

registrational trial unde
Special Protocol
Assessment (SP/

RELISTOR ®

Relistor-Subcutaneous Treatment of opioid-induced constipation (OIC) dvanced-illnessMarketed in the U.S.,
injection patients receiving palliative care when laxativerépy has not beeE.U., Canada, Australia
sufficient and elsewhere; licensed
to Salix
Pharmaceutical

Relisto-Subcutaneou Treatment of OIC in patients with n-cancer pair Marketed in the U.S

injection licensed to Salix
Pharmaceuticals;
received this expanded
approval from the U.S.
Food and Drug
Administration;
regulatory approval in
the E.U. expecte

Relistor-Oral Treatment of OIC Phase 3 testing
completed; expect New
Drug Application
(NDA) in the U.S. to b
filed in 2015

Our principal clinical-stage product candidatesmicology are

PSMA ADC , a fully human monoclonal antibody-drug conjugdgsigned to deliver a chemotherapeutic agent toecarells by
targeting the three-dimensional structure of thIR$rotein. In a phase 2 open-label, multicentémichl trial to assess anti-
tumor activity, tolerability and safety, we havengaeted enroliment in an original cohort of chensotipy refractory patients wi
metastatic castrati-resistant prostate cancer (nCRPC) and a secondtadtahemotheraf-naive patients

1404 (trofolastat), a radio-labeled small molecule which binds PSM# acts as an imaging agent to diagnose and detect
prostate cancer, including metastases in othetissfte and bone. We have completed a global realigced phase 2 study
assessing the diagnostic accuracy of -1404 imaging in men with hi¢-risk prostate cancer scheduled for radical prostegt

Azedra, a radiotherapeutic product candidate in develoyras a treatment for pheochromocytomiare tumors found primaril
in the adrenal glands — and related paragangliomars occurring in other tissues that recommenosthd patients in a resumed
phase 2 trial. Azedra has Orphan Drug designatignFast Track status in the U.S. for pheochromaogtand paraganglioma,
with clinical study conducted under a 2009 SPA wlith FDA. There is currently no FDA-approved thexatir for the treatment
of pheochromocytom:
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SeeClinical Trial Activities, below, for additional information concerning these studied those for Relistor.

We are moving forward with MIP-1095, a PSMA-targkesenall molecule radiopharmaceutical, into clinidavelopment, and plan to
file an Investigational New Drug (IND) applicatiomthe U.S. Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Ceht&s agreed to serve as a study site for
phase 1 trial of this compound.

An academic institution used this compound in Gewrfar compassionate use in men with late stag@steic prostate cancer who
had exhausted other available therapies. This asenat in conjunction with any clinical trial. Infoation from this compassionate use was
published in the European Journal of Nuclear Megéic@nd Molecular Imaging. A link to this articlef@aind on Progenics' website.

We continue to consider opportunities for stratagitaborations, out-licenses and other arrangesneith biopharmaceutical
companies involving proprietary research, develapiinical and commercialization programs, and/fimethe future also in-license or
acquire additional oncology compounds and/or pnogta

Relistor

Relistor, the first approved treatment for opiaidhiced constipation (OIC) that addresses its upidgrmechanism, decreases the
constipating side effects induced by opioid pairditations such as morphine and codeine withoutrdghing their ability to relieve pain.
Relistor subcutaneous injection is approved fog gathe U.S., E.U., Canada, Australia and elsesvlresingle-use vials and pfiled syringes
which are designed to ease preparation and adnaitidst for patients and caregivers. Under our LéseAgreement, Salix is responsible for
developing and commercializing Relistor, includegnpleting clinical development necessary to supmgulatory marketing approvals for
potential new formulations of the drug (such asex formulation of methylnaltrexone, the activgriedient in Relistor). This was originally
approved in 2008 for OIC in patients with advanitlee@ss. In September 2014, Salix received an eded approval from the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration for the treatment of OIC in jesits taking opioids for chronic non-cancer pain.

SeeRisk Factors.

Relistor net sales (losses) and related royaltgrire (loss) during the years 2012-2014 are set firtbw. Salix reported sales
deductions in excess of gross sales resultingayalty loss from net Relistor losses during therfb quarter of 2014, leading us to recognize
an accrued royalty loss liability owed to Salix®8f.7 million. Year-to-date 2014 Relistor net salad royalty income reported by Salix were
$20.3 million and $3.0 million. Our recognition mfyalty income (loss) for financial reporting pusas is explained iManagement's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition d&ekults of Operations (MD&/and our financial statements included elsewhethin
document. Royalties are based on net sales regaytedr commercialization collaborators.

First Second Third Fourth Full
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
(in thousands)
2014
Net Sales (Losse: $ 4800 $% 9,10C $ 10,80C $ (4,400 $ 20,30¢(
Royalty Income (Loss 728 1,35: 1,617 (657) 3,03¢
2013:
Net Sales $ 7,700 $ 7,900 $ 4,80 $ 19,000 $ 39,40(
Royalty Income 1,15¢ 1,174 71¢ 2,84 5,89¢
2012:
Net Sales $ 12,30C $ 10,80C $ 4,90C $ 5,20C $ 33,20(
Royalty Income 1,83¢ 1,61¢ 72¢ 782 4,96:

Clinical Trial Activities

Progenics' practice is and has been to announcmeanement and results of all of its significannicial trials in press releases,
medical and scientific meetings and other venueioWwing is a summary of current clinical trial adties involving our principal product
candidates and Relistor.
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PSMA ADC. In our open-label, multicenter U.S. phase 2 trfdP8MA ADC to assess anti-tumor activity and tolb#lity an initial
cohort of chemotherapy-experienced participanth WiICRPC have received initial doses of drug stgmineither 2.5 mg/kg or 2.3 mg/kg; in
some cases subsequent doses were adjusted basderalility. The study endpoints evaluate the-antor effect of the compound as
measured by changes in prostate specific antigeA)Rvels, number of circulating tumor cells (CT@ain scores, and tumor size as
measured under RECIST criteria. Safety is alsoghagsessed. Progenics has completed treatmenthothi@o84 patients in this
chemotherapy-experienced cohort and an additioiaakcbhort of 35 chemotherapy-naive patients wheehprogressed on hormonal
therapies.

Adverse events (AEs) associated with PSMA ADC okebin this phase 2 study through January 2015 haga consistent with
those observed in the phase 1 study noted bel@mtist common treatment-related grade 3 or higleriA this study have been fatigue
(15.3% at 2.3 mg/kg and 20.6% at 2.5 mg/kg), neania (grade 4: 11.8% at 2.3 mg/kg and 8.8% atr@g)&g), peripheral neuropathy
(grade 3 or higher: 8.2% at 2.3 mg/kg and 5.9%&n®y/kg), decreased electrolytes (12.9% at 2.Xkgghd 20.6% at 2.5 mg/kg) and
anemia (7.1% at 2.3 mg/kg and 8.8% at 2.5 mg/kirtyFtwo patients reported serious adverse evSA&s) which included pancreatitis,
sepsis/septic shock, abdominal pain, anemia, asthetnial fibrillation, bacteremia, bone pain, chic obstructive pulmonary disease,
clostridium difficile sepsis, constipation, deepnvhrombosis, dehydration, diabetic ketoacidadiarrhea, dyspnea, electrocardiogram QT
prolonged, fall, fatigue, febrile neutropenia, gaisitestinal inflammation, hematuria, ileus, lolpaeumonia, metabolic acidosis, metabolic
encephalopathy, muscular weakness, myalgia, my@danéarction, nausea, non-cardiac chest paimhastatic hypotension, peripheral
sensory neuropathy, pleural effusion, pneumoniaany atypical, sinus tachycardia, supraventrictdahycardia, vertigo and vomiting. Also
reported were increases in blood creatine phosphski lactic acid, gamma-glutamyltransferase, mat@nal Normalized Ratio (INR),
lipase and decreases in blood leukocytes, neutsymailcium, potassium, sodium and phosphate.

There were 2 cases of drug-related sepsis in :hhng/kg dosing group that were deemed at leasilgpselated to PSMA ADC.
Both of these patients subsequently died.

The first, a patient hospitalized ten days follogvhis first dose of study drug (2.5 mg/kg) withriégdneutropenia and E. coli
positive blood cultures, progressed despite treatnoeseptic shock and died; both the investigatat Progenics considered this patient's
septic shock as probably related to PSMA ADC. Téepad patient developed a rash and fever and wssthlized for neutropenic fever,
where further assessment revealed Strep Viridaasteria (suspected to be from a tunnel cathetdrloiod. Approximately two weeks after
receiving study drug (also 2.5 mg/kg), this pati@as intubated due to hypoxia and respiratory fajland died three days after being
removed from a ventilator. The investigator congdesepsis as unlikely related, bacteremia as ptplelated, and febrile neutropenia as
definitely related to PSMA ADC; Progenics assessaibis as probably related, bacteremia as unlikédyed, and febrile neutropenia as
definitely related to PSMA ADC.

There were no drug-related deaths in patientsedeait 2.3 mg/kg amongst the chemo-experienced tohtire chemo-naive cohort.

The phase 2 trial was undertaken after review aadlyais of results from a phase 1 dose-rangingystfithe compound in 52
MCRPC patients whose cancer had progressed dpsipitéreatment with taxane-based chemotherapynegs.

The initial 12-week clinical trial period of the gbe 1 study had evaluated up to four intravenossgiof PSMA ADC administered
at three-week intervals. Following completion of four doses, patients were offered, at their mlignss' discretion, the option to continue
treatment with PSMA ADC for up to an additional®8eks. The anti-tumor effect of the compound assoweal by changes in PSA levels
and number of CTCs was observed in the study ad@sss ranging from 1.8 mg/kg to 2.8 mg/kg, andiblierresponses were seen in some
of these heavily pre-treated patients. PSMA ADC geserally well tolerated in patients at dosesougrd including 2.5 mg/kg. Dose
limiting toxicities, primarily neutropenia, wereeseat 2.8 mg/kg. The most commonly reported AEsvegiorexia and fatigue. Five patients
experienced SAEs, two of which resulted in deathe @atient dosed at 1.8 mg/kg died from multi-orgalure due to acute pancreatitis:
while no data suggested this event was drug-relatpdssible relationship could not be definitivalied out. A second patient died 11 days
after receiving study drug at 2.8 mg/kg: septicckhwas cited as the cause of death. The investigattsidered septic shock as probably
related and febrile neutropenia as definitely edab PSMA ADC.

Through January 2015, 22% of the 171 patientsadeaith PSMA ADC in these trials have reported SAdssnoted above in the
descriptions of the phase 1 and phase 2 trialsomalucting these studies, Progenics has takeraguount SAEs reported to date as
treatment-related or possibly treatment-relatedetiaon data currently available to it, the Compargontinuing development of PSMA
ADC and has not determined what effects, if argatinent-related SAEs reported to date or that reagborted in the future may have on
the development of PSMA ADC going forward. $tiek Factors.

1404.Molecular Insight conducted four phase 1 studighk W#04 to establish proof-of-concept and dosimetng to assess a
simplified kit preparation as compared to multipspgeparation. It commenced a phase 2 safety divd@f study in 2012 to assess the
diagnostic accuracy of the compound imaging in méh high-risk prostate cancer scheduled for rddicastatectomy (RP) and extended
pelvic lymph node dissection compared to histopatiyo The primary objective of this phase 2 inteimr@al multi-center, multi-reader,
open-label trial is to assess clinical safety alb agethe compound's ability to detect prostateceamwithin the prostate gland. Patient
enrollment has been completed with 105 participdoted at 20 centers in the U.S. and Europe. Aitiadal phase 1 study in 14 patients to
assess safety and diagnostic accuracy of 1404 visaole and pelvic SPECT/CT imaging and pelvic MRhormal healthy men without
current evidence of prostate cancer has completsithgl. There have to date been no treatment refdEsdeported in these studies, other
than one mild injection site reaction.






Table of Content

Azedra.In 2006, Molecular Insight commenced a phase lyswith Azedra in 11 patients with pheochromocytanparaganglioma
and metastatic carcinoid tumors to assess theysadeliation dosimetry, and distribution metabolisha single imaging dose of this
compound. Following completion of this study, twasd-finding studies were conducted to determinexaimmum tolerated therapeutic dose,
and to assess safety, dosimetry and preliminaiyaeff of Azedra in 21 patients with pheochromocyddmparaganglioma and 15 with high-
risk neuroblastoma, respectively.

Molecular Insight subsequently commenced a phated¥y of Azedra under the 2009 SPA regarding tlsggdeof this intended
registrational phase 2 trial to evaluate the effjcand safety of the administration of two therajedoses of the compound in patients with
pheochromocytoma / paraganglioma. The primary dbjeof this U.S. study is to determine the clihibanefit of Azedra based on the
proportion of study participants with a reductidralh antihypertensive medication by at least 5@odt least six months. This phase 2 trial
has enrolled 41 of the 58 patients required tadetéd under the SPA, and the long-term follow higse of the study is ongoing. To date
49% of patients receiving study drug reported SARs,most common of which were hematologic (12%)epSAEs included constipation,
dyspnea and myelodysplastic syndrome (each at 4.5%)

This trial was suspended by Molecular Insight e 2010 due to its lack of funding. Progenics has resumed this trial and
recommenced dosing patients.

Relistor.Salix and Progenics completed in 2011 a phase 3tliabto evaluate the efficacy and safety of eradthylnaltrexone for
the treatment of opioid-induced constipation irguas with chronic, non-cancer pain. This 804-patieal assessed a once-daily oral
methylnaltrexone dose of 150, 300 or 450 mg conpr@lacebo for 12 weeks: patients received oiilg dase during the first four weeks
and dosing on an as needed basis for the remagigihg weeks. Both the 300 and 450 mg treatment demsonstrated statistically significant
results for the primary endpoint of average praparof rescue-free bowel movements (RFBMSs) pergpativithin four hours of
administration over four weeks of dosing, when careg to the placebo treatment arm. Efficacy was s¢en in both the 300 and 450 mg
treatment groups for other endpoints, includingngfeain weekly RFBMs from baseline over the firsirfaveeks and one assessing response
(responder/non-responder) to study drug during weele to four, where "responder” was defined ampatree or more RFBMs per week,
with an increase of at least one RFBM per week baseline, for at least three out of the first faareks. Overall, efficacy of oral
methylnaltrexone in this study was comparable &b thported in clinical studies of subcutaneoushgiraltrexone in patients with chronic,
non-cancer pain, and the overall observed safetfji@iseen in patients treated with oral methylmadbne was comparable to placebo. Salix
expects to file an NDA for oral methylnaltrexonelm U.S. this year.

The phase 3 trial was undertaken after review awadlyais of results from clinical trials initiateg BProgenics' former collaboration
partner, Wyeth Pharmaceuticals, and Progenicziatjiformulations of oral methylnaltrexone in pat®with chronic, non-cancer pain
receiving opioid treatment.

In one of these trials, of the oral formulatiorliméd in the phase 3 trial described above, 48%h®R25 patients receiving
methylnaltrexone tablets laxated within four hoofsreatment. In this study, there were no drugtesl SAEs reported, and the most frequent
AEs were nausea and headache (10.8% each); oteezs/amiting (4.6%), abdominal pain and muscle 53a8.1% each). Based on the
data from this study and other information regagdinal methylnaltrexone, Progenics concluded thatmethylnaltrexone tablet was active
and generally well tolerated and that its safelgrmacokinetics and activity profiles were compbeab that of subcutaneous
methylnaltrexone, and decided to commence the phasal described above.

For purposes of the foregoing summary, in gendrasp 1 trials are initial evaluations of safethimans which study methods of
action and metabolization; phase 2 trials evalgafety, dosing and activity or efficacy, and conéirsafety evaluation; and phase 3 trials
involve larger scale evaluations of safety, efficanod dosage.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development is essential to our kassibeiring each of the years ended December 34, 2013 and 2012, we
incurred research and development costs of $28l®mi$34.6 million and $33.0 million, respectiyeFor additional information relating to
our research and development expensedVis@agement's Discussion and Analysis of Financ@idition and Results of Operations -
Results of Operatior- Research and Development Expenses
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License and Other Agreements
Following is a summary of significant agreementatieg to our pipeline.
Oncology

Our PSMA Development Company LLC subsidiary haslmboration agreement with Seattle Genetics, incler which SGI has
granted us an exclusive worldwide license to itppietary ADC technology. We have the right to the technology, which is based in part
technology licensed by SGI from third parties,itd Ichemotherapeutic agents to our monoclonal adi#s that target prostate specific
membrane antigen utilizing technology licensedgpthrough Cytogen Corporation, from Sld&ettering Institute for Cancer Research. We
responsible for research, product development, faaturing and commercialization of all productsgamne obligated to make maintenance
milestone payments and to pay royalties to SGliritensors, as applicable, on a percentage tofales. The SGI agreement terminates ¢
latest of (i) the tenth anniversary of the firstrouercial sale of each licensed product in eachtcpan (i) the latest date of expiration of
patents underlying the licensed products. We mayiteate the agreement upon advance written ndiG4;may terminate if we fail to cure a
breach of an SGI in-license after written notiagg @ither party may terminate after written notip@n an uncured breach or in the event of th
other party's bankruptcy.

PSMA LLC also has a worldwide exclusive licensiggeement with Abgenix (how Amgen Fremont, Inc.use its XenoMous@
technology for generating fully human antibodieP®MA. We are obligated to make development andhoercialization milestone payments
with respect to products incorporating an antibgdgerated utilizing that technology, along withalties based upon net sales of such
products. Abgenix may terminate this agreementéuse, after an opportunity to cure, upon 30 dags written notice; we have the right to
terminate upon 30 days prior written notice. Theeagent continues until the later of the expiratbspecified patents or seven years fron
first commercial sale of eligible products.

We acquired Molecular Insight in January 2013 bschasing all of its outstanding capital stock fet5R2,593 shares of Progenics
common stock in a private transaction. Under the@ment, we also agreed to pay to the former stidkhs potential milestones, in cash or
Progenics stock at our option, of up to $23 milleamtingent upon achieving specified commercial@aevents and up to $70 million
contingent upon achieving specified sales targgéding to the acquired company's products andinfiag of these payments, if any is highly
uncertain. The agreement contains customary representatiach&amanties, covenants, indemnification and ofhievisions.

In addition to utilizing its own proprietary tecHogy, Molecular Insight has a number of agreemeiitis owners of intellectual
property which we use or believe may be usefuegearch and development of product candidatesidimg:

. Prior to our acquisition of Molecular Insight, al20out-license agreement with FUJIFILM RI Pharma, Ctl., for the
development and commercialization of 1404 in Japétf, an upfront payment and the right to receigéeptial future milestone
and royalty payment:

. A 2012 co-exclusive license agreement with the Brsity of Zurich and the Paul Scherrer Instituteviorldwide
sublicensable rights to certain intellectual propeelated to production methodologies relevart464. Under this agreement, we
maintain related patent rights and are obligatguhiplow single-digit royalties on products usihg ticensed technology, license
maintenance fees creditable against royaltiespanal fee for an option to expand the licenseld fi¢ use, and clinical and
regulatory milestone payments aggregating appraeiy&1.2 million. The agreement may be termindtgdhe licensors upon
certain material defaults by, and automaticallynieates upon certain bankruptcy events relatingatecular Insight, and may be
terminated by us on prior written notic

. A 2000 exclusive license agreement with The Unityef Western Ontario for worldwide sublicensalifghts to certain
intellectual property related to production methiodes relevant to Azedra. Under this agreementnaatain related patent rig
and are obligated to pay low single-digit royaltesproducts using the licensed technology, mininamnmual royalties creditable
against royalties and clinical and regulatory ntdes payments aggregating approximately $0.2 millithe agreement, which
either party may terminate upon certain bankruptiegnts or material defaults, continues througHahketo expire of the related
patent rights

. A 2006 agreement with Novartis Pharma AG for exglkisights to certain technology relating to On&taa compound
which has been outlicensed to a third party whécbhligated to make milestone payments and rogattimsistent with Moleculal
obligations under this agreement, including rogaltind milestone payments, partially creditablénagéuture royalties, totaling
$4.6 million upon the attainment of certain regoigtapprovals. Either party may terminate this agrent immediately upon the
occurrence of bankruptcy proceedings relating tim dhe event of an uncured material breach byother party, and Novartis may
terminate in the event Molecular Insight is acqgiiby a direct competitor of Novarti
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Under our License Agreement, Salix Pharmaceutisaissponsible for further developing and comméimiag subcutaneous Relistor
worldwide, including completing clinical developnigrecessary to support regulatory marketing appsdea potential new indications and
formulations, and marketing and selling the prod8etix is marketing Relistor directly through $secialty sales force in the U.S., and outsid
the U.S., directly through distribution and markgtpartners and sublicensing regional companiedetJour Agreement with Salix, we
recognized in the third quarter of 2014 a $40 wnilldevelopment milestone for the chronic non-capeér indication approval, and remain
eligible to receive (i) a development milestonaipfto $50 million upon U.S. marketing approval nfaal formulation of Relistor, and (ii) up
to $200 million of commercialization milestone pagmts upon achievement of specified U.S. salest@rggnging from $10 million when
calendar-year U.S. net sales first exceed $100omjlto $75 million when such sales first exceed$ion. We also receive royalties of 15%
of calendaryear worldwide net sales by Salix and its affil&atg to $100 million, and are eligible to receiyel7% on the next $400 million «
such sales, and 19% on such sales over $500 midiwh (i) 60% of any upfront, milestone, reimbunsat or other revenue (net of costs of
goods sold, as defined, and territory-specific aese and development expense reimbursement) Saieivies from sublicensees outside the
U.S. In the event that marketing approval for the formulation is subject to a Black Box WarningRisk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy
(REMS), payment of a substantial portion of spedifinilestone amounts would be deferred, and besttp achievement of the first
commercialization milestone. The License Agreenmeay be terminated by either party upon an uncuratnal breach or specified
bankruptcy events. In addition, Salix may termirtateLicense Agreement for unresolved safety acadly issues, or at its discretion upon
specified prior notice at any time, subject to one-time right to postpone such termination fopecgfied period of time if we have not
successfully transitioned the development and cormialezation of the drug despite good faith andgdiht efforts. Se®isk Factors.

In the third quarter of 2014, Progenics and Orsfdatmer licensee of Relistor in Japan, settledlaims between them relating to an
arbitration commenced by Progenics in 2013, thégsiOctober 2008 License Agreement, and the folitensee's development and
commercialization of the drug. In connection theatkythe parties terminated the License Agreemexthanged mutual releases, and the
former licensee paid Progenics $7.25 million, whiels been recorded as other operating income.

Among the rights we have licensed to Salix areexatusive rights to develop and commercialize mieiyrexone, the active
ingredient of Relistor, which we in-licensed frohetUniversity of Chicago. Our agreement with Cha@cpgovides for an exclusive license to
intellectual property in exchange for development potential commercialization obligations, lowgladigit royalties on commercial sales
resulting products and single-digit percentagasitdstone and sublicensing revenues, and sharedtgaalicing responsibilities. The Chicago
agreement, as amended in connection with our Rekstlaborations, including substantially all abBenics' payment obligations thereunder,
expires by its terms upon the expiration of thé fagxpire of the patents licensed thereunderlasteto-expire of which expires in 2017.

Patents and Proprietary Technology

Protection of our intellectual property rightsmsgortant to our business. We seek U.S. patentgirotefor many of our inventions,
and generally file patent applications in Canadpaf, European countries that are party to thegeam Patent Convention and other countrie
on a selective basis in order to protect inventiwasonsider to be important to the developmemiuginess in those areas. Generally, patents
issued in the U.S. are effective for either (i)y2@rs from the earliest asserted filing date,afdlpplication was filed on or after June 8, 1995, ¢
(ii) the longer of 17 years from the date of issu@0 years from the earliest asserted filing dathe application was filed prior to that date.

In certain instances, the U.S. patent term carnxtended up to a maximum of five years to recapéupertion of the term during whi
FDA regulatory review was being conducted. The tiomeof foreign patents varies in accordance with provisions of applicable local law,
although most countries provide for patent term80fears from the earliest asserted filing datkallow patent extensions similar to those
permitted in the U.S.

Patents may not enable us to preclude competitons €ommercializing drugs in direct competitionhwiur products, and
consequently may not provide us with any meaningfuhpetitive advantage. SBésk FactorsWe also rely on trade secrets, proprietary knov
how and continuing technological innovation to depeand maintain a competitive position in our prodareas. We require our employees,
consultants and corporate partners who have atcess proprietary information to sign confidenitialagreements.

7




Table of Content

Information with respect to our current patent fatid is set forth below.

Number of Patent

Clinical and Research Number of Patents Expiration Applications

Candidates; Relistor U.S. International ~ Dates® U.S. International
Development programn 25 84 2015-2031 13 39
Relistor 25 165 201:-2031 21 229
Other 0 0 - 4 8

(1) Patent term extensions and pending patentcgtighs may extend periods of pate
protection.

With respect to PSMA ADC, currently issued comgosiof-matter patents comprising co-owned and éetlised properties have
expiration ranges of 2022 to 2023 in the U.S. ad2R2o 2026 exd.S. Corresponding patent applications as wellssnt applications directe
to methods of use (except for the U.S. patent @agin 2023) are pending worldwide, which if issweduld have expiration ranges from 2022
to 2029. We view all of these patents as significan

Owned and in-licensed properties relating to 14&vehexpiration ranges of 2022 to 2030; we view astraignificant the
composition-of-matter patent on the compound, dbaseechnetium-99 labeled forms, which expire2029. Owned properties relating to
MIP-1095 have expiration ranges of 2027 to 2031yieev as most significant the composition-of-matiatent on this compound, as well as
radiolabeled forms, which expires in 2027. Additibb).S. patents are directed to various inventrefeting to these product candidates, and
corresponding patent applications are pending wode.

With regard to our Relistor-related intellectuabperty, the composition-of-matter patent for thévacingredient of Relistor,
methylnaltrexone, was invented in the 1970's arsdeix@ired. The University of Chicago, as well asgenics and its collaborators, have
extended the methylnaltrexone patent estate witlitiadal patents and pending patent applicationgdng various inventions relating to the
product. Salix has listed in the FDA Orange Boale fU.S. patents relating to subcutaneous Religtioich have expiration dates ranging from
2017 to 2030, and one patent (expiring in 2024 Wwiealth Canada. Issued U.S. patents provide fiotefor the oral methylnaltrexone
product until 2031.

We are aware of intellectual property rights hejdtird parties that relate to products or techgi@e we are developing. For exam|
we are aware of others investigating and develof@ognologies and drug candidates directed tow&iAor related compounds as well as
methylnaltrexone and other peripheral opioid antége, and of patents and applications held od filg others in those areas. The validity of
issued patents, patentability of claimed inventimngending applications and applicability of arfythem to our programs are uncertain and
subject to change, and patent rights assertedstgarcould adversely affect our ability to comnadize or collaborate with others on specific
products.

Research, development and commercialization obpHairmaceutical product often require choosing betwalternative development
and optimization routes at various stages in theld@ment process. Preferred routes depend upoenturand may be affected by subseqt
-- discoveries and test results and cannot beifdmhtvith certainty at the outset. There are nusosrthird-party patents in fields in which we
work, and we may need to obtain license under paterothers in order to pursue a preferred devetoy route of one or more of our product
candidates. The need to obtain a license wouldedserthe ultimate value and profitability of areaféd product. If we cannot negotiate such :
license, we might have to pursue a less desiraleldpment route or terminate the entire prograogether.

Government Regulation

Progenics and its product candidates are subjexirtgprehensive regulation by the U.S. FDA and coaiga authorities in other
countries. Pharmaceutical regulation currently ispac of substantial interest in lawmaking andulatpry bodies in the U.S. and
internationally, and numerous proposals exist fanges in FDA and non-U.S. regulation of pre-chhi&nd clinical testing, approval, safety,
effectiveness, manufacturing, storage, recordkegpafeling, marketing, export, advertising, proimotand other aspects of biologics, small
molecule drugs and medical devices, many of whiddopted, could significantly alter our businessl the current regulatory structure
described below. Sdrisk Factors.
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FDA Regulation.FDA approval, which involves review of scientifidinical and commercial data, manufacturing proessmd
facilities, is required before a product candidagey be marketed in the U.S. This process is casthy consuming and subject to unanticipate
delays, and a drug candidate may fail to progreasypoint.

None of our product candidates other than Relisé@rreceived marketing approval from the FDA or atimer regulatory authority.
The process required by the FDA before product ickatels may be approved for marketing in the U.8ecglly involves:

« pre-clinical laboratory and animal tests;

« submission to and favorable review by the FDA ofrarestigational new drug application before clalitrials may begin;

« adequate and well-controlled human clinical trtalgstablish the safety and efficacy of the prodiicits intended indication (animal
and other nonclinical studies also are typicallgdwcted during each phase of human clinical trji

» submission to the FDA of a marketing applicatiamg a

« FDA review of the marketing application in orderdetermine, among other things, whether the produsdfe and effective for its
intended use

Pre-clinical tests include laboratory evaluatiorpafduct chemistry and animal studies to gain prielary information about a
compound's pharmacology and toxicology and to iflesafety problems that would preclude testingniimans. Since product candidates mus
generally be manufactured according to current @dadufacturing Practices (cGMP), pre-clinical spfietsts must be conducted by
laboratories that comply with FDA good laboratorggiices regulations. Pre-clinical testing is poezkby initial research related to specific
molecular targets, synthesis of new chemical estitassay development and screening for identditand optimization of lead compound(s).

Results of pre-clinical tests are submitted toRB& as part of an IND which must become effectiegoloe clinical trials may
commence. The IND submission must include, amohgrahings, a description of the sponsor's invatitgal plan; protocols for each plan
study; chemistry, manufacturing and control infotimr® pharmacology and toxicology information ansuammary of previous human
experience with the investigational drug. UnlessFIDA objects to, makes comments or raises questioncerning an IND, it becomes
effective 30 days following submission, and initifihical studies may begin. Companies often ob#fiimmative FDA approval, however,
before beginning such studies.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational new drug to healthy volunteers dnttividuals under the supervision of
a qualified principal investigator. Clinical triatsust be conducted in accordance with the FDA'sd3@imical Practice requirements under
protocols submitted to the FDA that detail, amotigeothings, the objectives of the study, paransateed to monitor safety and effectiveness
criteria to be evaluated. Each clinical study nhaestonducted under the auspices of an InstitutiBealew Board, which considers, among
other things, ethical factors, safety of human acilsj possible liability of the institution anddnfed consent disclosure which must be ma
participants in the trial.

Clinical trials are typically conducted in threegjaential phases, which may overlap. During phasehgn the drug is initially
administered to human subjects, the product isdefsir safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, mésabodistribution and excretion. Phase 2
involves studies in a limited population to evatupteliminarily the efficacy of the product for sffec, targeted indications, determine dosage
tolerance and optimal dosage and identify possiblerse effects and safety risks.

When a product candidate is found in phase 2 etialuto have an effect and an acceptable safefyi@rphase 3 trials are undertal
in order to further evaluate clinical efficacy atedt for safety within an expanded population. §edtudies are conducted in accordance with
the FDA's International Conference on HarmonizaGandelines. Phase 2 results do not guaranteeimsimutcome in phase 3 trials. The FlI
may suspend clinical trials at any point in thiegass if it concludes that clinical subjects ariadpexposed to an unacceptable health risk.

A New Drug Application, or NDA, is an applicatioo the FDA to market a new drug. A Biologic Licersaplication, or BLA, is an
application to market a biological product. The réwg or biological product may not be marketethimm U.S. until the FDA has approved the
NDA or issued a biologic license. The NDA must @mt among other things, information on chemistmgnufacturing and controls; n-
clinical pharmacology and toxicology; human pharokagetics and bioavailability; and clinical datehéeTBLA must contain, among other
things, data derived from nonclinical laboratorylatfinical studies which demonstrate that the pobdueets prescribed standards of safety,
purity and potency, and a full description of mamtéiring methods. Supplemental NDAs (SNDAs) arerstied to obtain regulatory approval
for additional indications for a previously apprdwdrug, and are reviewed by the FDA in a similanme.
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The results of the pre-clinical studies and clihatadies, the chemistry and manufacturing dated,the proposed labeling, among
other things, are submitted to the FDA in the fafan NDA or BLA. The FDA may refuse to accept gpplication for filing if certain
administrative and content criteria are not satsfand even after accepting the application faere, the FDA may require additional testing
or information before approval of the applicationgither case based upon changes in applicabledd&DA policy during the period of
product development and FDA regulatory review. @pplicant's analysis of the results of clinicaldés is subject to review and interpretation
by the FDA, which may differ from the applicantisadysis, and in any event, the FDA must deny an NIDBLA if applicable regulatory
requirements are not ultimately satisfied. If regoly approval of a product is granted, such apgdroay be made subject to various
conditions, including post-marketing testing andssillance to monitor the safety of the productpaay entail limitations on the indicated uses
for which it may be marketed. Product approvals @miap be withdrawn if compliance with regulatorgiredards is not maintained or if
problems occur following initial marketing.

Underlying this process are FDA regulations retatimdrug approval which are complex and multi-fade Two such policies which
may apply to some of our current or future prodiztdidates are "Fast Track" approval for new dargsiologics intended for the treatment of
serious or life-threatening conditions which denate the potential to address unmet medical negsQOrphan Drug designation, available
under U.S., E.U. and other laws, for drug candslateended to treat rare diseases or conditiortswdnich if approved are granted a period of
market exclusivity, subject to various conditio@sphan Drug designation does not shorten or otlseradnvey any advantage in the regule
approval process.

Both before and after approval is obtained, a pegdts manufacturer and the sponsor of the margedpplication for the product are
subject to comprehensive regulatory oversight. atiohs of existing or newly-adopted regulatory liegments at any stage, including the pre-
clinical and clinical testing process, the apprquaicess, or thereafter, may result in various es#veonsequences, including FDA delay in
approving or refusal to approve a product, withdreef an approved product from the market or thedsition of criminal penalties against 1
manufacturer or sponsor. Later discovery of preslipunknown problems may result in restrictiongtos product, manufacturer or sponsor,
including withdrawal of the product from the market

Regulation Outside the U.SWhether or not FDA approval has been obtained,ayabiof a pharmaceutical product by comparable
government regulatory authorities abroad must lailodd prior to marketing the product there. Therapal procedure varies from country to
country, and the time required may be longer ortendhan that required for FDA approval. The reguoients for regulatory approval by
governmental agencies in other countries priootomercialization of products there can be rigoreostly and uncertain, and approvals may
not be granted on a timely basis or at all.

In E.U. countries, Canada, Australia and Japanlatgry requirements and approval processes aifi&sim principle to those in the
U.S. Regulatory approval in Japan requires thatazl trials of new drugs be conducted in Japapesients. Depending on the type of drug for
which approval is sought, there are currently twteptial tracks for marketing approval in the Ecduntries: mutual recognition and the
centralized procedure. These review mechanismsuttiayately lead to approval in all E.U. countriesit each method grants all participating
countries some decision-making authority in prodipgiroval. The centralized procedure, which is ratany for biotechnology derived
products, results in a recommendation in all menskates, while the E.U. mutual recognition prodesslves country-by-country approval.

In other countries, regulatory requirements mayiregadditional pre-clinical or clinical testinggardless of whether FDA or
European approval has been obtained. This is $eicalapan, where trials are required to invobtiept populations which we and our other
collaborators have not examined in detail. If adma is manufactured in the U.S., it is also sutjeé-DA and other U.S. export provisions. In
most countries outside the U.S., coverage, priaimdjreimbursement approvals are also requiredhwhizy affect the profitability of the
affected product.

Other Regulation. In addition to regulations enforced by the FDA, ave also subject to regulation under the U.S. Cattoipal
Safety and Health Act, Environmental Protection,Aaixic Substances Control Act, Resource Consematnd Recovery Act and various
other current and potential future U.S. federaltesor local regulations. In addition, Moleculasifght's research is dependent on maintenar
licenses from various authorities permitting thquasition, use and storage of quantities of radivadsotopes that are critical for its
manufacture and testing of research products. Biophceutical research and development generalghias the controlled use of hazardous
materials, chemicals, viruses and various radisacompounds. Even strict compliance with safetcedures for storing, handling, using and
disposing of such materials prescribed by appleabljulations cannot completely eliminate the ofkccidental contaminations or injury fre
these materials, which may result in liability fesulting legal and regulatory violations as welidamages.

Manufacturing
Under our License Agreement, Salix is responsibteétfe manufacture and supply, at its expensd] atave pharmaceutical
ingredient (API) and finished and packaged prodfartits Relistor commercialization efforts, incing contracting with contract

manufacturing organizations (CMOSs) for supply ofi&er API and subcutaneous and oral finished gmagluct.
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As to other product candidates, we engaged a giart CMO to manufacture additional clinical tr&alpplies of our PSMA
monoclonal antibody and we expect to continue uSiMs for other portions of the PSMA ADC manufaitgrprocess. We have engaged
third-party CMOs to manufacture APl and finishedgiproducts for clinical trial supplies of Azedradal404, and may in the future undertake
such efforts with respect to other assets and progrIf we are unable to arrange for satisfactdvOCservices, we would need to undertake
such responsibilities on our own. SRisk Factors

Sales and Marketing

We from time to time seek strategic collaboratiand other funding support for product candidatestinpipeline. We expect that we
would market other products for which we obtainulagpry approval through co-marketing, co-promotiicensing and distribution
arrangements with third-party collaborators, anghhalso consider contracting with professionahiiely and sales organizations to perform
promotional and/or medical-scientific support fuans for them. SeRisk Factors

Competition

Competition in the biopharmaceutical industry i®irse and characterized by ongoing research aredagenent and technological
change. We face competition from many for-profinganies and major universities and research itistitsiin the U.S. and abroad. We face
competition from companies marketing existing prdwr developing new products for diseases taddeteour technologies. Many of our
competitors have substantially greater resourcggreence in conducting pre-clinical studies andical trials and obtaining regulatory
approvals for their products, operating experienegearch and development and marketing capabititiel production capabilities than we do.
Our products and product candidates under developmay not compete successfully with existing patdgwr products under development
other companies, universities and other instit@iddrug manufacturers that are first in the mawkigt a therapeutic for a specific indication
generally obtain and maintain a significant conmtpetiadvantage over later entrants and therefbeespeed with which industry participants
move to develop products, complete clinical trialsprove processes and commercialize productsimportant competitive factor.

Relistor is the first FDA-approved product for any indicatimvolving OIC. We are, however, aware of approaad marketed
products, as well as candidates in pre-clinicallimical development, that target the side effetspioid pain therapy. In September 2014, the
FDA approved MOVANTIK™ (naloxegol), an oral periphému-opioid receptor antagonist for patients vitiC developed by a Nektar
Therapeutics-AstraZeneca PLC collaboration, whisb has a related combination product in earlyestégyelopment. In December 2014,
AstraZeneca was granted a Marketing Authorizatipthe European Commission for MOVENTIG® (naloxegdol) the treatment of OIC in
adult patients who have had an inadequate responagative(s). Cubist Pharmaceuticals, which aegluAdolor Corporation in 2011, markets
ENTEREG?® (alvimopan) for the treatment of postoperativesleand is in phase 3 testing of a compound for i@I€hronic-pain patients.
Sucampo Pharmaceuticals, Inc., in collaboratioh Witkeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited, marketdTAEA © (lubiprostone), a selective
chloride channel activator, for chronic idiopatfmon-opioid related) constipation, and in April 20eceived FDA approval of this drug for
opioid-induced constipation. Shionogi & Co. is deypéng naldemedine, another mu-opioid receptorgorisst, for patients with OIC.
Theravance, Inc. has completed phase 2 clinichtesf an oral peripheral mu-opioid antagonistElrope, Mundipharma International
Limited markets TARGIN® (oxycodone/naloxone), a combination of an opioid arsystemic opioid antagonist. Other prescripsnvell as
over-the-counter (OTC) constipation products ase atrescribed first line for OIC.

As to ouroncologypipeline, radiation and surgery are two traditidioams of treatment for prostate cancer. If theedge spreads,
hormone (androgen) suppression therapy is oftet tasglow the cancer's progression, but this fofitneatment can eventually become
ineffective. We are aware of several competitors ate developing or have received approval foréitive treatments for castration-resistant
prostate cancer, some of which are directed agRi®BtA, including Johnson & Johnson subsidiary Jam&iotech, Inc.'s ZYTIGAR
(abiraterone acetate), approved in 2011 for usembination with prednisone as a second-line (afemtment with docetaxel) advanced
prostate cancer treatment, and later for use wilmpsone for metastatic castration-resistant deséafore the use of chemotherapy;
Medivation, Inc.'s XTANDI® (enzalutamide), approved in August 2012 for pasievith metastatic castration-resistant prostate@an
previously treated with docetaxel; and Bayer Hezdtte Pharmaceuticals Inc.'s ALPHARAD®radium-223 dichloride) (marketed as
XOFIGO®), submitted in late 2012 for marketing authoriaatfor therapy of bone metastases in prostate cqatients. A competitive
product to 1404 is Jazz Pharmaceuticals' PROSTASCINvhich is approved for detection of metastaticspaite cancer or relapsed or high-
risk prostate cancer patients. There are curremlgpproved anticancer treatments in the U.S. fdigmant pheochromocytoma/paraganglic
When the disease cannot be surgically resecteiéntatmay be treated with limited success with abtéerapy or 1-131 labelled
metaiodobenzylguanidine (MIBG).

A significant amount of research in the biopharnuical field is carried out academic and government institutions An element
of our research and development strategy has beeritense technology and product candidates facademic and government institutions.
These institutions are sensitive to the commexaihle of their findings and pursue patent protectiod negotiate licensing arrangements to
collect royalties for use of technology they depeldhey may also market competitive commercial potsl on their own or in collaboration
with competitors and compete with us in recruitirighly qualified scientific personnel, which mayudt in increased costs or decreased
availability of technology or product candidatesnfrthese institutions to other industry particigant
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Competition with respect to our technologies aratlpcts is based on, among other things, produiciaeff, safety, reliability, method
of administration, availability, price and clinidagnefit relative to cost; timing and scope of tatpry approval; sales, marketing and
manufacturing capabilities; collaborator capalgftiinsurance and other reimbursement coveragepatedt protection. Competitive positior
our industry also depends on a participant's ghiitattract and retain qualified personnel, obtatent protection or otherwise develop
proprietary products or processes, and securecerfficapital resources for the typically substmieriod between technological conception
and commercial sales.

Product Liability

The testing, manufacturing and marketing of oudpit candidates and products involves an inherskbf product liability
attributable to unwanted and potentially serioualtheeffects. To the extent we elect to test, mactufre or market product candidates and
products independently, we bear the risk of prodabtlity directly. We maintain product liabilitinsurance coverage in the amount of $10.0
million per occurrence, subject to a deductible ar$10.0 million aggregate limitation. Where lostdtutory requirements exceed the limits of
our existing insurance or local policies of insur@mare required, we maintain additional clinicalltliability insurance to meet these
requirements. This insurance is subject to dediastiand coverage limitations. The availability @odt of maintaining insurance may change
over time.

Human Resources

At December 31, 2014, we had 57 ftithe employees, 11 of whom hold Ph.D. degrees asfdahom holds M.D. degree. At that d:
41 employees were engaged in research and devetbpmedical, regulatory affairs and manufacturielgted activities and 16 were engaged
in finance, legal, administration and business tigraent. We consider our relations with our empés/to be good. None of our employees is
covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

The future of our business and operations dependsdhe success of our Relistor collaborations and owncology research and
development programs.

Our business and operations entail a variety abssrrisks and uncertainties and are inherentkyri$he research and development
programs on which we focus involve novel approatcbdsiman therapeutics. Our principal product caaigis are in clinical development, and
in some respects involve technologies with whichhaee limited prior experience. We are subjechorisks of failure inherent in the
development of product candidates based on newmodatiies. There is little precedent for the suctds®mmercialization of products based
on our technologies, and there are a number oftdobical challenges that we must overcome to cetaphost of our development efforts.
We may not be able successfully to develop furdmgrof our product candidates. We and our Relitak other collaborators must success!
complete clinical trials and obtain regulatory apais for potential commercial products. Once apedg if at all, commercial product sales
subject to general and industry-specific local emernational economic, regulatory, technologiaad @olicy developments and trends. The
oncology space in which we operate presents nureaiguificant risks and uncertainties that may ygeeted to increase to the extent it
becomes more competitive or less favored in thengernial healthcare marketplace.

The long-term success of our acquisition of Molacuhsight will be subject to all of the risks amgcertainties described in these risk
factors. In addition, the estimated fair valuedaiiecular Insight assets and liabilities refleckeaur financial statements do not, given their
uniqueness and attendant uncertainties, refleabbtrnsactions or quoted prices and may not lederéo any future values or results. Such
information should not be interpreted or relied mjag indicative of any future value or results. @ilure to manage successfully any of our
product candidates, technologies or programs doaNvgé an adverse impact on our business, and @ritreeof our stock.

We are dependent on Salix and other business partreeto develop and commercialize Relistor, exposings to significant risks.

We rely on Salix to complete development and obt@giulatory approvals for additional formulatiorisand indications for Relistor
worldwide. We are and will be dependent upon Satig any other business partners with which we no#lglmrate in the future to perform ¢
fund development, including clinical testing of R&r, making related regulatory filings and mamidiaing and marketing products, including
for new indications and in new formulations, inithespective territories. Revenue from the salRelistor depends entirely upon the effort:
Salix and its sublicensees, which have significhsitretion in determining the efforts and resoutbey apply to sales of Relistor. Salix may
not be effective in obtaining approvals for newidaadions or formulations, marketing existing orutg products or arranging for necessary
sublicense or distribution relationships. Our basgrelationships with Salix and other partners maybe scientifically, clinically or
commercially successful. For example, Salix haaréety of marketed products. Salix is not, howeadarge diversified pharmaceutical
company and does not have resources commensuthtsugh companies. Salix has its own corporatectibgs, which may not be consistent
with our best interests, and may change its stiafegus or pursue alternative technologies in amea that results in reduced or delayed
revenue to us. Changes of this nature might alsardt Salix were acquired or if its managementrajed, such as the departure of Salix's ¢
financial officer in November 2014 and its chiekentive officer in January 2015. We may have futlisagreements with Salix, which has
significantly greater financial and managerial teses which it could draw upon in the event ofgpdie. Such disagreements could lead to
lengthy and expensive litigation or other dispugealution proceedings as well as extensive findiacid operational consequences to us and
have a material adverse effect on our businessitsesd operations and financial condition. In aud, independent actions may be taken by
Salix concerning product development, marketingtegies, manufacturing and supply issues, andsrigieting to intellectual property.
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Furthermore, Salix disclosed on November 6, 20a4ite Audit Committee has retained outside couasndlis conducting a review of
issues related to its management's prior charaaterns of wholesaler inventory levels; that it hasified the SEC that its Audit Committee is
conducting this review; and made other managenagrt-operations-related disclosures. On Januarg®g, Salix disclosed that Salix's
previously issued audited consolidated financiaieshents for the year ended December 31, 2013hengr¢viously issued unaudited
consolidated financial statements for the fiscalrtgrs ended March 31, June 30, and Septembe028, and the disclosures and related
communications for each of those periods, requareection of certain errors and should no longerdbied upon.

Salix recently agreed to enter into a merger agreeemt with Valeant Pharmaceuticals International to a&quire all of its outstanding
common stock. The merger of Salix and Valeant mayeagatively affect our collaborative agreements witlgalix and could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

In March 2015, Salix and Valeant agreed to entter éanmerger agreement. We cannot predict how a tmwdtsalix and Valeant may
view the utility and attractiveness of Relistor,ifoainy other potential bidders for Salix may cofoevard. Upon completion of this transaction
or for other reasons, a combined Salix and Valesyt change its strategic focus or pursue alteragieducts in a manner that results in a
termination of, or reduction in, revenues to us. &&anot predict whether a combined Salix and Valedlhdetermine to continue, seek to
change or terminate our collaboration on Relistodevote the same resources Salix currently dedfida it. If a combined Salix and Valeant
were to terminate the collaboration, we would naogler receive milestone and royalty payments anddveged to undertake development and
commercialization of Relistor ourselves or throagiother collaboration or licensing arrangement.rifég not learn of their plans for Relistor
and our collaboration unless and until the propdsmtsaction closes. Any decision by Salix and ®ater any other potential third-party
bidder not to proceed or perform under our existiggeements could have a material adverse effestiohusiness.

The Relistor program continues to be subject to ris.

Future developments in the commercialization oigked may result in Salix or any other businessrgarwith which we may
collaborate in the future taking independent agtiooncerning product development, marketing stiasegy other matters, including
termination of its efforts to develop and commdiz&the drug.

Salix has previously disclosed in regulatory fiknfpat additional information and additional guidafrom the FDA could result in tl
termination of its oral OIC Relistor developmenbgram. As noted in our risk factors on regulatiod eegulatory approvals, if clinical trials
indicate, or regulatory bodies are concerned alzmiitial or possible serious problems with the gafeefficacy of a product candidate, we or
our collaborators may stop or significantly slowel®pment or commercialization of affected produéis a result of such concerns, the
development program for oral Relistor may in theeife be significantly delayed or terminated altbget In such an event, we could be faced
with either further developing and commercializthg drug on our own or with one or more substita#aborators, either of which paths
would subject us to the development, commerciatimatollaboration and/or financing risks discussethese risk factors. Any such
significant action adverse to development and coroialization of Relistor could have a material adhesimpact on our business and on the
price of our stock.

We are subject to extensive regulation, which canebcostly and time consuming, may not lead to markiety approval for our product
candidates, and can subject us to unanticipated lifations, restrictions, delays and fines.

Our business, products and product candidatesuiject to comprehensive regulation by the FDA ammigarable authorities in other
countries, and include the recently enacted Sueshat under the Patient Protection and AffordabdeeCAct. These agencies and other entitie
regulate the pre-clinical and clinical testing,etgf effectiveness, approval, manufacture, labelmarketing, export, storage, recordkeeping,
advertising, promotion and other aspects of oudpects and product candidates. We cannot guarama¢@pprovals of product candidates,
processes or facilities will be granted on a tintedgis, or at all. If we experience delays or faiuin obtaining approvals, commercialization o
our product candidates will be slowed or stopped.
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For example, as describedBusiness — Clinical Trial Activitiesin the phase 2 trial of one of our principal prodcandidates, PSMA
ADC, investigators have reported SAEs including tieaths, in the 2.5 mg/kg dosing group. Based ta@arently available to us, the
Company is continuing development of PSMA ADC, & g/kg dose, and has not determined what effé@ny, treatment-related SAEs
reported to date or that may be reported in theréuiay have on the development of PSMA ADC goovgvérd. If, however, we, together
with or independently of investigators participgtin our clinical trials, or regulators evaluatiB§MA ADC were to determine that this
candidate cannot safely be administered to patieitissufficient therapeutic effect, we may detammto attempt to reformulate or otherwise
change the candidate and/or its administratioléwiate such concerns, which could result in caesid delays that could impair the value of
candidate. If such costs and delays were suffilgiéatge, we could determine to abandon the PSMACAIDogram. Concerns about the safety
and/or efficacy of PSMA ADC could also make it mdiicult or impossible for us to enter into licging, collaboration or other arrangements
with third parties for further development and coemamalization of PSMA ADC. Any of these possib#isi could have material adverse effects
on Progenics' business, its financial conditiom/anthe price of our stock.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval for a prodeendidate, the approval may include significamitéitions on indicated uses for
which the product could be marketed or other sigaift marketing restrictions, such as a REMS. kan®le, while subcutaneous Relistor is
approved for OIC both in patients with advancetkeids and for those with chronic, non-cancer paherdormulations of and/or indications for
Relistor may be subject to those or other suchtditioins and restrictions. Approvals for other pratdrandidates, if approved at all, may also b
so limited or restricted.

If we or our collaborators violate regulatory regmnents at any stage, whether before or after rtiagkapproval is obtained, we or
they may be subject to forced removal of a profieeh the market, product seizure, civil and crinhipanalties and other adverse
consequences. Under our license agreement witk, 8adiare dependent on Salix for compliance widséhregulatory requirements as they
apply to Relistor. Salix has disclosed that in ey 2013 it received a subpoena from the U.S.rAgyp's Office for the Southern District of
New York requesting documents regarding its sahelspiomotional practices for Relistor and certdiitoother products, that it is continui
to respond to the subpoena and intends to coopfeithtaevith the subpoena and related governmenggtigation, which has and will continue
to increase its legal expenses and might requireagement time and attention, and that at the tihis disclosure it cannot predict or
determine the timing or outcome of the inquirytsrimpact on Salix's financial condition or resufoperations.

Our products may face regulatory, legal or commerdl challenges even after approval.
Even if a product receives regulatory approval:

« It might not obtain labeling claims necessary tkentne product commercially viable (in general glaig claims define the medical
conditions for which a drug product may be marketed are therefore very important to the commestiecess of a product), or may
be required to carry Boxed or other warnings thizeasely affect its commercial succe

« Approval may be limited to uses of the producttfeatment or prevention of diseases or conditibasre relatively less financially
advantageous to us than approval of greater cerdift scope or subject to an FDA-imposed REMSithpbses limits on the
distribution or use of the produ

» Side effects (including different or aggravatedeet§ such as SAEs encountered in our PSMA ADC projidentified after the produ
is on the market might hurt sales or result in nadoy safety labeling changes, additional pliaical testing or clinical trials, impositic
of a REMS, product recalls or withdrawals from tharket.

- Efficacy or safety concerns (including those agdimom SAEs heretofore or hereafter encounterexiimlPSMA ADC program)
regarding a marketed product, or manufacturingtioeroproblems, may lead to a recall, withdrawaiairketing approval, reformulatic
of the product, additional pre-clinical testingatinical trials, changes in labeling, imposition@REMS, the need for additional
marketing applications, declining sales or othefease events. These potential consequences maywhether or not the concerns
originate from subsequent testing or other acésitly us, governmental regulators, other entitiesganizations or otherwise, and
whether or not they are scientifically justifiefipfoducts lose previously received marketing atgtoapprovals, our business, result
operations and financial condition would be mathriadversely affectec

We or our collaborators will be subject to ongoiiQA obligations and continuous regulatory reviend anight be required to
undertake post-marketing trials to verify the prathiefficacy or safety or other regulatory obligas.
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Competing products in development may adversely adtt acceptance of our products.

We are aware of a number of products and produntidates described in this Annual Report uriBlgsiness — Competitiomhich
compete or may potentially compete with RelistanyAf these approved products or product candidatesthers which may be developed in
the future may achieve a significant competitiveaadage relative to Relistor, and, in any everd,dRisting or future marketing and sales
capabilities of these competitors may impair Salatid/or other collaborators' ability to compefedctfvely in the market.

We are also aware of competitors, including thassedbed undeBusiness — Competitigrwhich are developing alternative
treatments for disease targets to which our reBemrd development programs are directed, any aftwhor others which may be developet
the future — may achieve a significant competiideantage relative to any product we may develop.

Developing product candidates requires us to obtaiadditional financing from time to time. Our accesgo capital funding is uncertain.

We incur significant costs to develop our produntdidates. We do not have committed external sewtunding for these projects.
We fund our operations to a significant extent froapital-raising. We may do so via equity secwsit&suances in public offerings, such as oul
first quarter 2014 $37.5 million underwritten pubdiffering of 8.75 million shares of common stockthrough our three-year facility with an
investment bank pursuant to which we may sell ftone to time up to $50 million of our stock in &ietmarket transactions. We may also fi
operations through collaboration, license, royfitigncing, private placement or other agreementis aie or more pharmaceutical or other
companies, debt financings or the receipt of milestand other payments for out-licensed productsh@& extent we raise additional capital by
issuing equity securities, existing stockholdersld@xperience substantial dilution in additiorthie dilution experienced as a result of our
recent equity offerings and the 2013 Moleculardhsiacquisition, and if we issue securities othantcommon stock, new investors could t
rights superior to existing stockholders. Any dédéincing that we may obtain may involve operatbogenants that restrict our business and
significant repayment obligations. To the extentraige additional funds through new collaboratiod hcensing arrangements, we may be
required to relinquish some rights to technologieproduct candidates, or grant licenses on tehaisare not favorable to us.

We cannot predict with certainty when we will nesttlitional funds, how much we will need, the forfinencing may take or
whether additional funds will be available at ale variability of conditions in global financiahd credit markets may exacerbate the diffic
of timing capital raising or other financing, asesult of which we may seek to consummate suclaeions substantially in advance of
immediate need. Our need for future funding wilbeled on numerous factors, including the advancewofesttisting product development
projects and the availability of new projects; #ubievement of events, most of which are out ofommtrol and depend entirely on the efforts
of others, triggering milestone payments to us;pitegress and success of clinical trials and preeall activities (including studies and
manufacturing) involving product candidates, whettenducted by collaborators or us; the progresesdarch programs carried out by us;
changes in the breadth of our research and develaippnograms; the progress of research and develoipefforts of collaborators; our ability
to acquire or license necessary, useful or otheraisactive technologies; competing technological market developments; the costs and
timing of obtaining, enforcing and defending patantl other intellectual property rights; the c@std timing of regulatory filings and
approvals; our ability to manage the Company's ¢liaw contraction; and unforeseen litigation. Thisetors may be more important with
respect to product candidates and programs thahiexechnologies with which we have limited préxperience, such as those originally
developed by Molecular Insight. Insufficient fumdsy require us to delay, scale back or eliminateesor all of our research and developmen
programs, cause us to lose rights under existaggnéies or to relinquish greater or all rights tdpict candidates at an earlier stage of
development or on less favorable terms than we avotllerwise choose and may adversely affect olityatu operate as a going concern. We
may not be able at a given necessary time to obdhitional funding on acceptable terms, or at@illr inability to raise additional capital on
terms reasonably acceptable to us would serioaslygrdize our business.

If we are unable to negotiate collaboration agreemmgs, our cash burn rate could increase and our ratef product development could
decrease.

Our ability to generate revenue in the near terpedds on the timing of achievement, if any, of@ierpayment triggering events
under our existing collaboration agreements andability to enter into additional collaboration agments with third parties. We may not be
successful in negotiating additional collaboratwrangements with pharmaceutical and biotechnotogypanies to develop and commercie
product candidates and technologies. If we do nterénto new collaboration arrangements, we walde to devote more of our resources to
clinical product development and product launclivdiis and to seeking additional sources of capitdund those activities. If we were not
successful in seeking such capital, our cash latenwould increase or we would need to take stepaduce our rate of product development.
Our ability to enter into new collaborations maydmpendent on many factors, such as the resuttnafal trials, competitive factors and the
fit of our programs with the risk tolerance of agttial collaborator, including in relation to redgtory issues, the patent portfolio, the clinical
pipeline, the stage of the available data, ovexaiborate goals and financial position. If we apéable to generate revenue under our
collaborations when and in accordance with our etgii®ns or the expectations of industry analyibis, failure could harm our business and
have an immediate adverse effect on the tradirgg i our common stock.
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Drug development is a long and inherently uncertairprocess with a high risk of failure at every stagef development.

Drug development is a highly uncertain scientificl anedical endeavor, and failure can unexpectettiyroat any stage of clinical
development. Typically, there is a high rate ofitidin for product candidates in preclinical anthidal trials due to scientific feasibility, safety
efficacy, changing standards of medical care ahdrotariables. The risk of failure increases far pwduct candidates that are based on new
technologies, as well as technologies with whichhaee limited prior experience, such as those maity developed by Molecular Insight. Pre-
clinical studies and clinical trials are long, erprre and highly uncertain processes that canrteey years. It will take us, or our
collaborators, several years to complete clinidals and the time required for completing testimgl obtaining approvals is uncertain. The sta
or end of a clinical trial is often delayed or ledlidue to changing regulatory requirements, matwriag challenges, required clinical trial
administrative actions, slower than anticipatedgpétenroliment, changing standards of care, abiitfaor prevalence of use of a comparator
drug or required prior therapy, clinical outcomaspur and our partners' financial constraints. FBb& and other U.S. and foreign regulatory
agencies have substantial discretion, at any pbfadevelopment, to terminate clinical trials, reguadditional clinical development or other
testing, delay or withhold registration and mankgtapproval and mandate product withdrawals, inodecalls. Results attained in early
human clinical trials may not be indicative of riésin later clinical trials. In addition, many ofir investigational or experimental drugs are at
an early stage of development, and successful coomization of early stage product candidates iegusignificant research, development,
testing and approvals by regulators, and additionedstment. Our products in the research or greeal development stage may not yield
results that would permit or justify clinical teggi. Our failure to demonstrate adequately the pafied efficacy of a product under developmen
would delay or prevent marketing approval, whichldeadversely affect our operating results andibitity. The failure of one or more of our
product candidates could have a material advefsetafn our business, financial condition and rssod operations.

If we or our collaborators do not obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates on a timely bais, or at all, or if the terms of any
approval impose significant restrictions or limitations on use, our business, results of operationsaifinancial condition will be
adversely affected. Setbacks in clinical developmeprograms could have a material adverse effect oour business.

Regulatory approvals are necessary to market ptadunciidates and require demonstration of a présisatety and efficacy through
extensive pre-clinical and clinical trials. We arr@ollaborators may not obtain regulatory apprdeaproduct candidates on a timely basis, or
at all, and the terms of any approval (which in eaountries includes pricing approval) may impagaiicant restrictions, limitations on use
or other commercially unattractive conditions. Wet collaborators or regulators may also amendgyesus or terminate clinical trials if we or
they believe that the participating subjects aiadexposed to unacceptable health risks, and eftéewing trial results, we or our
collaborators may abandon projects which we preshjobelieved to be promising for commercial or otteasons unrelated to patient risks.
During this process, we may find, for example, legults of pre-clinical studies are inconclusivenot indicative of results in human clinical
trials, clinical investigators or contract reseaotbanizations do not comply with protocols or agadble regulatory requirements, or that
product candidates do not have the desired effioatyave undesirable side effects or other chaniatitss that preclude marketing approval or
limit their potential commercial use if approved.duch circumstances, the entire development profpathat product candidate could be
adversely affected, resulting in delays in triadsegulatory filings for further marketing approwaid a possible need to reconfigure our clinica
trial programs to conduct additional trials or atham the program involved. Conducting additionahictal trials or making significant revisions
to a clinical development plan would lead to delaysegulatory filings. If clinical trials indicater regulatory bodies are concerned about,
actual or possible serious problems with the sajesfficacy of a product candidate, such as theems expressed during consideration of th
oral Relistor development program, we or our callalbors may stop or significantly slow developmantommercialization of affected
products. As a result of such concerns, the dewsdop programs for oral Relistor may be significawulélayed or terminated altogether.

If the results of any future Relistor trials ard satisfactory or we or our collaborators encoupteblems enrolling subjects, clinical
trial supply issues, setbacks in developing drughfdations, including raw material-supply, manutattg, stability or other difficulties, or
issues complying with protocols or applicable regiy requirements, the entire development progaarRelistor could be adversely affected
in a material manner. Such scenarios could alsallbmfr other clinical-stage product candidatesny of our collaborators breach or terminate
its agreement with us or otherwise fail to condawatcessfully and in a timely manner the collabweatictivities for which they are responsible,
the preclinical or clinical development or commatiziation of the affected product candidate or aesle program could be delayed or
terminated. We generally do not control the ama@unat timing of resources that our collaborators ¢kt our programs or product candidates
We also do not know whether current or future dmtation partners, if any, might pursue alternataehnologies or develop alternative
products either on their own or in collaboratiothaathers, including our competitors, as a meansléweloping treatments for the diseases or
conditions targeted by our collaborative arrangeme®etbacks of these types could have a mateivalrse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.
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We or our collaborators must design and conduct swessful clinical trials for our product candidatesto obtain regulatory approval. We
rely on third parties for conduct of clinical trial s, which reduces our control over them and may expe us to conflicts of interest.
Clinical trial results may be unfavorable or incondusive, and often take longer than expected.

We have limited experience in conducting clinicalls, and we rely on or obtain the assistancettdrs to design, conduct, supervise
or monitor some or all aspects of some of our céihtrials, including our ongoing phase 2 trialP&MA ADC and 1404 and the resumed
Azedra phase 2b trial. We have less control ovetithing and other aspects of clinical trials fdrigh we rely on third parties, such as CROs,
clinical data management organizations, medicaitii®ns or clinical investigators, than if we ahrcted them entirely on our own. These t
parties may also have relationships with othettiestisome of which may be our competitors. Irea#nts, we are responsible for ensuring tha
each of our clinical trials is conducted in accoreiawith the general investigational plan and prol®for the trial. The FDA requires us to
comply with good clinical practices for conductiad recording and reporting the results of clintdals to assure that data and reported
results are credible and accurate and that thésrigitegrity and confidentiality of trial parti@pts are protected. Our reliance on third parties
that we do not control does not relieve us of thresponsibilities and requirements.

To obtain regulatory approval of drug candidates,must demonstrate through preclinical studiescéingtal trials that they are safe
and effective. Adverse or inconclusive clinicahtniesults concerning any of our drug candidatesials which regulators find deficient in
scope, design or one or more other material respeatild require additional trials, resulting icri@ased costs, significant delays in submis:
of approval applications, approvals in narroweiidations than originally sought, or denials of apfa, none of which we can predict. As a
result, any projections that we publicly announteammencement and duration of clinical trials ao¢ certain. We have experienced clinical
trial delays in the past as a result of slower thiaticipated enroliment and such delays may rdgelays can be caused by, among other thing
deaths or other adverse medical events; regulatopatent issues; interim or final results of omgpoclinical trials; failure to enroll clinical s
as expected; competition for enrollment from ottlarical trials; scheduling conflicts with parti@png clinicians and institutions;
disagreements, disputes or other matters arisonrg @ollaborations; our inability to obtain necegdainding; or manufacturing problems.

Under our license agreement, Salix generally hgsamesibility for conducting Relistor clinical triglincluding all trials outside of the
U.S. In addition, certain clinical trials for ourquluct candidates may be conducted by governs@mtsored agencies, and consequently w
dependent on governmental participation and fundiihgse arrangements expose us to the same caimdsrwe face when contracting with
third parties for our own trials.

Our product candidates may not obtain regulatory approvals needed for marketing.

None of our product candidates, other than Relfstothe treatment of OIC in patients with advanidkesses and for those with
chronic, non-cancer pain, has been approved bycae regulatory authorities for marketing. Theqess of obtaining FDA and foreign
regulatory approvals often takes many years andraansubstantially based upon the type, compleadity novelty of the products involved.
We have had only limited experience in filing andguing applications and other submissions necgssaain marketing approvals. Products
under development may never obtain marketing agbfoem the FDA or other regulatory authorities @esary for commercialization.

Even if our product candidates obtain marketing appoval, our ability to generate revenue will be dimnished if our products are not
accepted in the marketplace or our collaboration peners fail to obtain acceptable prices or an adeqgate level of reimbursement for
products from third-party payors or government agercies.

The commercial success of our products will depgmeh their acceptance by the medical communitythind-party payors as
clinically useful, cost effective and safe. Marketeptance of approved products, such as Relmt@atients with advanced illnesses and for
those with chronic, non-cancer pain, is affectedhgytiming of regulatory approvals, product lauegland reimbursement programs for
existing and expanded uses or generic, over-thateoor other competitors; price increases forpttueluct and relative prices of competing
products; product development efforts for new iatlans; availability of sufficient commercial quéigs of the product; success in arranging
for necessary sublicense or distribution relatigushand general and industry-specific local anidrimational economic pressures. If health car
providers believe that patients can be manageduatiely with alternative, currently available thaesp they may not prescribe our products,
especially if the alternative therapies are viewsanore effective, as having a better safety erability profile, as being more convenient to
the patient or health care providers or as beisg éxpensive. Third-party insurance coverage mapaavailable to patients for any products
we develop, alone or with collaborators. For pharenticals administered in an institutional settiting, ability of the institution to be
adequately reimbursed from government and healthirastration authorities, private health insurems ather third-party payors could also
play a significant role in demand for our produ&ggnificant uncertainty exists as to the reimbuoreet status of newly-approved
pharmaceuticals. Government and other third-paagyors increasingly are attempting to contain health costs by limiting both coverage and
the level of reimbursement for new drugs and bysiilg, in some cases, to provide coverage for afsagproved products for indications for
which the FDA has not granted labeling approvakdme foreign markets, pricing and profitabilityps&scription pharmaceuticals are subject
to government control. In the U.S., we expect thate will continue to be a number of federal atadesproposals to implement similar
government control and that the emphasis on maneayedn the U.S. will continue to put pressuratapricing of pharmaceutical products.
Cost control initiatives could decrease the priwg bur collaborators receive for any producthafuture and adversely affect the ability of
collaborators to commercialize our products andrealization of royalties from commercializatiohahy of our products do not achieve
market acceptance, we will likely lose our entireastment in that product.
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Marketplace acceptance depends in part on competith in our industry, which is intense, and competingproducts in development may
adversely affect acceptance of our products.

The extent to which any of our products achieveskataacceptance will depend on competitive factG@npetition in the
biopharmaceutical industry is intense and charaet@iby ongoing research and development and témgical change. We face competition
from many for-profit companies and major univeestand research institutions in the U.S. and abiadface competition from companies
marketing existing products or developing new purtdidior diseases and conditions targeted by olntdogies. We are aware of a number of
products and product candidates, including thoseriteed in this Annual Report undBusiness — Competitigrwhich compete or may
potentially compete with Relistor, PSMA ADC or ather product candidates. For instance, there radupt candidates in pre-clinical or
clinical development that target the side effeétsmoid pain therapy, and a marketed product liertteatment of post-operative ileus could
compete with Relistor. We are aware of several atitgs, including those described un@eisiness — Competitigrwhich have received
approval for or are developing alternative treatte@n diagnostics for castration-resistant prostatecer, some of which are directed against
PSMA. Any of these competing approved productsrodpct candidates, or others which may be develapéte future, may achieve a
significant competitive advantage relative to RelisPSMA ADC, 1404, Azedra, MIP-1095 or other protdcandidates.

Competition with respect to our technologies aratlpcts is based on, among other things, produiciaeff, safety, reliability, method
of administration, availability, price and clinidagnefit relative to cost; timing and scope of tatpry approval; sales, marketing and
manufacturing capabilities; collaborator capalgitiinsurance and other reimbursement coverageyatedt protection. Competitive
disadvantages in any of these factors could méliehiarm our business and financial condition. Marfipur competitors have substantially
greater research and development capabilities gmefience and greater manufacturing, marketingyioal and managerial resources than we
do. These competitors may develop products thaggrerior to those we are developing and rendepmgducts or technologies non-
competitive or obsolete. Our products and prodantiddates under development may not compete sdaltessith existing products or
product candidates under development by other coiepauniversities and other institutions. Drug ofanturers that are first in the market
with a therapeutic for a specific indication gefigrabtain and maintain a significant competitivdvantage over later entrants and therefore,
the speed with which industry participants moveddwelop products, complete clinical trials, apprpwecesses and commercialize products is
an important competitive factor. If our product datates receive marketing approval but cannot coengectively in the marketplace, our
operating results and financial position would suff

If we or our collaborators are unable to obtain suficient quantities of the raw and bulk materials neded to make our product
candidates or Relistor, development of our productandidates or commercialization of our approved prduct could be slowed or
stopped.

Salix may not be able to fulfill manufacturing ajdtions for Relistor, a key raw material for whgntows in Tasmania, either on their
own or through third-party suppliers. A delay asrdiption of supplies of Relistor would have a matexdverse effect on the Relistor franchise
and therefore on our business as a whole. Ouiimgiatrangements with suppliers for our other pmaandidates may not result in the supply
of sufficient quantities of our product candidategded to accomplish our clinical development @ogy, and we may not have the right and i
any event do not currently have the capability tmmafacture these products if our suppliers are ler@abunwilling to do so. We currently
arrange for supplies of critical raw materials usedroduction of our product candidates from sengburces. We do not have long-term
contracts with any of these suppliers. Any delaglisruption in the availability of raw materials wd slow or stop product development and
commercialization of the relevant product.

Manufacturing resources could limit or adversely afect our ability to commercialize products.

We or our collaborators engage third parties toufesture our approved product and product candsd&t& or our collaborators may
not be able to obtain adequate supplies from thindy manufacturers in a timely fashion for devebemt or commercialization purposes, and
commercial quantities of products may not be ablérom contract manufacturers at acceptable cbstder our license agreement with S¢
Salix is responsible for obtaining supplies of Bteli, including contracting with contract manufaitg organizations for supply of Relistor
active pharmaceutical ingredient and subcutaneod®eal finished drug product. These arrangemeiatg mot be on terms that are
advantageous and, as a result of our royalty amet aterests in Relistor's commercial success,swiject us to risks that the counterparties
may not perform optimally in terms of quality ofiadility. In engaging third parties for these &ties, we do not control many aspects of the
manufacturing process, including compliance withrent cGMP and other regulatory requirements. tteoto commercialize our product
candidates successfully, we or our collaboratoesinie be able to manufacture or arrange for theufaature of products in commercial
guantities, in compliance with regulatory requirerse at acceptable costs and in a timely mannenuféature of our product candidates ca
complex, difficult to accomplish even in small qtites, difficult to scale-up for large-scale pration and subject to delays, inefficiencies anc
low yields of quality products. The cost of manufaing some of our product candidates may make thierhibitively expensive. If adequate
supplies of any of our product candidates or relataterials are not available on a timely basiata@il, our clinical trials could be seriously
delayed, since these materials are time consumingahufacture and cannot be readily obtained fiard-party sources. If we were to decide
to establish a commercial-scale manufacturingifgait the future, we would require substantial iiddal funds and be required to hire and
train significant numbers of employees and comghpapplicable regulations.
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Failure of any manufacturer of Relistor or our product candidates to comply with applicable regulatoryrequirements could subject us
to penalties and have a material adverse effect aupplies of our product or products candidates.

Third-party manufacturers are required to comply with &t similar regulatory requirements outside ofth8. If manufacturers «
our product or product candidates cannot succédgsfinufacture material that conforms to the stégiulatory requirements of the FDA and
any applicable foreign regulatory authority, thegynmot be able to supply us with our product odpid candidates. If these facilities are not
approved for commercial manufacture, we may nedhdbalternative manufacturing facilities, whicbutd result in delays of several years in
obtaining approval for a product candidate. We dbcontrol the manufacturing operations and areptetaly dependent on our third-party
manufacturing partners or contractors for compkawéth the applicable regulatory requirements far tnanufacture of Relistor and our
product candidates. Manufacturers are subject goiog periodic unannounced inspections by the FBA @rresponding state and foreign
agencies for compliance with cGMP and similar ratpry requirements. Failure of any manufactureRelistor or any of our product
candidates to comply with applicable cGMP or ottegulatory requirements could result in sancticgisdpimposed on our collaborators or us,
including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, dg$a suspensions or withdrawals of approvals, opgyaéstrictions, interruptions in supply and
criminal prosecutions, any of which could signifitig and adversely affect supplies of Relistoruetsproduct candidate and have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condaioa results of operations.

The validity, enforceability and commercial value é our patents and other intellectual property rights are highly uncertain.

We own or have direct or sub-licenses to a numbessaed patents. We must obtain, maintain andreafpatent and other rights to
protect our intellectual property. The patent posibf biotechnology and pharmaceutical firms ighty uncertain and involves many complex
legal and technical issues. There are many lawsjagons and judicial decisions that dictate atittowise influence the manner in which
patent applications are filed and prosecuted anchich patents are granted and enforced, all o€lwhare subject to change from time to time.
There is no clear policy involving the breadth lzfims allowed, or the degree of protection affordettler patents in this area. In addition, we
are aware of others who have patent applicatiopmtEnts containing claims similar to or overlagpihose in our patents and patent
applications. Accordingly, patent applications ody or licensed to us may not result in patenisgissued. Even if we own or license a
relevant issued patent, we may not be able toyleatompetitors from commercializing drugs that roaypete directly with one or more of
our products or product candidates, in which egech rights may not provide us with any meaningbrhpetitive advantage. In the absence c
upon successful challenge of patent protectiongsimay be subject to generic competition, whicldadversely affect pricing and sales
volumes of the affected products.

It is generally difficult to determine the relatig&rength or scope of a biotechnology or pharmacaytatent position in absolute ter
at any given time. The issuance of a patent i$aontlusive as to its validity or enforceability, isth can be challenged in litigation or via
administrative proceedings. The license agreenfesns which we derive or out-license intellectuabperty provide for various royalty,
milestone and other payment, commercializationlisesing, patent prosecution and enforcementrargte, indemnification and other
obligations and rights, and are subject to centaservations of rights. While we generally haveright to defend and enforce patents licensec
to or by us, either in the first instance or if tleensor or licensee chooses not to do so, we masdlly bear the cost of doing so. Under our
license agreement with Salix, Salix generally tmasfirst right to control the defense and enforceinoé our Relistor patents. We may incur
substantial costs in seeking to uphold the validftpatents or to prevent infringement. If the ame of a dispute or contest is adverse to us,
third parties may be able to use our patented iwervithout payment to us. Third parties may asoid our patents through design
innovation.

Patents have a limited life and expire by law.

In addition to uncertainties as to scope, validétyforceability and changes in law, patents byhawe limited lives. Upon expiration
of patent protection, our drug candidates and/odpcts may be subject to generic competition, whianlld adversely affect pricing and sales
volumes of the affected products.

With respect to PSMA ADC, currently issued composiof-matter patents comprising co-owned and de#ised properties have
expiration ranges of 2022 to 2023 in the U.S. ab2R2o 2026 exd.S. Corresponding patent applications as wellasr applications directe
to methods of use (except for the U.S. patent expin 2023) are pending worldwide, which if issueduld have expiration ranges from 2022
to 2029. We view all of these patents as significan

Owned and in-licensed properties relating to th@4lgroduct candidate have expiration ranges of 202830; we view as most
significant the composition-of-matter patent on ¢henpound, as well as technetium-99 labeled fowhg;h expires in 2029. Additional U.S.
patents are directed to various inventions relatiingpe product candidate, and corresponding pajgpitcations are pending worldwide.
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With regard to our Relistor-related intellectuabperty, the composition-of-matter patent for thévacingredient of Relistor,
methylnaltrexone, was invented in the 1970's arsdexpired. The University, as well as Progenicsiendollaborators, have extended the
methylnaltrexone patent estate with additional patand pending patent applications covering varinuentions relating to the product. Salix
has listed in the FDA Orange Book five U.S. pateatating to subcutaneous Relistor, which haveratipin dates ranging from 2017 to 2030,
and one patent (expiring in 2024) with Health Candslsued U.S. patents provide protection for tla¢ methylnaltrexone product until 2031.

We depend on intellectual property licensed from thd parties and unpatented technology, trade secretand confidential information.
If we lose any of these rights, including by failig to achieve milestone requirements or to satisfitleer conditions, or if they or data
embodying or relevant to them are compromised by gruptions or breaches of information or data secuty, our business, results of
operations and financial condition could be harmed.

Most of our product candidates, including Relistocorporate intellectual property licensed frorimdtparties. For example, PSMA
ADC utilizes technology licensed to us from Sloaeti€ring Institute for Cancer Research, througho@gnh Corporation, and from Seattle
Genetics, Inc. We could lose the right to patents @her intellectual property licensed to us & tklated license agreement is terminated d
a breach by us or otherwise. Our ability, and dfatur collaboration partners, to commercializeduats incorporating licensed intellectual
property would be impaired if the related licengeeements were terminated. In addition, we areirequo make substantial cash payments,
achieve milestones and satisfy other conditior@uding filing for and obtaining marketing approsvand introducing products, to maintain
rights under our intellectual property licensesel@aithe nature of these agreements and the umtierseof research and development, we may
not be able to achieve milestones or satisfy carditto which we have contractually committed, asdh result may be unable to maintain our
rights under these licenses. If we do not compnwur license agreements, the licensors may tetaithem, which could result in our losing
our rights to, and therefore being unable to coneiakrze, related products.

We also rely on unpatented technology, trade seared confidential information. Third parties magépendently develop
substantially equivalent information and technigaestherwise gain access to our technology olasscour technology, and we may be
unable to effectively protect our rights in unpasehtechnology, trade secrets and confidentiarmétion. We require each of our employees,
consultants and advisors to execute a confidetytiagjreement at the commencement of an employnmerttrsulting relationship with us.
These agreements may, however, not provide effeptigtection in the event of unauthorized use secldsure of confidential information. Al
loss of trade secret protection or other unpatetgeldnology rights could harm our business, resiltgperations and financial condition.

Progenics and other businesses and organizatioridwide, and in particular technology-intensiveidties such as biotechnology
research and development, are increasingly depénderitical, complex and interdependent informatiechnology systems, including
Internet-based systems, to facilitate or perforsideesearch and development functions, businegegses, internal and external
communications, and other critical functions. Prige relies on such systems for most aspects bligmess. The size and complexity of
computer, communications and other electronic ndtaedata generation, storage and transfer systeake them potentially vulnerable to
breakdown, malicious intrusion, computer virused data security breaches by unauthorized thirdgsamployees or others. Such events
may permit unauthorized persons to access, mispgpte and/or destroy sensitive data and resuliérimpairment or disruption of important
business processes, loss of trade secrets orpthy@ietary intellectual property or public expaswf personal information (including sensitive
personal information) of employees, business pestredinical trial patients, customers and othérsy of the foregoing could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, opgnasults and financial condition.

If we do not achieve milestones or satisfy conditis regarding some of our product candidates, we mayot maintain our rights under
related licenses.

We are required to make substantial cash paymacttieve milestones and satisfy other conditiorduding filing for and obtaining
marketing approvals and introducing products, tintain rights under certain intellectual propettehses. Due to the nature of these
agreements and the uncertainties of research aredogenent, we may not be able to achieve milestonasitisfy conditions to which we have
contractually committed, and as a result may bélen® maintain our rights under these licensewelfdo not comply with our license
agreements, the licensors may terminate them, wdaald result in our losing our rights to, and #fere being unable to commercialize,
related products.
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If we infringe third-party patent or other intellec tual property rights, we may need to alter or termnate a product development
program.

There may be patent or other intellectual propeghts belonging to others that require us to atarproducts, pay licensing fees or
cease certain activities. If our products infriqmgent or other intellectual property rights oferth) the owners of those rights could bring legal
actions against us claiming damages and seekiagjtén manufacturing and marketing of the affeqientlucts. If these legal actions are
successful, in addition to any potential liabilioy damages, we could be required to obtain a $ieén order to continue to manufacture or
market the affected products. We may not prevadiny action brought against us, and any licenseired) under any rights that we infringe
may not be available on acceptable terms or a¥\&#lare aware of intellectual property rights Hgjcahird parties that relate to products or
technologies we are developing. For example, weamge of other groups investigating PSMA or relatempounds, monoclonal antibodies
directed at PSMA and targets relevant to PSMA AB@] methylnaltrexone and other peripheral opiotdgonists, and of patents held, and
patent applications filed, by these groups in threas. While the validity of these issued patehtspatentability of these pending patent
applications and the applicability of any of thesrour products and programs are uncertain, if esgagainst us, any related patent or other
intellectual property rights could adversely affeat ability to commercialize our products.

Research, development and commercialization obpHairmaceutical product often require choosing betwalternative development
and optimization routes at various stages in thveld@ment process. Preferred routes may dependhsequent discoveries and test results
cannot be predicted with certainty at the outsker& are numerous third-party patents in our fi@hdl we may need to obtain a license under
patent in order to pursue the preferred developmarie of one or more of our products or producididates. The need to obtain a license
would decrease the ultimate profitability of thepbigable product. If we cannot negotiate a licenge might have to pursue a less desirable
development route or terminate the program altageth

We are dependent upon third parties for a variety 6functions. These arrangements may not provide usith the benefits we expect.

We rely on third parties to perform a variety ofiftions. We are party to numerous agreements whade substantial responsibility
on clinical research organizations, consultantsathdr service providers for the development ofapproved product and our product
candidates. We also rely on medical and acadersiitutions to perform aspects of our clinical tsiaf product candidates. In addition, an
element of our research and development strategpéen to in-license technology and product canefidmom academic and government
institutions in order to minimize investments inlgaesearch. We have entered into agreements wuntieh we are now dependent on Salix
the commercialization and development of Relisfée. may not be able to maintain our existing retahaps, or establish new ones for Reli
or other product candidates on beneficial terms.nveg not be able to enter new arrangements withiodiie delays or expenditures, and thest
arrangements may not allow us to compete succésdfbreover, if third parties do not successfudbrry out their contractual duties, meet
expected deadlines or conduct clinical trials inardance with regulatory requirements or applicgibtgocols, our product candidates may not
be approved for marketing and commercializatiosumh approval may be delayed. If that occurs, wauoicollaborators will not be able, or
may be delayed in our efforts, to commercialize maduct candidates.

We lack sales and marketing infrastructure and reléed staff, which will require significant investmert to establish and in the meantime
may make us dependent on third parties for their egertise in this area.

We have no established sales, marketing or digtoibunfrastructure. If we receive marketing appbfor a pharmaceutical product,
significant investment, time and managerial resesitgould be required to build the commercial irtfiagture required to market, sell and
support it without a third-party partner. Should efmose to commercialize a product directly, we maybe successful in developing an
effective commercial infrastructure or in achievisgficient market acceptance. Alternatively, weymmbhoose to market and sell products
through distribution, co-marketing, co-promotionlioensing arrangements with third parties. We ralgp consider contracting with a third-
party professional pharmaceutical detailing andssatganization to perform the marketing functiondne or more products. To the extent
we enter into distribution, co-marketing, co-proiant detailing or licensing arrangements for thekating and sale of product candidates, an
revenues we receive will depend primarily on tHergs of third parties. We will not control the aomd and timing of marketing resources th
third parties devote to our products.

We are exposed to product liability claims, and irthe future may not be able to obtain insurance agast claims at a reasonable cost or
at all.

Our business exposes us to product liability rigksich are inherent in the testing, manufacturmgrketing and sale of
pharmaceutical products. We may not be able todagaiduct liability exposure. If a product liabjlitlaim is successfully brought against us,
our financial position may be adversely affectedder our license agreement with Salix, we are nesipée for product liability claims arising
out of clinical trials that were conducted under supervision. We are indemnified by Salix under laxense agreement with Salix for product
liability exposure arising from its supply, markegiand sales of Relistor, and maintain our own pebtability insurance coverage in the
amount of $10.0 million per occurrence, subjea tteductible and a $10.0 million annual aggregatidtion and other clinical trial or other
insurance as required by contract and local law&dtober 2009, we released our former collaboratyeth Pharmaceuticals, from its
indemnification responsibility for product liabifiexposure arising from its marketing and saleReaifstor. Product liability insurance for the
biopharmaceutical industry is generally expensitggn available at all, and may not be availablestat a reasonable cost in the future. Our
current insurance coverage and indemnificatiomngeenents may not be adequate to cover claims btaggtinst us, and are in any event
subject to the insuring or indemnifying entity diacging its obligations to us.
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We handle hazardous materials and must comply witkenvironmental laws and regulations, which can be @ensive and restrict how we
do business. If we are involved in a hazardous wasspill or other accident, we could be liable for @mages, penalties or other forms of
censure.

Our research and development work and manufactpriocesses involve the use of hazardous, contralieldradioactive materials.
We are subject to federal, state and local lawsragdlations governing the use, manufacture, segriagndling and disposal of these materials
Despite procedures that we implement for handlimd) disposing of these materials, we cannot elimsitia¢ risk of accidental contamination or
injury. In the event of a hazardous waste spibbthier accident, we could be liable for damagesalpies or other forms of censure. We may be
required to incur significant costs to comply waéthvironmental laws and regulations in the future.

If we lose key management and scientific personneh whom we depend, our business could suffer.

We are dependent upon our key management andificipetsonnel, the loss of whom could requireusdentify and engage
qualified replacements, and could cause our manageand operations to suffer in the interim. Contiogt for qualified employees among
companies in the biopharmaceutical industry isnisée Future success in our industry depends irifisigint part on the ability to attract, retain
and motivate highly skilled employees, which we maybe successful in doing.

Heath care reform measures could adversely affecuo operating results and our ability to obtain marketing approval of and to
commercialize our product candidates.

In the U.S. and some foreign jurisdictions, thea@ehbeen a number of legislative and regulatorpgba and proposed changes
regarding the health care system that could premedélay marketing approval of our product cantlidarestrict or regulate post-approval
activities and affect our ability to profitably sahy product candidates for which we obtain marigeapproval. Legislative and regulatory
proposals have been made to expand post-apprapatements and restrict sales and promotional iievfor pharmaceutical products. In
addition, increased scrutiny by the U.S. CongréskeoFDA's approval process may significantly gleda prevent marketing approval, as well
as subject us to more stringent product labelir@ost-marketing testing and other requirementthénJ.S., federal legislation has changed
the way Medicare covers and pays for pharmaceyticalucts. Cost reduction initiatives and othewggions of legislation have decreased
coverage and reimbursement. Though such legislappties only to drug benefits for Medicare beriafies, private payors often follow
Medicare coverage policy and payment limitationsetting their own reimbursement rates. More relagislation is intended to broaden
access to health insurance, further reduce or @nghe growth of healthcare spending, enhancedas against fraud and abuse, add new
transparency requirements for health care andhemtrance industries, and impose new taxes awdde the health industry and additional
health policy reforms. New laws impose significanhual fees on companies that manufacture or infgarided prescription drug products,
and contain substantial new compliance provisiaméch in each case may affect our business practidgn health care practitioners. Subject
to federal and state agencies issuing regulatiogsiidance, it appears likely that new laws wilhtinue to pressure pharmaceutical pricing,
especially under the Medicare program, and mayiatsease regulatory burdens and operating costscafnot be sure whether additional
legislative changes will be enacted, whether thé F&yulations, guidance or interpretations willdb&inged or what the impact of such cha
on the marketing approvals of our product candiglateny, may be.

Our and/or our collaborators' relationships with customers and third-party payors will be subject to @plicable anti-kickback, fraud
and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulationsrhich could expose us or them to criminal sanctits, civil penalties, program
exclusion, contractual damages, reputational harmrad diminished profits and future earnings.

Health care providers, physicians and third-pagyagus play a primary role in the recommendation predcription of any product
candidates for which we obtain marketing appro®@ait or our collaborators' future arrangements withd-party payors and customers may
expose us or them to broadly applicable fraud dnd@ and other health care laws and regulatiomnsrtag constrain the business or financial
arrangements and relationships through which waiorcollaborators market, sell and distribute awdpcts that obtain marketing approval.
Efforts to ensure that business arrangements cowigllyapplicable health care laws and regulatiowslive substantial costs. It is possible that
governmental authorities will conclude that ouoar collaborators' business practices may not cpmvjih current or future statutes,
regulations or case law involving applicable frauml abuse or other healthcare laws and regulatiosisch operations are found to be in
violation of any of these laws or other applicadpiernmental regulations, we or the collaboratoy tma subject to significant civil, criminal
and administrative penalties, damages, fines, siaiurom government funded healthcare progrant) as Medicare and Medicaid, and the
curtailment or restructuring of related operatidhghysicians or other providers or entities inxed with our products are found to be not in
compliance with applicable laws, they may be sulii@eriminal, civil or administrative sanctionacluding exclusions from government
funded healthcare programs, which may adversegchitfs.
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Our future depends on the proper management of oucurrent and future business operations, including hose of Molecular Insight, anc
their associated expenses.

Our business strategy requires us to manage ourdsssto provide for the continued developmentatdntial commercialization of
our proprietary and partnered product candidates.sBategy also calls for us to undertake incréassearch and development activities ar
manage an increasing number of relationships watingrs and other third parties, while simultangomsnaging the capital necessary to
support this strategy. These tasks are signifigantireased as a result of our acquisition of Molecinsight. If we are unable to manage
effectively our current operations and any growthmay experience, our business, financial conddiuth results of operations may be
adversely affected. If we are unable to effectivalgnage our expenses, we may find it necessagdtece our personnel-related costs through
reductions in our workforce, which could harm opemmtions, employee morale and impair our abitityetain and recruit talent. Furthermore,
if adequate funds are not available, we may beired@o obtain funds through arrangements withnag or other sources that may require us
to relinquish rights to certain of our technologipducts or future economic rights that we waudd otherwise relinquish or require us to
enter into other financing arrangements on unféslerserms.

We have a history of operating losses.

Progenics has incurred substantial losses througtsohistory. A large portion of our revenue hastdrically consisted of upfront and
milestone from licensing transactions. We have riggooperating losses for 2013 and 2012 and whileeported operating income for 2014,
as a result of a milestone payment from Salixtitheng and amount of any similar transactions ia filiture is highly unpredictable and
uncertain. Without upfront or other such paymewts operate at a loss, due in large part to thefgignt research and development
expenditures required to identify and validate peaduct candidates and pursue our development&fidoreover, we have derived no
significant revenue from product sales and havg onthe last several years derived revenue froyalties. We may not achieve significant
product sales or royalty revenue for a number afgeif ever. We expect to incur net operatingdssand negative cash flow from operatior
the future, which could increase significantly i&wxpand our clinical trial programs and other pmidlevelopment efforts. Our ability to
achieve and sustain profitability is dependentart pn obtaining regulatory approval for and themmercializing our product candidates,
either alone or with others. We may not be abléeteelop and commercialize products beyond subcatenRelistor for OIC in patients with
advanced illness and for those with chronic, namecea pain. Our operations may not be profitablengf/any of our other product candidates
under development are commercialized.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offsetifure taxable income is subject to certain limitatons.

We currently have significant net operating log$¢GLs) that may be used to offset future taxabt®ime. The U.S. Internal Revenue
Code limits the amount of taxable income that mayfiset annually by NOL carryforwards after a aj@in control (generally greater than
50% change in ownership) of a loss corporation,@mduse of NOL carryforwards may be further lirdies a result of any future equity
transactions that result in an additional changeootrol.

Progenics' stock price has a history of volatilityand may be affected by selling pressure, including the event of substantial sales of
Progenics stock by former Molecular Insight stockhtiers. You should consider an investment in Progeos stock as risky and invest
only if you can withstand a significant loss.

Our stock price has a history of significant vdisti It has varied between a high of $7.62 andwa 6f $3.10 in 2014 and between a
high of $6.47 and a low of $2.53 in 2013. Factbet tnay have a significant impact on the marketepof our common stock include the res
of clinical trials and pre-clinical studies undéea by us or others; delays, terminations or oth@nges in development programs;
developments in marketing approval efforts; develepts in collaborator or other business relatigrshparticularly regarding Relistor, PSMA
ADC or other significant products or programs; teagical innovation or product announcements hyous collaborators or our competitors;
patent or other proprietary rights developmentsegomental regulation; changes in reimbursemeritipslor health care legislation; safety
and efficacy concerns about products developedsbgur collaborators or our competitors; our apiiit fund ongoing operations; fluctuations
in our operating results; general market conditiamsl the reporting of or commentary on such matwgrthe press and others. At times, our
stock price has been volatile even in the absefismgoificant news or developments. The stock @rioEbiotechnology companies and
securities markets generally have been subjeatatmatic price swings in recent years, and finarania market conditions during that period
have resulted in widespread pressures on secusitissuers throughout the world economy.
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Our stockholders may be diluted, and the price of @r common stock may decrease, as a result of futuiesuances of securities, exercis
of outstanding stock options, or sales of outstanad securities.

We expect to issue additional common stock in putfierings, private placements and/or throughJamnuary 2014 Sales Agreement
with an investment bank, pursuant to which we nedlyfsom time to time up to $50 million of our sta@and to issue options to purchase
common stock for compensation purposes. We mag iggeferred stock, restricted stock units or séiegrconvertible into or exercisable or
exchangeable for our common stock. All such issesmeould dilute existing investors and could lower price of our common stock. Sales of
substantial numbers of outstanding shares of conmstawk, such as sales by former Molecular Insightkholders of unregistered shares
received in the acquisition, could also cause #irdemn the market price of our stock. We requubstantial external funding to finance our
research and development programs and may seekundihg through the issuance and sale of our comstack, which we have done in
follow-on primary offerings in late 2012, mid-2048d February 2014. We have a shelf registraticestant which may be used to issue up tc
approximately an additional $110 million of commainck and other securities before any underwrisgadints, commissions and offering
expenses. We also have in place registration statencovering shares issuable pursuant to ounegoiihpensation plans, and sales of our
securities under them could cause the market pfioar stock to decline. Sales by existing stocllkdd or holders of options or other rights
may have an adverse effect on our ability to regzg@tal and may adversely affect the market prfoguo common stock.

Our principal stockholders are able to exert signifcant influence over matters submitted to stockholdrs for approval.

At 2014 year-end, our directors and executive efdogether beneficially owned or controlled apprately 6 percent of our
outstanding common shares, including shares clyrisstiable upon option exercises, and our fivgdat other stockholders approximately
53.5 percent. Should these parties choose to @t alr together, they could exert significant iafiae in determining the outcome of corporate
actions requiring stockholder approval and othesweigntrol our business. This control could, amotigothings, have the effect of delaying or
preventing a change in control of the Company, eslg affecting our stock price.

Anti-takeover provisions may make removal of our Bard and/or management more difficult, discouraginghostile bids for control that
may be beneficial to our stockholders.

Our Board is authorized, without further stockholdetion, to issue from time to time shares of @nefd stock in one or more
designated series or classes. The issuance ofigefgock, as well as provisions in some outstamdtock options that provide for accelera
of exercisability upon a change of control, andt®ac203 and other provisions of the Delaware Gain€orporation Law could make a
takeover or the removal of our Board or managemmanre difficult; discourage hostile bids for contholwhich stockholders may receive a
premium for their shares; and otherwise dilutertgbets of common stockholders and depress the marlee of our stock.
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Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

There were no unresolved SEC staff comments raggualir periodic or current reports under the Exgeafsct as of December 31,
2014.

Item 2. Properties

At December 31, 2014, we occupied approximatelp0@R square feet of laboratory and office spaceaimyfown, New York,
pursuant to lease agreements expiring in Deceni#¥ @nder which we pay rent and facilities chaigekiding utilities, taxes and operating
expenses. We believe our existing facilities aregadte to meet our present requirements.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Progenics is a party to a proceeding brought loyrmér employee on November 2, 2010 in the U.Srbts€ourt for the Southern
District of New York, complaining that the Compaviglated the anti-retaliation provisions of the éeal Sarbanes-Oxley law by terminating
the former employee. The former employee seeksta®Ement of his employment, compensatory damagesextain costs and fees associi
with the litigation. The Company believes the forramployee's claims are without merit and is cditgghe matter vigorously. The federal
District Court hearing the case issued in July 284 ®rder denying our motion for summary judgmaesiinissing the former employee's
complaint, making it likely that the proceeding Mgibntinue to trial. Given the uncertainty attend@nthe proceeding, we have accrued
amounts in connection with this matter which arematerial to these Consolidated Financial Statesnen

In the third quarter of 2014, Progenics and Orsofdatmer licensee of Relistor in Japan, settledlaims between them relating to an
arbitration commenced by Progenics in 2013, thégsOctober 2008 License Agreement, and the fotitensee's development and
commercialization of the drug. In connection thetkwthe parties terminated the License Agreemexthanged mutual releases, and the
former licensee paid Progenics $7.25 million, whiels been recorded as other operating income.

Item 4. Not Applicable
PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Relaed Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock is quoted on The NASDAQ Stock Matkt C under the symbol PGNX. The following tabktssforth, for the
periods indicated, the high and low sales pricespare of the common stock, as reported on NASDAQ.

High Low
2014: Fourth quarte $ 7.62 % 4.2¢
Third quartel 5.72 4.0z
Second quarte 4.6t 3.1C
First quarte! 7.4t 3.7t
2013: Fourth quarte $ 5.9C $ 3.4t
Third quartel 6.47 4.3¢€
Second quarte 5.57 3.54
First quarte! 5.9¢ 2.5¢

On March 10, 2015, the last sale price for our camistock, as reported by The NASDAQ Stock Marke€l lvas $6.66. There were
approximately 70 holders of record of our common stock as of that.da
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Comparative Stock Performance Graph
The graph below compares, for the past five yghescumulative stockholder return on our commoaglsteith the cumulative

stockholder return of (i) the NASDAQ U.S. BenchmérR) Index and (ii) the ICB: 4577 Pharmaceutid§labsector) Index, assuming an
investment in each of $100 on December 31, 2009.
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Dividends

Progenics has never paid any dividends, and weitlyranticipate that all earnings, if any, will tetained for development of our
business and no dividends will be declared in tihedeeable future.
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data presented below asoéBber 31, 2014 and 2013 and for each of the lees in the period ended
December 31, 2014 are derived from our auditechfira statements, included elsewhere herein. Tleeteel financial data presented below
with respect to the balance sheet data as of Deme&ilh 2012, 2011 and 2010 and for each of theyweos in the period ended December 31,
2011 are derived from our audited financial stateimeot included herein. The data set forth belbautd be read in conjunction with
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finanataddtion and Results of Operations and the FindiSteements and related Notes
included elsewhere herein.

Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(in thousands, except per share date
Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz

Revenues
Collaboration revenu $ 41,19¢ $ 159 $ 8,52 $ 76,76¢ $ 1,41z
Royalty income 3,101 5,92 4,96 3,04¢ 1,82¢
Research gran - 27¢ 48¢ 4,81( 457:
Other revenues 80 69 72 17€ 14C
Total revenues 44,37 7,86¢ 14,04¢ 84,79¢ 7,952
Expenses
Research and developm 27,73 33,39: 31,33 52,55k 50,15:
License fee- research and developme 49¢ 567 1,17( 57¢ 1,27(
Royalty expens 357 624 49¢ 40t 241
General and administratiy 14,94« 14,60: 15,21« 18,87¢ 23,32:
Depreciation and amortizatic 54kt 93¢ 1,32¢ 2,06¢ 2,85¢
Intangible impairment charg: 2,67¢ 91¢ - - -
Change in contingent consideration liability 1,50( (200) - - -
Total expenses 48,257 50,84: 49,53¢ 74,48( 77,83¢
Other operating income 7,25( - - - -
Operating income (loss) 3,37( (42,980) (35,49)) 10,31¢ (69,884
Other income
Interest income 51 46 6C 65 64
Total other income 51 46 6C 65 64
Net income (loss) before provision for income ta 3,421 (42,934 (35,43)) 10,38 (69,82()
Income tax benefit 98¢ 362 - - 9t
Net income (loss $ 4,41C $ (42,57) $ (35,43) $ 10,38 $ (69,725
Per share amounts on net income (Ic
Basic $ 0.06 $ (0.7¢) $ (1.02) $ 031 $ (2.14)
Diluted $ 0.06 $ (0.76) $ (1.02) $ 031 $ (2.14)

December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Datz

Cash and cash equivale! $ 119,30: $ 65,86( $ 58,83t $ 70,108 $ 47,91¢
Auction rate securitie - 2,20¢ 3,24( 3,332 3,60¢
Working capital 115,24: 64,05¢ 58,80¢ 65,89( 42.,20"
Total asset 161,03° 114,54 76,30¢ 80,11( 62,73¢
Deferred revenu- current - - 83¢ 204 -
Deferred revenu- long term - - - 162 -
Other liabilities- long term 29,44: 28,93 1,07¢ 1,49 1,63¢
Total stockholders' equit 124,90¢ 78,97¢ 66,56¢ 71,80: 51,30¢

27




Table of Content
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A)
Overview

General. As discussed iBusiness above, we have completed phase 2 clinical tabts/o product candidates for prostate cancer,
resumed a pivotal phase 2 trial of an ultra-orpfzatiotherapy candidate for pheochromocytoma. Weremeng forward with MIP-1095, a
compound originally developed by Molecular Insightp clinical development, and expect to file &bl application in the U.S. this year.

Our 2013 acquisition of the privately-held Moleauliasight included the issuance of Progenics comstook in a private transaction
not taxable to Progenics, and Progenics' agreetograty potential milestones, in cash or Progertimsksat its option, of up to $23 million,
contingent upon achieving specified commercial@agvents and up to $70 million contingent uponieghg specified sales targets relating
the acquired company's products. The acquisitiomacaounted for using the acquisition method obanting, under which the acquired
company's assets and liabilities were recordeldeat €stimated respective fair values as of theliaitepn date in our consolidated financial
statements. The difference between the estimateddlae of the acquisition consideration and failue of the identifiable net assets repres
potential future economic benefits arising from &dmmg the companies, and has been recorded aswjbakche results of operations of the
acquired company's business from January 18, 20&%losing date of the acquisition, the estimdéa@dmarket values of the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed, and goodwill are includedur consolidated financial statements sincedite of the acquisition and are included in
the discussion and analysis below.

We have licensed Relistor to Salix Pharmaceutieald, have partnered other internally-developedquized compounds and
technologies with third parties. We continue togidar opportunities for strategic collaborationgt-icenses and other arrangements with
biopharmaceutical companies involving proprietayearch, development and clinical programs, andimtne future also ificense or acquil
additional oncology compounds and/or programs.

Our current principal sources of revenue from opi@na are royalty, commercialization milestone aenaenue-sharing payments from
Salix's Relistor operations. Royalty and milestpagments from Relistor depend on success in deredopand commercialization, which is
dependent on many factors, such as Salix's efidetssions by the FDA and other regulatory bodiespetition from drugs for the same or
similar indications, and the outcome of clinicatlasther testing of Relistor. In the third quarté2614, Progenics and Ono, its former licensee
of Relistor in Japan, settled all claims betweamthelating to an arbitration commenced by Progeini?013, the parties' October 2008
License Agreement, and the former licensee's dpwsdat and commercialization of the drug. In conioectherewith, the parties exchanged
mutual releases and the former licensee paid Piog&i.25 million, which has been recorded as obperating income.

We fund our operations to a significant extent froempital-raising. During 2013, we completed an undiéten public offering of 9.8
million shares of common stock at a public offerprice of $4.40 per share, resulting in net prosesdapproximately $40.1 million, and in
early 2014 sold an additional 8.75 million share$460 per share, for net proceeds of approxim&g¥.5 million.

Most of our expenditures are for research and dgweént activities. During 2014, expenses for Ongpl@rimarily related to PSMA
ADC, 1404, AZEDRA™ and 1095, were $27.3 million quemed to $32.9 million in 2013 and $28.6 million2®12. Expenses for Relistor and
other programs in 2014 were $1.3 million, compaee#il.7 million in 2013 and $4.4 million in 2012.eVéxpect to incur operating losses for
the foreseeable future. At December 31, 2014, ek $tE19.3 million in cash and cash equivalentsnarease of $53.4 million from $65.9
million at 2013 year-end. We expect that this antaviti be sufficient to fund operations as currgrdahticipated beyond one year.

If we do not realize sufficient royalty or othewemue from Relistor, or are unable to enter intmfable collaboration, license, asset
sale, capital raising or other financing transacjove will have to reduce, delay or eliminate sfi@g on certain programs, and/or take other
economic measures.

Relistor has been approved by regulatory autheritighe U.S., countries in the E.U., Canada anstralia and elsewhere since 2008
for treatment of OIC in advanced-illness patieetsiving palliative care when laxative therapy hasbeen sufficient and in the U.S. since
2014 for the treatment of OIC in patients with reamcer pain. Salix is responsible for further depiglg and commercializing Relistor,
including completing clinical development necesgargupport regulatory marketing approvals for ptig¢ new indications and formulations
of the drug, such as oral methylnaltrexone. UnderAgreement with Salix, we received a developmmeiféstone of $40 million upon U.S.
marketing approval for subcutaneous Relistor in-camcer pain patients and are eligible to receajva development milestone of up to $50
million upon U.S. marketing approval of an oralrfedation of Relistor, (ii) up to $200 million of oumercialization milestone payments upon
achievement of specified U.S. sales targets,r@iplties ranging from 15 to 19 percent of net s&lg Salix and its affiliates, and (iv) 60% of
any upfront, milestone, reimbursement or other mexeg(net of costs of goods sold, as defined, amiticiey-specific research and development
expense reimbursement) Salix receives from sutdees outside the U.S. In the event marketing appadthe oral formulations of the drug
subject to a Black Box Warning or REMS, paymena slibstantial portion of the milestone amount wdnddieferred, and subject, to
achievement of the first commercialization milegtgpayable on annual U.S. sales first exceedin@ $diion).
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Salix has secured distribution for Relistor in Eigopean territory, licensed Link Medical Produetg Limited for distribution in
Australia, New Zealand, South Africa and certaimeotmarkets in Asia, and in the third quarter esdénto an agreement with Lupin Limited
for distribution of Relistor in Canada.

Results of Operations (amounts in thousands unlessherwise noted)

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201:
Percent Change

Revenue! $ 44377 $ 7,862 $ 14,04¢ 464% (44%)
Expense: (48,257 (50,847) (49,539 (5%) 3%
Other operating income 7,25( - - 10C% N/A
Operating income (lost 3,37( (42,98() (35,49) (10€%) 21%
Other income 51 46 60 11% (23%)
Income tax benefit 98¢ 362 - 172% 100(%
Net income (loss) $ 441C $ (42,579 $ (35,43)) (11C%) 20%

Revenues (amounts in thousands unless otherwise ad}:

Sources of revenue during the years indicated baloluded license and other agreements with Salikaher collaborators, and to a
small extent research grants from the Nationaltlrtss of Health (NIH) and sales of research retmgen

Sources of Revenu 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201. 2013 vs. 201:
Percent Change

Collaboration revenu $ 41,19¢ $ 159 $ 8,52t 2,48% (81%)
Royalty income 3,101 5,92: 4,96: (48%) 19%
Research gran - 27¢ 48¢ (10C%) (44%)
Other revenues 80 69 72 16% (4%)

Total $ 44,377 $ 7,86z $ 14,04¢ 464% (44%)

Collaboration revenue.During 2014, we recognized revenue from milestaangring arrangements, primarily resulting frora th
$40,000 milestone from Salix, for the approval wbautaneous Relistor for treatment of OIC in noneea pain patients and $157 in
reimbursement payments, and a $1,000 milestone guatyirom FUJIFILM RI Pharma in the first quarter2f14 and $37 in reimbursement
payments.

During 2013, we recognized revenue from upfront maiichbursement payments from partnering arrangesrantsisting of (i) $676
from amortization of upfront payments for partngrthe Company's PRO 140 a@ddifficile programs, (ii) $420 from amortization of upfront
payment and expense reimbursement for licensing iM0apan, (iii) $295 from amortization of upfrgrgtyment and expense reimbursement
for licensing Relistor, and (iv) a $189 upfront pant from another licensee.

During 2012, we recognized revenue from upfront michbursement payments from partnering arrangesrantsisting of (i) $7,949
from PRO 140 an€. difficile partnering, and (ii) $558 from Salix. As of DecemBg, 2012, $838 is recorded in deferred revencerrent.

During 2014, 2013 and 2012, we recognized $2, $tb$ 8, respectively, of reimbursement revenuadftivities requested by form
collaborators.
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Royalty income.During the periods presented below we recognizgdltpincome primarily based on the below net safeRelistor
reported by Salix.

Relistor Net Sales
Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
u.S. $ 16,20C $ 35,000 $ 29,20(
Ex-U.S. 4,10( 4,40( 4,00(
Global $ 20,30C $ 39,40( $ 33,20(

Salix reported sales deductions in excess of grales resulting in royalty loss from net Relistisdes during the fourth quarter of
2014, leading us to recognize an accrued royatty ability owed to Salix of $0.7 million.

Research grantsDuring the last three years, we recognized $0, $2itb$488, respectively, as revenue from fedenadigonent
grants from the NIH to support research and devetg programs. Decreases in grant revenue primaslylted from lower reimbursable
expenses year-to-year. We do not expect to recegaienues from the NIH in the foreseeable future.

Other revenues, primarily from orders for research reagents, geahas shown in tHeources of Revent&ble above.
Expenses (amounts in thousands unless otherwise adj}:

Research and Development Expens@sclude scientific labor, clinical trial costs, qligs, product manufacturing costs, consulting,
license fees, royalty payments and other operatipgnses. Research and development expenses éec@$28,592 for 2014 from $34,582
for 2013 and from $33,001 for 2012. Sequidity and Capital Resources — Uses of Cafir details of the changes in these expenses by
project. Portions of our expenses during 2013 d@i®2vere funded through grants from the NIH (Regenues- Research Graht§he
changes in research and development expense, dyocatof expense, are as follows:

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201!
Percent change
Salaries and benefit $ 9,00: $ 12,481 $ 15,37: (28%) (19%)

2014 vs. 2013 Salaries and benefits decreased primarily deéedecline in average headcount, and reflectingoxapately $1.5 million
restructuring charges recorded in 2013.

2013 vs. 2012 Salaries and benefits decreased primarily d@edecline in average headcount, and reflectingraracurring retirement
expense of $1,804 incurred in the first quarte2@f2.
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2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201:
Percent change
Share-based compensatiol $ 1,84: $ 2,01z $ 4,06( (8%) (50%)

2014 vs. 2013 Share-based compensation decreased primariljodoever stock expenses and the previous discaation of new restricted
stock awards.

2013 vs. 2012 Share-based compensation decreased primariljodo@/er equity incentives expenses, and reflgation-recurring 2012
retirement-related option and restricted stock ezpeof $1,638.

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201!
Percent change
Clinical trial costs $ 6,51C $ 8,86: $ 2,692 (27%) 22%

2014 vs. 2013 Clinical trial costs decreased primarily dudawer expenses for Oncology ($2,337), primarilatetl to 1404 and PSMA AD
partially offset by higher expenses for Azedra.

2013 vs. 2012 Clinical trial costs increased primarily dueiigher expenses for Oncology ($6,214), primarilated to 1404 and PSMA
ADC, partially offset by lower expenses for Relisémd other programs ($44).

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201:
Laboratory and manufacturing supplies and Percent change
equipment $ 19z $ 63z $ 592 (69%) 7%

2014 vs. 2013 Laboratory and manufacturing supplies and eqaiftrdecreased due to lower expenses for Relistbotrer programs ($327)
and Oncology ($112).

2013 vs. 2012 Laboratory and manufacturing supplies and eqaitrmcreased by $511 for other programs, includexpnd quarter
impairment losses from the write-off of laborat@guipment in connection with an amendment to thea@my's Tarrytown lease, partially
offset by lower Oncology expenses ($471), primdrityn a decline in lab supplies for PSMA ADC.

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201. 2013 vs. 201!
Contract manufacturing and Percent change
subcontractors $ 5191 $ 2,04: $ 3,111 154% (34%)

2014 vs. 2013Contract manufacturing and subcontractors incredsedo higher expenses for Oncology ($3,163), ariignrelated to Azedra,
1404 and PSMA ADC, partially offset by lower expesgor Relistor and other programs.

2013 vs. 2012Contract manufacturing and subcontractors decreasigdarily due to lower expenses for Oncology (B6a&nd Relistor and
other programs ($498).

Expenses in this category relate to the conductlinital trials, including manufacture by third gias of drug materials, testing, analysis,
formulation and toxicology services, and vary astiming and level of such services are required.
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2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201:
Percent change
Consultants $ 887 $ 90t $ 33C (2%) 174%

2014 vs. 2013Consultants expense decreased primarily due torlewgenses for Oncology ($66), partially offsetigher expenses for
Relistor and other programs ($48).

2013 vs. 2012Consultants expense increased primarily due toenigkpenses for Oncology ($613), partially offsgtdwer expenses for
Relistor and other programs ($38).

Expenses in this category relate to monitoring amgolinical trials and reviewing data from compgléttrials including the preparation of
filings and vary as the timing and level of suchvases are required.

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201!
Percent change
License fees $ 49¢ $ 567 $ 1,17( (12%) (52%)

2014 vs. 2013License fees decreased primarily due to lower esgefor Oncology, partially offset by a license ipayt related to the $40,C
subcutaneous Relistor for non-cancer pain milestone

2013 vs. 2012License fees decreased due to lower expenses fmi@yy ($573) and Relistor and other programs ($30)

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201:
Percent change
Royalty expense $ 357 $ 624 $ 49¢ (43%) 25%

2014 vs. 2013The decrease in royalty expense was primarily duewer net sales of Relistor in 2014.

2013 vs. 2012The increase in royalty expense was primarily dueigher net sales of Relistor in 2013.

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201:
Percent change
Other operating expense: $ 411C $ 6,457 $ 5,17¢ (36%) 25%

2014 vs. 20130ther operating expenses decreased from 2013 pisirdae to lower expenses for rent ($1,837), othygerating expenses
($292), facilities ($164), insurance ($27) and &la$27).

2013 vs. 20120ther operating expenses increased from 2012 piynthre to increases in rent ($1,131), as a raxfulbase amendment and
termination expenses, travel ($106), other opeyatikpenses ($140) and insurance ($57), partialbebby a decrease in facilities ($152).
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General and Administrative Expensesncreased to $14,944 for 2014 from $14,602 for 2848& decreased from $15,214 for 201z
follows:

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201! 2013 vs. 201!
Percent change
Salaries and benefits $ 4,39¢ $ 4,821 $ 6,49: (9%) (26%)

2014 vs. 2013Salaries and benefits decreased primarily duediectne in average headcount.

2013 vs. 2012Salaries and benefits decreased primarily due 1@ 2@crued severance expense resulting from heatieaductions, while the
average headcount remained unchanged.

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201.
Percent change
Share-based compensatiol $ 1,68 $ 1532 $ 2,47¢ 10% (38%)

2014 vs. 2013Share-based compensation increased primarily doggh®r stock option expenses.

2013 vs. 2012Share-based compensation decreased primarily dowés equity incentives expenses, which includestructuring expenses
in 2012.

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201:
Percent change
Consulting and professional fee $ 5,06C $ 392: $ 2,362 29% 66%

2014 vs. 2013Consulting and professional fees increased duggteehlegal expenses ($1,873) and other fees (paBiially offset by lower
consulting ($539), legal patent ($227) and audit @mpliance expenses ($62).

2013 vs. 2012Consulting and professional fees increased dugteeh consulting ($697), patent ($457), legal ($28@dit ($101) and other
fees ($49).

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201:
Percent change
Other operating expense: $ 3,806 $ 432 $ 3,88: (12%) 11%

2014 vs. 20130ther operating expenses decreased due to lowensap for computer software ($120), recruiting g316ent ($58), taxes
($30), travel ($17) and other operating expens&8d}

2013 vs. 20120ther operating expenses increased due to higipenses for market research ($158), recruiting (liaestor relations
($109) and taxes ($108) and other operating exsei$de7), partially offset by a decrease in ret7 ).

Depreciation and Amortization Expenseslecreased from 2013 to 2014 and from 2012 to 284 &llows:

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201t 2013 vs. 201:
Percent change
Depreciation and amortization $ 54t $ 93¢ $ 1,324 (42%) (29%)

2014 vs. 2013Depreciation and amortization expense decreasathyily due to lower machinery and equipment fixeded balances.
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2013 vs. 2012Depreciation and amortization expense decreasathyly due to lower leasehold improvements and rimee and equipment
fixed asset balances.

Intangible Impairment Charges increased from 2013 to 2014 and from 2012 to 2@%3ollows:

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201!
Percent change
Intangible impairment charges (nor-cash) $ 2,67¢ $ 91¢ $ - 191% 10(%

2014 vs. 2013As of December 31, 2014 indefinite-lived intangibksets decreased by $2,679, from $31,379 miki&28,700 million, of
which a $2,660 impairment of the indefinite-liveddta and MIP-1095 assets and a $16 impairmemteofinite-lived Onalta asset balance
were incurred due to our review of these intang#asets, with the corresponding impairment chamgesrded in the Consolidated Statements
of Operations.

2013 vs. 2012As of December 31, 2013 indefinite-lived intangibksets decreased by $919, from $32,298 millic819379 million,
resulting from our annual impairment testing, vtk corresponding impairment charges recordeddrCitnsolidated Statements of
Operations. This impairment was the result of cleainghe estimated timing of beginning cash infldvesn 2014 to 2018 and an increase in
discount rate from 15% to 18% for the Onalta inthlegasset.

Change in Contingent Consideration Liabilityincreased from 2013 to 2014 and decreased from 802Q13, as follows:

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201:
Percent change
Change in contingent consideration liability (noi-cash) $ 1,50C $ (200) $ - (85C%) (10C%)

2014 vs. 2013The review of the contingent consideration liapifiir value resulted in $1,500 increase, from $08,to $17,200, which has
been recorded as non-cash expense in the ConsaliBtdtements of Operations. The increase in gtinconsideration liability was
primarily due to higher probability of success 1404, partially offset by decrease due to lowejgmted revenues for MIP-1095.

2013 vs. 2012The fourth quarter of 2013 review of the contingesrisideration liability fair value resulted in 20P decrease, from $15,90(
$15,700, which has been recorded as non-cash expetiee Consolidated Statements of Operations.dElgeease in contingent consideration
liability was primarily due to an increase in thieabunt period.

Significant changes in estimates and assumptiodsriying the estimated fair value of the contingearisideration liability would result in a
significantly higher or lower fair value with a ¢esponding non-cash charge or credit to expenses.

Other operating income (amounts in thousands unlesstherwise noted):

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201! 2013 vs. 201!
Percent change
Other operating income $ 7,25C $ - $ = 10C% N/A

2014 Other operating income consists of a third qua2@d4 payment received in connection with settlenoéatrbitration with our former
licensee for Relistor in Japan.
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Other income (amounts in thousands unless otherwiseted):

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201:
Percent change
Interest income $ 51 % 4€ $ 60 11% (23%)

2014 vs. 2013Interest income increased primarily due to high@rage balances in 2014 than in 2013, partiallyeifby decreases due to
lower average interest rates in 2014 than in 2013.

2013 vs. 2012Interest income decreased primarily due to lowerage interest rates in 2013 than in 2012, partidfset by increases
resulting from higher average balances of cashvatprits.

Interest income, as reported, is primarily the ftesilinvestment income from auction rate secusitie
Income Taxes (amounts in thousands unless otherwineted):

For the year ended December 31, 2014, our bookrinasas $4,410, resulting primarily from $40,000nitestone revenue from Sa
and a $7,250 payment received in the settlemeathifration with our former licensee for Relistardapan, however there was no provisior
income taxes for 2014, due to taxable losses regyitimarily from the utilization of a portion ofur deferred tax assets. For 2014 and 2013,
income tax benefit of $989 and $362, respectivelgulted from the change in the difference betweserying amounts of in-process research
and development assets for financial reporting psep and the amounts used for income tax purpeseg012 there was no provision for
income taxes due to pre-tax loss.

Net Income (Loss) (amounts in thousands unless otlidse noted):
Our 2014 net income was $4,410, compared to nsesosf $42,572 for 2013 and $35,431 for 2012.
Liquidity and Capital Resources (amounts in thousads unless otherwise noted):

We have to date funded operations principally tgfoproceeds received from private placements atyegacurities, public offerings
of common stock, collaborations, grants and cotgraoyalties, interest on investments, and progéexn the exercise of outstanding options
and warrants.

In 2014, we have received a $40,000 milestone payfmem Salix, for the approval of subcutaneousistel for non-cancer pain
patients, a $1,000 milestone payment from our Jeggpartner in the 1404 program and a $7,250 payumpen settlement of arbitration with
our former licensee for Relistor in Japan.

In 2013 and 2012, we received a $5,000 upfront gayrirom partnering of th€. difficile program and a $3,500 payment upon sa
our PRO 140 program, respectively. We are eligibleeceive future milestone and royalty paymentse 2013 receipt resulted in the reversal
in 2013 of deferred tax assets and liabilitiestdisthed in 2012 to reflect the net tax effectseshporary differences between the carrying
amounts of certain assets and liabilities for feiahreporting purposes and the amounts used éamire tax purposes.

At December 31, 2014, we held $119,302 in cashcastl equivalents, an increase of $53,442 from $658 December 31, 2013."
expect that this amount will be sufficient to fumgerations as currently anticipated beyond one. yeaddition, at December 31, 2013, our
investment in auction rate securities classifietbag-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Shesbtunted to $2,208, which were
redeemed at par in the fourth quarter of 2014.

If we do not realize sufficient royalty or othewemue from Relistor or other collaboration, licerssset sale, capital raising or other
financing transactions, we will have to reduceageir eliminate spending on certain programs, artdl@ other economic measures.
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Cash provided by operating activities was $13,@&014, due to the receipt of a $40,000 Salix shilre payment, partially offset |
expenditures on our research and development pregaad general and administrative costs. Cashinsggkrating activities for 2013 and
2012 was $36,107 and $34,644, respectively, deadess of expenditures on our research and develtmnograms and general and
administrative costs over cash received from collators and government grants. ek Factors

During the first quarter of 2014, we establishegll&0 million replacement shelf registration statetivehich we used for our February
2014 underwritten public offering of 8.75 milliohares of common stock at a public offering pricé4f60 per share, resulting in net proceed:
of approximately $37,459. We may utilize this sheljistration for the issuance of up to approxirya$@ 10,000 of additional common stock
and other securities, including up to $50,000 af@@mmon stock under an agreement with an invedthreatk providing for at-the-market
sales through the bank. In 2013, we completed demwritten public offering under our 2011 shelfistigation statement of 9.8 million shares
of common stock at a public offering price of $4pH share (including the underwriters' overallattraption), resulting in net proceeds of
approximately $40,078. In December 2012, we coradlatpublic offering of 12.7 million shares of conmstock for net proceeds of
approximately $23,348.

Sources of Cash (amounts in thousands unless othase noted)

Operating ActivitiesIn addition to the settlement payment received f@no mentioned above, during 2014 we received $487,7
under our collaborations, consisting of (i) $40,000estone payment from Salix for the chronic n@maer pain indication, (ii) $6,691 in
royalties and reimbursements from Salix, (i) £100n milestone payment and $37 in reimbursemeyneats relating to 1404 and (iv) $45
from out-licenses of other assets. During 2013eeeived $9,686 under our collaborations, consisiing $5,125 in upfront and
reimbursement payments from partnering ofGhelifficile program, (ii) $3,952 in royalties and reimbursemsdrim Salix, (iii) payments
totaling $224 from out-licenses of other assetd, @) $385 in reimbursement payments relating464L During 2012 we received $9,393
under collaborations, out-licenses and sale oftassensisting of (i) $404 in reimbursement paymmemtder the Salix License Agreement, (ii)
$5,461 in royalties from Salix, (iii) $3,500 frornet sale of our PRO 140 program and (iv) $28 undetteer out-license.

We have in the past partially funded research pmogrthrough awards from the NIH, which we do ngteet to receive in the
foreseeable future. For 2013 and 2012, we rece$28d and $576, respectively, of revenue from ablwfNIH awards.

Changes in Accounts receivable and Accounts payab®014, 2013 and 2012 resulted from the timihgeaeipts from Salix, Fuiji,
other partnering transactions, and, principallpiior periods, NIH and Ono, and the timing of paytsemade to trade vendors in the normal
course of business.

We have no committed external sources of fundingapital other than agreements under which colksoos and licensees have
contractual obligations to make payments to useOthan revenues from Relistor, we expect no diganit product revenues in the immediate
or near-term future, as it will take significar# to bring any of our current product candidabethé commercial marketing stage.

Investing Activities Approximately 95% of our $119,302 in cash and aaglivalents at December 31, 2014 was invested imesno
market funds.

Financing Activities.During 2014, net cash provided by financing aaggiincluded $37,459 in net proceeds from the issei@f
8,750 shares of common stock. In addition, duridg4? 2013 and 2012, we received cash of $428, 8@ 206, respectively, from exercise of
stock options and sales of common stock in satisiaof severance obligations (in 2012). The amairdash we receive from these sources
fluctuates commensurate with changes in the conmstak price on and after the grant date.

Unless we obtain regulatory approval for additigmalduct candidates and/or enter into agreemenksasiporate collaborators with
respect to other proprietary assets, we will baireg to fund our operations through sales of comstock or other securities or royalty or
other financing agreements. Adequate additionalitghmay not be available to us on acceptable temas all. Our inability to raise additior
capital on terms reasonably acceptable to us méayusty jeopardize the future success of our bissine

Uses of Cash (amounts in thousands unless otherwisated)

Operating ActivitiesThe majority of our cash has been used to advamceesearch and development programs, includingucting
pre-clinical studies and clinical trials, pursuirgulatory approvals for product candidates, filamgl prosecuting patent applications and
defending patent claims. Included in the 2012 pkpresented below is $2,073 of cash disbursemeotsred in connection with a former
senior executive first quarter retirement. For @asi reasons, including the early stage of certaouoprograms, the timing and results of our
clinical trials, our dependence in certain instanae third parties, many of which are outside af@ntrol, we cannot estimate the total
remaining costs to be incurred and timing to conepddl our research and development programs.
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Research and development costs incurred by proyestthe past three years were as follows:

2014 2013 2012
(in millions)
Oncology $ 272 $ 32¢ $ 28.€
Relistor and other programs 1.3 1.7 4.4
Total $ 28.€ $ 34.€ $ 33.C

We will require additional funding to continue aesearch and product development programs, compaderatlinical studies and
clinical trials, pursue regulatory approvals for puoduct candidates, file and prosecute patenicgiions and enforce or defend patent claims
if any, fund other operating expenses, and fundyebin-licensing and any possible acquisitions.

Investing Activities.During the past three years, we have spent $718%, &td $767, respectively, on capital expenditures.
Contractual Obligations

Our funding requirements, both for the next 12 rhergnd beyond, will include required payments ungerating leases and fixed
and contingent payments under licensing, collaimmaind other agreements. The following table surimaa our contractual obligations as of

December 31, 2014 for future payments under thgmements:

Payments due by Perioc

Less than Greater than
Total one year lto 3years 3tob5years 5 years
(in millions)

Operating leases $ 121 $ 16 $ 3¢ $ 41 $ 2.2

License, collaboration and other
agreements

Fixed payments 1.C 0.3 0.4 0.3 -

Contingent payment® 104.¢ - 2.3 16.¢ 85.4

Total $ 1177 $ 22 $ 6.6 $ 212 % 87.€

(1) Based on assumed achievement of milestones couadsEt each agreement, the timing and payment aflwikihighly uncertair

We periodically assess the scientific progressraadts of each of our programs to determine if cargd research and developmer
commercially and economically viable. Certain of ptograms have been terminated due to the laskiehtific progress and prospects for
ultimate commercialization. Because of the uncaties associated with research and developmehesetprograms, the duration and
completion costs of our research and developmeneqts are difficult to estimate and are subjeatdnsiderable variation. Our inability to
complete research and development projects ingytimanner or failure to enter into collaboratiggeements could significantly increase
capital requirements and adversely affect our digyi

Our cash requirements may vary materially from ¢hasw planned because of results of research aredogenent and product
testing, changes in existing relationships or nelationships with licensees, licensors or othelabalrators, changes in the focus and directior
of our research and development programs, comyetid technological advances, the cost of filprgsecuting, defending and enforcing
patent claims, the regulatory approval process,ufaaturing and marketing and other costs associatigdthe commercialization of products
following receipt of regulatory approvals and otFestors.

The above discussion contains forward-looking stet@s based on our current operating plan andsthengtions on which it relies.
There could be deviations from that plan that waddsume our assets earlier than planned.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Guarantees
We have no obligations under off-balance sheehgements and do not guarantee the obligationsyobtrer unconsolidated entity.
Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare our financial statements in conformii\eiccounting principles generally accepted inth8. Our significant accounting
policies are disclosed in Note 2 to our financtataments included in this Report. The selectiahapplication of these accounting principles
and methods requires us to make estimates and pgsumthat affect the reported amounts of asBetslities, revenues and expenses, as wel
as certain financial statement disclosures. Weuewalthese estimates on an ongoing basis. We lbase éstimates on historical experience
on various other assumptions that we believe redderunder the circumstances. The results of theskeiations form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assetsiahilities that are not otherwise readily apparsyihile we believe that the estimates :
assumptions we use in preparing the financial statds are appropriate, they are subject to a nuoflfactors and uncertainties regarding t
ultimate outcome and, therefore, actual resultsdcdififer from these estimates.

The critical accounting policies we use and therestes we make are described below. These ardgmhiad estimates that we beli
are the most important in portraying our financiahdition and results of operations, and that megoiir most difficult, subjective or complex
judgments, often as a result of the need to matkeates about the effect of matters that are inftgreincertain. We have discussed
development, selection and disclosure of thesiar@ccounting policies and estimates with the inGdmmittee of our Board of Directors.

Revenue RecognitionVe recognize revenue from all sources based oprthasions of the SEC's Staff Accounting Bullet8AB)
No. 104 (SAB 104) and ASC 605 Revenue Recogni

The FASB's ASC 605 Revenue Recognition specifieg toocseparate deliverables in multiple-deliveradol@ngements, and how to
measure and allocate arrangement considerationet@iomore units of accounting, and provides thatdelivered item(s) are separate units of
accounting, if (i) the delivered item(s) have valoa collaborator on a stand-alone basis, andf(te arrangement includes a general right of
return relative to the delivered item, deliveryperformance of the undelivered item(s) is considigm®bable and substantially in our control.

Royalty revenue is recognized based upon net shledated licensed products, and is recognizetiérperiod the sales (losses) oci
provided that the royalty amounts are fixed or dateable, collection of the related receivableeiasonably assured and we have no remainin
performance obligations under the arrangement giayifor the royalty. Royalty loss is recognizedéd upon reported sales deductions in
excess of gross sales resulting in net losses@ngeognized in the period net losses occur. Rpy@ds is classified in royalty income in the
consolidated statements of operations and thesrbbatcrued royalty loss liability is classifiedaacounts payable and accrued expenses in th
consolidated balance sheets.

Amounts not expected to be recognized within orae péthe balance sheet date are classified astemydeferred revenue. The
classification of deferred revenue as short-terfog-term is based upon the periods in which wgeekto perform our collaboration
arrangement obligations including non-reimbursabddnical assistance.

Share-Based Payment Arrangemen@ur share-based compensation of employees inchatesgjualified stock options and restricted
stock, which are compensatory under ASC 718 Congtiems— Stock Compensation. We account for shasedaompensation to non-
employees, including non-qualified stock optiond asstricted stock, in accordance with ASC 505 Bqui

The fair value of each non-qualified stock optieveed is estimated on the date of grant using telBE5choles option pricing model.
The model requires input assumptions with respe@) expected volatility of our common stock, whiis based upon the daily quoted market
prices on The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC over a peramglial to the expected term, (ii) the period ofetiover which employees, officers,
directors and non-employee consultants are expéatedld their options prior to exercise, (iii) eqted dividend yield (zero in our case due tc
never having paid dividends and not expecting fogeidends in the future), and (iv) risk-free irdest rates for periods within the expected
term of the options, which are based on the U.8a3ury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

Historical volatilities are based upon daily quotedrket prices of our common stock on The NASDAQcEtMarket LLC over a
period equal to the expected term of the relatedtgstruments. We rely only on historical voldyi since we believe it is generally viewec
providing the most reliable indication of futurelatility. In estimating expected future volatilitye assume it will be consistent with historical;
we calculate historical volatility using a simpkeeaage calculation; we use available historicahdat the length of the option's expected term,
and we consistently use a sufficient number ofgpaibservations. Since our stock options are ndettan a public market, we do not use
implied volatility.
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The expected term of options granted representgdtied of time that options granted are expeatduokbtoutstanding based upon
historical data related to exercise and post-teation cancellation activity. The expected termtotk options granted to our Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) and non-employee directors, constitamd officers are calculated separately fromkstqtions granted to other employees.

We apply a forfeiture rate to the number of unvésteards in each reporting period in order to estinthe number of awards that are
expected to vest. Estimated forfeiture rates asedbapon historical data on vesting behavior ofleyges. We adjust the total amount of
compensation cost recognized for each award, ipéhied in which each award vests, to reflect tttea forfeitures related to that award.
Changes in our estimated forfeiture rate will reButhanges in the rate at which compensationfoogtn award is recognized over its vesting
period.

Changes in the assumptions used to compute thedfaie of the option awards are likely to affedittair value and the amount of
compensation expense recognized in future periddisgher volatility, longer expected term and highiek-free rate increases the resulting
compensation expense recognized in future perisdermpared to prior periods. Conversely, a lowdatility, shorter expected term and lov
risk-free rate decreases such expense recognifatline periods as compared to prior periods.

For performance stock option awards to our CEO (deain 2012 and 2011 only), vesting occurs updrneaement of specified
performance-based milestones. The awards, which aaexercise price equal to the closing priceuofoommon stock on the date of grant,
are valued using the Black-Scholes option pricirgglel: the expense related to these grants is rezadjduring the period, if any, in which
each performance milestone is achieved.

Clinical Trial and Other Research and DevelopmentfiensesClinical trial expenses, which are included in sgsb and
development expenses, represent obligations negudttm contracts with various clinical investiget@nd clinical research organizations in
connection with conducting clinical trials for gmoduct candidates. Such costs are expensed asddcand are generally based on the total
number of patients in the trial, the rate at witof patients enter the trial and the period ovackthe clinical investigators and clinical
research organizations to provide services. Webelihat this method best aligns the efforts expéruh a clinical trial with the expenses we
record. We adjust our rate of clinical expense gedwn if actual results differ from our estimatés addition to clinical trial expenses, we
estimate the amounts of other research and develapaxpenses, for which invoices have not beernvedeat the end of a period, based upon
communication with third parties that have providgedvices or goods during the period. Such estsrate subject to change as additional
information becomes available.

Fair Value MeasurementsDuring the fourth quarter of 2014, all of the $&nflion (net of $0.2 million unrealized loss) awtirate
securities remaining at December 31, 2013 have tezkremed at par. Our available-for-sale investmerifolio consists of money market
funds and, prior to the fourth quarter redemptibpa, $2.4 million face amount of auction ratewsées (ARS), and is recorded at fair valu
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets or@aece with ASC 320 Investments — Debt and Edbégurities. The change in the fair
value of these investments is recorded as a conmpohether comprehensive income (loss). We exfzertcover the amortized cost of all of
our investments at maturity.

In—Process Research and Development and GoodWwiltonnection with the acquisition of Molecularigtst, we have established a
policy for accounting for intangible assets, umgbich in process research and development (IPR&ld)goodwill are initially measured at
fair value and capitalized as an intangible assdtaa impairment test for these intangibles isqraréd annually in the fourth quarter, unless
impairment indicators require an earlier evaluatidpon and subject to commercialization of theselmates, the IPR&D will be amortized
over the relevant estimated useful life.

Contingent Consideration LiabilityThe estimated fair value of the contingent consitien liability, initially measured and recorded
on the acquisition date, is considered to be a L&westrument and is reviewed quarterly, or whewesvents or circumstances occur that
indicate a change in fair value. The contingentsaeration liability is recorded at fair value hétend of each period.

Legal Proceedings-rom time to time, we may be a party to legal pedliegs in the course of our business. The outcdraaysuch
proceedings, regardless of the merits, is inhgremttertain. The assessment of whether a los®spie or reasonably possible, and whether
the loss or a range of loss is estimable, oftenlires a series of complex judgments about futuentsy The Company records accruals for
contingencies to the extent that the occurrentbetontingency is probable and the amount oflitgh$ reasonably estimable. If the
reasonable estimate of liability is within a rammf@mounts and some amount within the range appeds a better estimate than any other,
then the Company records that amount as an acdfuab. amount within the range is a reasonablienade, then the Company records the
lowest amount as an accrual. Loss contingencigstkaassessed as remote are not reported im#ngcfal statements, or in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

Our primary investment objective is to preservagpal. Our money market funds have interest rétaswere variable and totaled
$112.8 million at December 31, 2014. As a result,de not believe that these investment balances aawaterial exposure to intereate risk.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
See page F-Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountésion Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresdtetlesigned to ensure that information requindsetdisclosed in our Exchange
Act reports is recorded, processed, summarizedepatted within the timelines specified in the SE@les and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated torsanagement, including our CEO and Principal Firer@ificer (PFO), as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required discl@sun designing and evaluating the disclosure cbmaind procedures, management
recognized that any controls and procedures, ntemadw well designed and operated, can only pevidsonable assurance of achieving the
desired control objectives, and in reaching a nealsie level of assurance, management necessaslyegaired to apply its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of pogsitntrols and procedures. We have a Disclosuren@tte® consisting of members of our
senior management which monitors and implementgolicy of disclosing material information concergithe Company in accordance with
applicable law.

As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(e), we carried autaluation, under the supervision and with th¢igpation of our management,
including our CEO and PFO, of the effectivenesthefdesign and operation of our disclosure contants procedures as of the end of the
period covered by this report. Based on the foregadur CEO and PFO concluded that our currentatisce controls and procedures, as
designed and implemented, were effective at theoreable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There have been no changes in our internal cootel financial reporting, as such term is definethie Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f) during our fiscal quarter endegcBmber 31, 2014 that have materially affectedyereasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.
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Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Internal control over financial reporting is a pess designed by, or under the supervision of, & @nd PFO and effected by our
Board, management and other personnel to provaloreble assurance regarding the reliability @frfaial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princifgles management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internalrobotrer financial reporting which includes polisiand procedures that:

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in ressle detail accurately and fairly reflect the s@actions and dispositions of ass

Provide reasonable assurance that transactieme@rded as necessary to permit preparatiomafidial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #nad receipts and expenditures are being madeinmgcordance with
authorization of management and directors;

Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Management has used the framework set forth ingpert entitlednternal Control — Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comimis€013 framework), known as COSO, to evaluateetfiectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting. Management hascbaded that our internal control over financiglogting was effective as of December 31,
2014. The effectiveness of our internal controlrdirancial reporting has been audited by Ernst@uig LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as of December 31, 2014tated in their report which is provided below.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of ProgeRicarmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Im¢€gnial control over financial reporting as of Dexdter 31, 2014, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framédwssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiaf the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). ProgenicsrRizgeuticals, Inc.'s management is responsiblem&intaining effective internal control
over financial reporting, and for its assessmernhefeffectiveness of internal control over finaheceporting included in the accompanying
Management's Report on Internal Control Over FirerReporting. Our responsibility is to expressommion on the Company's internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinagutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezeessary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repagtis a process designed to provide reasonableasgsuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company's internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftaipeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsafdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could havaterial effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Incntaded, in all material respects, effective inédrwontrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheet of Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Iraf.Bscember 31, 2014 and 2013 and the relatedbtidaged statements of operation,

comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' eqaity, cash flows for each of the three years in g ended December 31, 2014 of
Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and our repordddeach 16, 2015 expressed an unqualified opirti@neton.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
March 16, 2015

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART Il

The information required by the Form 10-K Itemsdisin the following table will be included undéetrespective headings specified
for such Items in our definitive proxy statementdoir 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to bedilvith the SEC:

Item of Form 10-K Location in 2015 Proxy Statemen
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporée Election of Directors
Governance Executive and Other Officer

Corporate Governance.

Code of Business Ethics and Conduct.*

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting andn@lance.

* The full text of our code of business ethics anddewmt is available on our
website (www .progenics.con).

Item 11. Executive Compensation Executive Compensatic.
Compensation Committee Report.
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Bgudtion.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners Equity Compensation Plan Informatic
and Management and Related Stockholder MatterSecurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dahagemen.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.
and Director Independence Affirmative Determinations Regarding Director Inégwlence and Othe
Matters.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service Fees Billed for Services Rendered by our Indepeariegistered Publi

Accounting Firm.
Pre-approval of Audit and Nc-Audit Services by the Audit Committ
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
The following documents or the portions thereofi¢ated are filed as a part of this Annual Report.
(a) Documents filed as part of this Annual Rep
Consolidated Financial Statements of ProgenicsrRaeguticals, Inc.:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourféing
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2Gi2Gk8
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeragled December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomssjlfor the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@{I
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' EquityHeryears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeraled December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(b) Financial Statement Schedu
Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Financial statement schedules referred to in 1t8r01 of Regulation S-X and not listed above arpjtiaable and therefore have
been omitted.

(c) Item 601 Exhibit:
Exhibits required to be filed by Item 601 of Rediga S-K are listed in the Exhibit Index immedigtébllowing the signature
page of this Report and incorporated herein byreefee.
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PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing

Financial Statement
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2ll2G8
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeragded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive IncomssjLfor the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@it2
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equitytferyears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeailed December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of ProgenicarfPlaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Be@démber 31, 2014 and 2013 and the
related consolidated statements of operations, celmepsive income (loss), stockholders' equity, cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2014. Our auditsimtbeded the financial statement schedule listethé Index at Item 15(b). These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibilityeo€ompany’'s management. Our responsibility ixpoess an opinion on these financial
statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Progenics
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2014 and @0d3he consolidated results of its operationsisnchsh flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2014, in confgrmith U.S. generally accepted accounting princdpklso, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when considerediatioa to the basic financial statements takenabale, presents fairly in all material
respects information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), Progenics
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'s internal control over firiahreporting as of December 31, 2014, based iberier established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpng Organizations of the Treadway Commissi@i&framework) and our report
dated March 16, 2015 expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Hartford, Connecticut
March 16, 2015
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PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(amounts in thousands, except for par value and shaamounts)

December 31

2014 2013
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 119,30: $ 65,86(
Accounts receivable, n 10¢ 2,87¢
Other current assets 2,51¢ 1,94:
Total current asse 121,92t 70,68:
Auction rate securitie - 2,20¢
Fixed assets, at cost, net of accumulated depi@tiabhd amortizatio 2,55 2,41z
Intangible assets, net (Note 28,70( 31,37¢
Goodwill 7,702 7,702
Other assets 157 157
Total assets $ 161,03 $ 114,54;
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expet $ 6,57C $ 6,51
Other current liabilities 11¢ 11¢
Total current liabilities 6,68¢ 6,627
Contingent consideration liabilit 17,20( 15,70(
Deferred tax liability- long term 11,33 12,32:
Other liabilities 911 914
Total liabilities 36,12¢ 35,56:
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $.001 par value; 20,000,000 start®rized; issued and outstand- none - -
Common stock, $.0013 par value; shares authoriz&®,000,000 in 2014 and 2013; issued —

69,832,949 in 2014 and 61,025,404 in 2 91 79
Additional paic-in capital 589,82¢ 548,51(
Accumulated defici (462,26 (466,67
Accumulated other comprehensive I - (192
Treasury stock, at cost (200,000 shares in 201£2848) (2,747 (2,747

Total stockholders' equity 124,90¢ 78,97¢
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 161,03 $ 114,54:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thénancial statements.
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PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(amounts in thousands, except net income (loss) pghare)

Revenues
Collaboration revenu
Royalty income
Research gran
Other revenues

Total revenues

Expenses
Research and developmt
License fee—research and developme
Royalty expens
General and administrati
Depreciation and amortizatic
Intangible impariment charg:
Change in contingent consideration liability

Total expenses
Other operating income
Operating income (los
Other income

Interest income
Total other income

Net income (loss) before income tax ben
Income tax benefit
Net income (loss

Net income (loss) per she- basic
Weighted-average shares - basic

Net income (loss) per she- diluted
Weighted-average shares - diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thénancial statements.

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
$ 41,19 $ 1,59t 8,52t
3,101 5,92: 4,96
: : 48¢
80 69 72
44,37 7.86. 14,04¢
27,73 33,39 31,33:
49¢ 567 1,17¢
357 624 49¢
14,94¢ 14,60: 15,21+
54t 93¢ 1,32¢
2,67¢ 91¢ -
1,50( (200) -
48,25 50,84 49 53¢
7,25( - -
3,37( (42,980) (35,497
51 46 60
51 46 60
3,421 (42,931 (35,437)
98¢ 362 :
$ 4410 $ (42,577 (35,437)
$ 0.06 $ (0.76) (1.02)
68,18: 55,79¢ 34,75¢
$ 0.06 $ (0.76) (1.02)
68,24: 55,79¢ 34,75¢
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PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
(amounts in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Net income (loss $ 4,41C $ (42,57) $ (35,43)
Other comprehensive incorr
Net change in unrealized loss on auction rate gexsur 192 68 8
Total other comprehensive income 192 68 8
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 4,60 $ (42,50 $ (35,429

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thénancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 201

Balance at December 31, 201

Net loss

Other comprehensive income

Compensation expenses for share-ba
payment arrangemer

Sale of common stock in public offerin
net of underwriting discounts and
commissions ($1,518) and offering
expenses ($43:

Forfeitures of restricted stot

Sale of common stock under stock
incentive plan and exercise of stock
options

Balance at December 31, 201

Net loss

Other comprehensive income

Compensation expenses for share-bas
payment arrangemer

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of issuan
costs

Sale of common stock in public offerir
net of underwriting discounts and
commissions ($2,581) and offering
expenses ($35:

Forfeitures of restricted stot

Exercise of stock options

Balance at December 31, 201

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Compensation expenses for share-bas
payment arrangemer

Sale of common stock in public offerir
net of underwriting discounts and
commissions ($2,415) and offering
expenses ($37¢

Acquisition of subsidiary escrow share
returned

Exercise of stock options

Balance at December 31, 201

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thénancial statements.

PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

(amounts in thousands)

Accumulated

Common Stocl Additional  Accumulatec Other Treasury Stocl
Paid-In Comprehensiy
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Income (Loss Shares Amount Total

34,04¢ 44 463,441 (388,679 (26¢) (200 (2,74 71,80
- - - (35,43:) - - - (35.43)

- - - - 8 - - 8

- - 6,53¢ - - - - 6,53¢
12,65( 17 23,33 - - - - 23,34¢
(6) - - - - - - -

75 - 30€ - - - - 30¢€
46,76¢ 61 493,61: (424,109 (260) (200 (2,749 66,56¢
- - - (42,577) - - - (42,579)

- - - - 6€ - - 68

- - 3,54¢ - - - - 3,54¢
4,472 6 11,21« - - - - 11,22(
9,77¢ 12 40,06¢ - - - - 40,07¢
(1) - - - - - - -

14 - 71 - - - - 71
61,02¢ 79 548,51( (466,67") (192) (200 (2,74 78,97¢
- - - 4,41( - - - 4,41(

- - - - 192 - - 19z

- - 3,62: - - - - 3,62
8,75( 12 37,44" - - - - 37,45¢
19 - (82) - - - - (82

77 - 42€ - - - - 42€
69,83: 91 589,82 (462,26 - (200) (2,74)) 124,90¢
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PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(amounts in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net (loss) incom $ 441C $ (42,57) $ (35,43))
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rmeshcprovided by (used in)
operating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 54t 93¢ 1,324
(Gains) losses on sales of fixed as: (110 204 (327)
Intangible impairment charg 2,67¢ 91¢ -
Deferred income ta (989 (362) -
Change in contingent consideration liabi 1,50C (200 -
Expenses for she-based compensation awa 3,52 3,54¢ 6,53¢
Acquisition of subsidiary escrow shares retur (82 - -
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Decrease (increase) in accounts receiv 2,77(C 4,11¢ (5,42))
(Increase) decrease in other current as (572 33€ (754
Decrease (increase) in deferred tax and others - 2,04 (2,009
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and acexpedse 58 (1,956 (697)
(Decrease) increase in deferred reve- current - (88€) 634
(Decrease) increase in deferred tax and other muradbilities - (2,069 2,06¢
(Decrease) in deferred rever- long term - - (162)
(Decrease) in other liabilities (3) (169 (419
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 13,72¢ (36,107 (34,649
Cash flows from investing activitie
Cash acquired in acquisition of subsidi - 1,88¢ -
Capital expenditure (714 (137) (767)
Proceeds from sales of fixed ass 14z 174 39C
Proceeds from redemption of auction rate securities 2,40( 1,10( 10C
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,82¢ 3,02¢ (277)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Equity issuance costs in connection with acquisibbsubsidiary - (45) -
Proceeds from public offering of common stock, efatnderwriting discounts
and commissions and offering expen 37,45¢ 40,07¢ 23,34¢
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options arelafatdommon stock under the
employee stock purchase plans 42¢ 71 30€
Net cash provided by financing activities 37,88: 40,10¢ 23,65¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 53,44: 7,027 (12,267
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 65,86( 58,83¢ 70,10t
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 119,30 $ 65,86( $ 58,83¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Contingent consideration liability $ $15,70!
Stock acquisition consideration $ $11,26!

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thénancial statements.
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PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC .

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(amounts in thousands, except per share amouass atherwise noted)
1. Organization and Business

Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Progenics," "aré'us") develops innovative medicines for oncolo@wr clinical development
efforts center on late-stage oncology assets. Weamnducting phase 2 clinical trial of our therajecandidate for prostate cancer, PSMA
ADC, a fully human monoclonal antibody-drug conjtegéADC), and have recently completed a phaseaPdfi1404 (trofolastat), an imaging
agent candidate also for prostate cancer. We resanpé/otal phase 2 clinical trial of Azedra™, alira-orphan radiotherapy candidate for
pheochromocytoma.

We have licensed our first commercial drug, Reti8tgnethylnaltrexone bromide) subcutaneous injectrtie treatment of opioid
induced constipation (OIC), to Salix Pharmaceusichic., which in September 2014 received an exgaduagproval from the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration for the treatment of OIC in jgauts taking opioids for chronic non-cancer paire léve partnered other internally-
developed or acquired compounds and technologistiird parties. We continue to consider oppottasifor strategic collaborations, out-
licenses and other arrangements with biopharmaz@wdmpanies involving proprietary research, dewlent and clinical programs, and may
in the future also in-license or acquire additiomatology compounds and/or programs.

Our current principal sources of revenue from op@na are royalty, commercialization milestone agnenue-sharing payments from
Salix's Relistor operations. Royalty and milestpagments from Relistor depend on success in deraopand commercialization, which is
dependent on many factors, such as Salix's effbetssions by the FDA and other regulatory bodiesppetition from drugs for the same or
similar indications, and the outcome of clinicatlather testing of Relistor.

We fund our operations to a significant extent frompital-raising. During 2014, we raised $37.5imnillin an underwritten public
offering of 8.75 million shares of common stoclagiublic offering price of $4.60 per share, anckegd into an agreement with an investment
bank under which we may sell from time to time oi$50 million of our stock. During 2013, we complgian underwritten public offering of
9.8 million shares of common stock at a public wffg price of $4.40 per share, resulting in netcpexls of approximately $40.1 million.

Progenics commenced principal operations in 1988aime publicly traded in 1997 and throughout has lemgaged primarily in
research and development efforts, establishingatatp collaborations and related activities. Cartdiour intellectual property rights are held
by wholly owned subsidiaries. All of our operatiare conducted at our facilities in Tarrytown, Ngark. We operate under a single research
and development segment.

Funding and Financial Matters.At December 31, 2014, we held $119.3 million infcaad cash equivalents, an increase of $53.4
million from $65.9 million at December 31, 2013. \&epect that this amount will be sufficient to fumgerations as currently anticipated
beyond one year. We expect to require additionadifug in the future, the availability of which isver guaranteed and may be uncertain. We
expect that we may continue to incur operatingdsser the foreseeable future.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have bequaped on the basis of accounting principles gelyeaatepted in the U.S. (GAAP).
The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith GAAP requires management to make estimatesassumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements aadttompanying notes. On an ongoing basis, the @oyngvaluates its estimates, including
but not limited to those related to collectabilitireceivables, intangible assets and contingengigsadditional information becomes available
or actual amounts become determinable, the recastatiates are revised and reflected in the opgragisults. Actual results could differ frc
those estimates. Certain amounts have been rdigddsi prior periods' financial statements to ani to the current year presentation. This
includes the reclassification of (i) certain expenfor share-based compensation from researcheagdogpment to general and administrative
expenses, (ii) certain non-cash items from gersrdladministrative expenses to intangible impaitnecbarges and change in contingent
consideration liability, and (iii) certain expendesm royalty expense to license feesesearch and development, which reclassificati@usrio
effect on total expenses as previously reported.
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PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC .

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued
(amounts in thousands, except per share amouass atherwise noted)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include te®ants of Progenics and PSMA LLC, as of and fenytears ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012 and Molecular Insight from aana8, 2013, the date we acquired this subsidlatgr-company transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from all sources based oprthasions of the SEC's Staff Accounting BulletB8AB) No. 104 (SAB 104) and
ASC 605 Revenue Recognition. Under ASC 605, dadivétems are separate units of accounting, provigdéde delivered items have value to
a collaborator on a stand-alone basis, and (ifjgfarrangement includes a general right of retelative to the delivered item, delivery or
performance of the undelivered items is considerettable and substantially in our control. A sefmtgpdate to ASC 605 provides guidance
on the criteria that should be met when determimihgther the milestone method of revenue recognis@ppropriate.

If we are involved in a steering or other commithsepart of a multiple-deliverable arrangementassess whether our involvement
constitutes a performance obligation or a righpddicipate. For those committees that are deerbkgladions, we will evaluate our
participation along with other obligations in threaaagement and will attribute revenue to our pagoéton through the period of our committee
responsibilities. We recognize revenue for paym#rasare contingent upon performance solely bycollaborator immediately upon the
achievement of the defined event if we have ndedlperformance obligations. Reimbursement of destscognized as revenue provided the
provisions of ASC 605 are met, the amounts arerai@t@ble and collection of the related receivablesasonably assured.

Amounts received prior to satisfying the above nexerecognition criteria are recorded as deferegdriue. Amounts not expected to
be recognized within one year of the balance stigtet are classified as long-term. The estimatbetlassification of deferred revenue as
short- or long-term is based upon the period inclvlwve expect to perform joint committee services.

Royalty revenue is recognized in the period thessatcur, provided the royalty amounts are fixedeterminable, collection of the
related receivable is reasonably assured and we tavemaining performance obligations under th@ngiement providing for the royalty.
Royalty loss is recognized based upon reported slductions in excess of gross sales resultingtisales (losses) and is recognized in the
period net sales (losses) occur. Royalty lossaissified in royalty income in the consolidatedestants of operations and the related accrued
royalty loss liability is classified in accountsyadle and accrued expenses in the consolidateddstheets.

During the past three years, we also recognizeeihtey from sales of research reagents and during @&@d 2012, from government
research grants, awarded to us by the Nationatutes of Health (NIH), which we used in proprigtaesearch programs. NIH grant revenue ic
recognized as efforts are expended and as relabgdam costs are incurred. We performed work uttteNIH grants on a best-effort basis.

During 2014, we have recognized as third quartezmae a $40.0 million milestone receivable from>Sapon U.S. marketing
approval for subcutaneous Relistor in non-cancer patients in September (paid pursuant to thex$iaknse in October) and a $1.0 million
milestone payment from FUJIFILM RI Pharma in thstfiquarter of 2014.

During the third quarter of 2014, Salix enterediah agreement with Lupin Limited for distributiohRelistor in Canada. We have
not recognized any revenue in 2014, since terntiseoBalix and Progenics negotiations were not fexed determinable as of the end of the
year.

Under our 2013 license of certain research, devedoyt and commercialization rights to Onalta™, weeineed a $0.2 million in
upfront payment and are eligible for future milest@nd royalty payments. In consideration for thigant payment, we have delivered rele\
know-how (including patent rights), inventory armhrreimbursable services.

In the fourth quarter of 2012, we out-licensed Gur difficile program to Medimmune, LLC for a $5.0 million upftggayment, and
the right to receive potential future milestone amyhlty payments. In consideration for the upfrpayment, we have delivered relevant know-
how (including patent rights) and non-reimbursaaevices.
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PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC .

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued
(amounts in thousands, except per share amouass atherwise noted)

Under our 2012 agreement with CytoDyn Inc. for BRO 140 program, we received $3.5 million paymeutare eligible for future
milestone and royalty payments. In consideratiartie upfront payment, we have delivered relevamtihow (including patent rights),
inventory and non-reimbursable services.

Under our license agreement, Salix is responsdléufther developing and commercializing Relist@ridwide. In consideration of
the $60.0 million upfront payment from Salix, wevharanted Salix an exclusive license of relevamovkhow, patent rights and technology,
assigned relevant third-party contracts, and seovejdint committees provided for in the Licenserégment through end of 2013.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses include costsliyiattributable to the conduct of research aektbpment programs, including
the cost of salaries, payroll taxes, employee hisnefaterials, supplies, maintenance of reseagoipeent, costs related to research
collaboration and licensing agreements, the puebé-process research and development, theo€sstrvices provided by outside
contractors, including services related to ouricéhtrials, the full cost of manufacturing drug fgse in research, pre-clinical development and
clinical trials. All costs associated with reseaatiul development are expensed as incurred.

At each period end, we evaluate the accrued expgmalaace related to these activities based upamrirdtion received from the
suppliers and estimated progress towards complefitine research or development objectives to enthat the balance is reasonably stated.
Such estimates are subject to change as addiiitfoaiation becomes available.

Use of Estimates

Significant estimates include useful lives of fixagkets, the periods over which certain revenugegpenses will be recognized,
including collaboration revenue recognized from-nefundable up-front licensing payments and expeesegnition of certain clinical trial
costs which are included in research and developmgrenses, the amount of non-cash compensatids redated to share-based payments tc
employees and non-employees and the periods ovehwhose costs are expensed, the likelihood dizagan of deferred tax assets and the
assumptions used in the valuations of in-processareh and development and contingent consideriiaifity.

Patents

As a result of research and development effortslacted by us, we have applied, or are applyingafoumber of patents to protect
proprietary inventions. All costs associated witliemts are expensed as incurred.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

We prepare earnings per share (EPS) data in acozedeith ASC 260 Earnings Per Share. Basic nesYliosome per share amounts
have been computed by dividing net income (lossheyweighted-average number of common sharesamdiisty during the period. For 2014,
we reported net income, and the computation otetilearnings per share is based upon the weigherdge number of our common shares
and dilutive effect, determined using the treastiogk method, of potential common shares outstanidicluding amounts of unrecognized
compensation expense. In periods where sharesissiied upon the assumed conversion of the comiirmgasideration liability have an anti-
dilutive effect on the calculation of diluted eargs per share, these shares are excluded fronalitwdation. For 2013 and 2012, we reported
net losses and, therefore, potential common shanesiints of unrecognized compensation expense enufall tax benefits have been
excluded from diluted net loss per share since tinayld be anti-dilutive. As of December 31, 2018,shares of unvested restricted stock
outstanding have non-forfeitable rights to dividgnall such shares were vested at the end of Deze®dh 2013. The allocation of 2013 and
2012 net losses to these participating securitiesyant to the two-class method is not materialdtitn basic and diluted earnings per share.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subjectd@nics to concentrations of risk consist principall cash, cash equivalents, auctior
rate securities and receivables. We invest ourssxcash in money market funds. We have establigphieelines that relate to credit quality,
diversification and maturity and that limit exposuo any one issue of securities. We hold no aidtfor these financial instruments.
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PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC .

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued
(amounts in thousands, except per share amounts as otherwise noted)
Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments which bawmaturities of three months or less, when acquteelde cash equivalents. The
carrying amount reported in the balance sheetdsh @and cash equivalents approximates its faiev&ash and cash equivalents subject us tc
concentrations of credit risk. At December 31, 28hd 2013, we have invested approximately $112z8@8$60,364, respectively, in cash
equivalents in the form of money market funds witle major investment company and held approxim&@94 and $5,496, respectively, in
two commercial banks.

Accounts Receivable

We estimate the level of accounts receivable whltimately will be uncollectable based on a revigvgpecific receivable balances,
industry experience and the current economic enwient. We reserve for affected accounts receivablalowance for doubtful accounts,
which at December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $10 anceS$jgectively.

Auction Rate Securities

In accordance with ASC 320 Investments — Debt aiiti Securities, investments are classified adave-for-sale. Available-for-
sale securities are carried at fair value, withtheealized gains and losses reported in compralemeome (loss)\. The amortized cost of ¢
securities is adjusted for amortization of premiwand accretion of discounts to maturity. Such aipatibn is included in interest income or
expense. Realized gains and losses and declivaduie judged to be other-than-temporary, if anyaeailable-for-sale securities are included
in other income or expense. In computing realiz@édgand losses, we compute the cost of its inva#isron a specific identification basis.
Such cost includes the direct costs to acquireséoarities, adjusted for the amortization of arscdunt or premium. The fair value of auction
rate securities has been estimated based on aléwedénierarchy for fair value measurements. kegeand dividends on securities classified as
available-for-sale are included in interest incdisee Note 3).

During the fourth quarter of 2014, all of the $B20uction rate securities remaining at DecembeRB13 have been redeemed at par
At December 31, 2013, our investment in auctioa s&curities (recorded as long-term assets in tms@idated Balance Sheets) amounted to
$2,208. Valuation of securities is subject to utaiaties that are difficult to predict, such asmies to credit ratings of the securities and/or th
underlying assets supporting them, default ratptiGable to the underlying assets, underlying delia value, discount rates, counterparty risk
ongoing strength and quality of market credit @qditlity and general economic and market conditiditee valuation of the auction rate
securities we held was based on an internal arsabfgiming of expected future successful aucti@adiateralization of underlying assets of the
security and credit quality of the security. Dudfte settlement of auction rate securities atpainé fourth quarter of 2014, the temporary
impairment amount decreased $192.

In-Process Research and Development and Goodwill

The fair values of in-process research and devetopifiPR&D) acquired in business combinations angitalized. The Company
utilizes the "income method," which applies a plulity weighting that considers the risk of devetognt and commercialization to the
estimated future net cash flows that are derivedhfprojected sales revenues and estimated costseTimojections are based on factors su
relevant market size, patent protection, histonzading of similar products and expected industends. The estimated future net cash flows
are then discounted to the present value usingaropriate discount rate. This analysis is perfatiite each IPR&D project independently.
These assets are treated as indefinite-lived iftingssets until completion or abandonment ofpttogects, at which time the assets are
amortized over the remaining useful life or writtifi as appropriate. IPR&D intangible assets wtdoh determined to have a decline in their
fair value are adjusted downward and an impairrtes® is recognized in the Consolidated Statemdr@perations. These are tested at least
annually or when a triggering event occurs thatd¢dicate a potential impairment.

Goodwill represents excess consideration in a lgsicombination over the fair value of identifiabé assets acquired. Goodwill is
not amortized, but is subject to impairment tesahfpast annually or when a triggering event ogtliat could indicate a potential impairment.
The Company determines whether goodwill may be iredaby comparing the fair value of the reportingtithe Company has determined
that it has only one reporting unit for this purppwhich includes Molecular Insight), calculatedtsss product of shares outstanding and the
share price as of the end of a period, to its aagryalue (for this purpose, the Company's totatlgholders' equity). No goodwill impairment
has been recognized as of December 31, 2014 aryd 201
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued
(amounts in thousands, except per share amouass atherwise noted)

In connection with the 2013 acquisition of Molegulasight, in process research and developmengandwill were initially
measured at the acquisition date at estimateddie and capitalized as an intangible asset,|bsv®

(i) 1404, an imaging agent in phase 2 developnaran estimated fair value of $23.2 million resigtfrom a probability adjusted
discounted cash flow model which includes estimatesgnificant cash inflows beginning in 2017 and8% discount rate;

(i) Azedra, a small molecule candidate for thetneent of pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma isgBha development, and for
neuroblastoma in phase 2a development, at an estrfer value of $4.9 million resulting from a jpability adjusted discounted cash flow
model which includes estimates of significant ciflows beginning in 2017 and a 15% discount rate;

(iii) small molecule candidate MIP-1095, in predtal development for the treatment of prostate egrat an estimated fair value of
$2.7 million resulting from a probability adjustdiscounted cash flow model which includes estimafesgnificant cash inflows beginning in
2021 and a 20% discount rate; and

(iv) Onalta, a drug candidate in phase 2 developruerihe treatment of metastatic carcinoid andcpaatic neuroendocrine tumors, at
an estimated fair value of $1.5 million resultimgri a probability adjusted discounted cash flow ela¢hich includes estimates of significant
cash inflows beginning in 2014 and a 15% discoatd.r

A third quarter 2014 review of our Onalta intangikisset resulted in a $560 impairment of the indeflived balance and a $16
impairment of the finite-lived balance, with ther@sponding impairment charges recorded in the @imtsded Statements of Operations.

The following table summarizes the activity relatedhe finite-lived intangible asset:

Finite-lived
intangible
assets

Balance at January 1, 20 $ -
Reclassification from indefinite lived
IPR&D 21
Amortization expense (2
Balance at December 31, 20 19
Amortization expens 3
Impairment (16)
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ -

The following table reflects, prior to the thirdater write-off, the components of the finite livieiangible assets as of December 31,

2013:
Gross Accumulated  Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Value
Finite lived intangible assets $ 21 $ 2$ 19
Total $ 21 $ 29 19

The weighted-average remaining life of the finiteetl intangible assets was approximately five yaaiBecember 31, 2013.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued
(amounts in thousands, except per share amouass atherwise noted)

Amortization expense was calculated on a straigletthasis over the estimated useful life of thetgsmortization expense for the
year ended December 31, 2014 was $3 and the gdesimdJanuary 18, 2013 to December 31, 2013 wa

The following table summarizes the activity relatedhe Company's goodwill and indefinite lived BIR

Goodwill IPR&D
Balance at January 1, 20 $ - $ =
Increase related to MIP acquisiti 7,70z 32,30(
Reclassification to finite lived IPR&I - (22)
Impairment - (919)
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 7,70 $ 31,36(
Impairment - (2,660
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 7,702 $ 28,70(

Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with ASC 820 Fair Value MeasuremantsDisclosures, we use a three-level hierarchjeiovalue measurements of
certain assets and liabilities for financial repartpurposes that distinguishes between markeicgenht assumptions developed from market
data obtained from outside sources (observabldgshpnd our own assumptions about market partitipgssumptions developed from the best
information available to us in the circumstancasfiservable inputs). We assign hierarchy levelss®ets constituting our available-for-sale
portfolio and to our contingent consideration lldpiarising from the MIP acquisition based on assessment of the transparency and
reliability of the inputs used in the valuation. 83820 defines the three hierarchy levels as:

Level 1- Valuations based on unadjusted quoted market piricastive markets for identical securiti

Level 2 - Valuations based on observable inputsratian Level 1 prices, such as quoted pricesifitiies assets at the measurement
date, quoted prices in markets that are not activeher inputs that are observable, either diyemtlindirectly.

Level 3 - Valuations based on unobservable s\fhdt are significant to the overall fair valueamerement, which as noted above
involve management judgmel

Recurring Fair Value Measuremer

We believe the carrying amounts of the Companysh egjuivalents, accounts receivable, other cuassets, other assets (restricted
cash providing collateral for a letter of creditseng lease obligations) and accounts payableaandied expenses approximated their fair
values as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 and dieitcshort-term nature are considered Level Tumsénts.

The fair value of the contingent considerationiligh consisting of future potential milestone pagnts related to the MIP acquisition
was $17.2 million as of December 31, 2014, $15/Hanias of December 31, 2013 and $15.9 milliodasuary 18, 2013, the acquisition date.
The fair value of the contingent considerationiligbis categorized as a Level 3 instrument, apliiyed in Note 3. The Company records the
contingent consideration liability at fair valuetivchanges in estimated fair values recorded irfCitresolidated Statements of Operations.
During 2014, we reassessed the fair value of tdéiregent consideration and recorded a $1.5 millimnease primarily due to higher
probability of success for 1404, partially offsgtdodecrease due to lower projected revenues fB-MI95. As of December 31, 2013, we
reassessed the fair value of the contingent coratide and recorded a $0.2 million decrease, dantimcrease in the discount period. The
December 31, 2014 contingent consideration of $fiilBn results from probability adjusted discoedtcash flows and Monte Carlo
simulation models which include estimates of siigaifit milestone payments to former MIP stockholderder the acquisition agreement
ranging from 2018 to 2026 and risk adjusted distoates of 10% and 3.5% for the milestone-basedhahdales targets, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued
(amounts in thousands, except per share amouass atherwise noted)

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measuremer

The Company's non-financial assets, such as irilngssets and property and equipment, are meaandeckcorded at fair value on
the acquisition date, and if indicators of impainexist, we assess recoverability by measuringitheunt of any impairment by comparing
the carrying value of the asset to its then-curestimated fair value (for intangible assets) amerket prices for similar assets (for property
and equipment). If the carrying value is not recabe we record an impairment charge in the Codatdd Statements of Operations. The
company reassessed the value of the indefinitd livngible assets and recorded a non-cash ctaegenings of $2,676 and $919 in 2014
and 2013, respectively. These impairments weregbgt of changes in the Level 3 assumptions dswist the timing of beginning cash
inflows from 2021 to 2024 and a decrease in distoabe from 20% to 13.5% for the MIP-1095 intangibkset, in addition to the third quarter
2014 and fourth quarter 2013 impairments of thel@nadefinite-lived and finite-lived intangible sets, resulting from decreased probabilities
of success. An increase in the current discourtob0.135% or decrease in the probability of sasad 0.194% would result in an impairment
of the remaining book value of the MIP-1095 intdodgiasset. In connection with the second quart&B 2Bnendment of the Company's
Tarrytown lease, we recognized impairment lossék3df on leasehold improvements and machinery quipeent removed from service,
which are included in Research and developmentresgsein our accompanying Consolidated Statemer@dpefations for the year ended
December 31, 2013. No impairments occurred folyda ended December 31, 2012.

Other current assets are comprised of prepaid eggemterest and other receivables of $2,515 arg#i8 at December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively, which are expected to be skttithin one year. Restricted cash, included ireptssets, of $157 at December 31, 2014 ar
2013 consists of collateral for a letter of cresdituring lease obligations. We believe the carryaige of these assets approximates fair value
and are considered Level 1 assets.

Fixed Assets

Leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures, agdipment are stated at cost. Furniture, fixtares equipment are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over their estimated uséfekl Leasehold improvements are amortized oraggbtrline basis over the life of the lease or
of the improvement, whichever is shorter. Costsasfstruction of long-lived assets are capitalizetldse not depreciated until the assets are
placed in service.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs whichatonmaterially extend the useful lives of the assetscharged to expense as
incurred. The cost and accumulated depreciatiasséts retired or sold are removed from the reispemtcounts and any gain or loss is
recognized in operations. The estimated usefus lofefixed assets are as follows:

Computer equipmet 3 years

Machinery and

equipmen 5-7 years

Furniture and fixture 5 years

Leasehold Earlier of life of improvement or
improvements lease
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Deferred Lease Liability and Incentive

Our lease agreements include fixed escalationsmfitam annual lease payments and we recognizelrexpanse on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms and record the differbatween rent expense and current rental payrasmsferred lease liability. Deferred lease
incentive includes a construction allowance fromlaadlord which is amortized as a reduction tadakaxpense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. As of December 31, 2014 and 20&3Cbnsolidated Balance Sheets include the follgwin

2014 2013
Other current liabilities
Deferred lease incentive $ 115 $ 11E
Total other current liabilities $ 115 $ 11E
Other liabilities:
Deferred lease liabilit $ 33€ $ 224
Deferred lease incentive 57¢E 69C
Total other liabilities $ 911 $ 914

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance withptogisions of ASC 740 Income Taxes, which requiheg we recognize deferred
tax liabilities and assets for the expected futaxeconsequences of events that have been incladbd financial statements or tax returns.
Under this method, deferred tax assets and liedsilare determined on the basis of the differeeteden the tax basis of assets and liabilities
and their respective financial reporting amourgsnftorary differences) at enacted tax rates in efée¢he years in which the temporary
differences are expected to reverse. A valuatimwaince is established for deferred tax assetw/ffiich realization is uncertain.

In accordance with ASC 718 Compensation — Stock fizorsation and ASC 505 Equity, we have made a pdicysion related to
intra-period tax allocation, to account for utilimm of windfall tax benefits based on provisionghe tax law that identify the sequence in
which amounts of tax benefits are used for tax psep (.e ., tax law ordering).

Uncertain tax positions are accounted for in acance with ASC 740 Income Taxes, which prescribesnaprehensive model for the
manner in which a company should recognize, meapuesent and disclose in its financial statemalht®aterial uncertain tax positions that
we have taken or expect to take on a tax returtC &0 applies to income taxes and is not intenddxtapplied by analogy to other taxes,
such as sales taxes, value-add taxes, or properyg.t\We review our nexus in various tax jurisditsiand our tax positions related to all open
tax years for events that could change the stdtagaroASC 740 liability, if any, or require an atidnal liability to be recorded. Such events
may be the resolution of issues raised by a taainbority, expiration of the statute of limitatioftg a prior open tax year or new transactions
for which a tax position may be deemed to be uagerfhose positions, for which management's assas#sis that there is more than a 50
percent probability of sustaining the position upbiallenge by a taxing authority based upon iteri@al merits, are subjected to the
measurement criteria of ASC 740. We record theslstrgmount of tax benefit that is greater thanéi@ent likely of being realized upon
ultimate settlement with a taxing authority havfalf knowledge of all relevant information. Any ASEIO0 liabilities for which we expect to
make cash payments within the next twelve montagkassified as "short term.” In the event thatteeclude that we are subject to interest
and/or penalties arising from uncertain tax posgijove will record interest and penalties as a amapt of income taxes (see Note 12).
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Risks and Uncertainties

We have to date relied principally on external fumgd collaborations with Salix, Fuji and othersf-itensing and asset sale
arrangements, royalty and product revenue to fieang operations. There can be no assurance thadsearch and development will be
successfully completed, that any products develoykabtain necessary marketing approval by retpriaauthorities or that any approved
products will be commercially viable. In additiome operate in an environment of rapid change ihrtelogy, and we are dependent upon
satisfactory relationships with our partners areldbntinued services of our current employees,dtargs and subcontractors. We are also
dependent upon Salix and Fuji fulfilling their méacturing obligations, either on their own or thgbuthirdparty suppliers. For 2014, 2013 :
2012, the primary sources of our revenues were 3aho, Fuji, asset out-licensing and dispositamy research grant revenues from the NIH
(2013 and 2012). There can be no assurance treriues from asset olitensing and disposition, Salix and Fuji will conte. Substantially a
of our accounts receivable at December 31, 2012648 were from the above-named sources.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) represents the changet iassets of a business enterprise during adofedm transactions and other
events and circumstances from non-owner sourcasc@uoprehensive income (loss) includes net incdoss) adjusted for the change in net
unrealized gain or loss on auction rate securifieg. disclosures required by ASC 220 Comprehersiseme for 2014, 2013 and 2012 have
been included in the Consolidated Statements offZenensive Income (Loss). There was no incomexpgrese/benefit allocated to any
component of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)Nsde 12).

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be a party to legal pealiiegs in the course of our business. The outcdraeysuch proceedings,
regardless of the merits, is inherently uncertaire assessment of whether a loss is probable somably possible, and whether the loss or a
range of loss is estimable, often involves a sefepmplex judgments about future events. The Gompecords accruals for contingencies tc
the extent that the occurrence of the continges@rabable and the amount of liability is reasopastimable. If the reasonable estimate of
liability is within a range of amounts and some amtowithin the range appears to be a better estitian any other, then the Company rec
that amount as an accrual. If no amount withinrtirege is a reasonable estimate, then the Companyds the lowest amount as an
accrual. Loss contingencies that are assessednaserare not reported in the financial statememnts) the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Impact of Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009 which provides a single model for revenue aggrom contracts with customers
supersedes current revenue recognition guidanés AU provides that an entity should recognizesneie to depict transfers of promised
goods or services to customers in amounts refigtkia consideration to which the entity expectsdeentitled in the transaction by: (1)
identifying the contract; (2) identifying the coatt's performance obligations; (3) determiningtthesaction price; (4) allocating the
transaction price to the performance obligationst &) recognizing revenue when or as the entitigfees the performance obligations. The
ASU will be effective for annual reporting peridoesginning after December 15, 2016, including imbepeeriods. Early adoption is not
permitted. The guidance permits companies to ajy@yequirements either retrospectively to all pperiods presented or in the year of
adoption through a cumulative adjustment. We aeduating the prospective impact of the pending &domf this ASU on our consolidated
financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15chiisure of Uncertainties about an Entity's AbitityContinue as a Going
Concern. This ASU will explicitly require managerhémassess an entity's ability to continue asiaggooncern, and to provide related
footnote disclosure in certain circumstances. Téwe standard will be effective in the first annuatipd ending after December 15, 2016, ur
we adopt it earlier. The adoption of this ASU i¢ eppected to have a material impact on our codatdd financial statements and consolid
notes to these statements.

3. Fair Value Measurements

During the fourth quarter of 2014, all of the $830et of $192 unrealized loss) auction rate sdearfiemaining at December 31, 2!
have been redeemed at par.

We record auction rate securities at fair valuthenaccompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets or@maece with ASC 320
Investments — Debt and Equity Securities. The chamghe fair value of these securities is recora®d component of other comprehensive
(loss) income. We also record the contingent camaiibn liability resulting from the MIP acquisitiat fair value in accordance with ASC 820
10-50.
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The following tables present our money market fumtiduded in cash and cash equivalents, auctitensecurities assets in 2013, and
contingent consideration liability measured at faitue on a recurring basis as of the dates inglicatassified by valuation hierarchy:

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 20:

Quoted Prices ir Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
Balance at for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
2014 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Money market funds $ 112,80¢ $ 112,80¢ $ - $ -
Total Assets $ 112,80¢ $ 112,80¢ $ - 9 -
Liability:
Contingent consideration $ 17,20C $ - $ - $ 17,20(
Total Liability $ 17,200 $ - $ - $ 17,20(
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 20:
Quoted Prices ir Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
Balance at for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Money market fund $ 60,36: $ 60,36: $ - $ .
Auction rate securities 2,20¢ - - 2,20¢
Total Assets $ 62,57: $ 60,36 $ - $ 2,20¢
Liability:
Contingent consideration $ 15,70C $ - $ - $ 15,70(
Total Liability $ 15,70C $ - $ - $ 15,70(

At December 31, 2013, we held $2,208 in auctioe saturities which were classified as Level 3. fHirevalue of these securities
included U.S. government subsidized securitiesatenflized by student loan obligations, with maigsigreater than 10 years. We have
received all scheduled interest payments on thesgrities.

The valuation of auction rate securities we held ased on Level 3 unobservable inputs which ctatsif our internal analysis of
timing of expected future successful auctions smés calls of the securities, (ii) collateralizatiaf underlying assets of the security and (iii)
credit quality of the security. Due to the 2014ewembtion of auction rate securities, the temporamyairment amount of $192 as of December
31, 2013 has been reversed, which is reflectederatcumulated other comprehensive income (loseupaccompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

The estimated fair value of the contingent consitien liability of $17,200 as of December 31, 20ehresents future potential
milestone payments to former MIP stockholders. Thenpany considers this liability a Level 3 instrurhne with significant unobservable
inputs) in the fair value hierarchy. The estimdtgid value was determined based on probability stéjth discounted cash flow and Monte Carlc
simulation models that included significant estiessand assumptions pertaining to commercializagi@mts and sales targets. The most
significant unobservable inputs were the probaédibf achieving regulatory approval of the develept projects and subsequent commercia
success, and discount rates.
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Significant changes in any of the probabilitiesofcess would result in a significantly higherawér fair value measurement,
respectively. Significant changes in the probabaias to the periods in which milestones will bki@aved would result in a significantly lower
or higher fair value measurement, respectively. Thmpany records the contingent considerationlifglait fair value with changes in
estimated fair values recorded in change in cortihgonsideration liability in the ConsolidatedtStaents of Operations.

The following tables present quantitative inforroatpertaining to the fair value measurement ofL#eel 3 inputs as of December !
2014 and 2013:

Fair Value as

of
December 31, Range
2014 Valuation Technique Unobservable Input (Weighted Average)

Contingent consideration liability:

Probability adjusted discounted cash fl

Azedra commercializatio  $ 2,30C model Probability of succes 40%
Period of milestone expected achieven 2018
Discount rate 10%

Probability adjusted discounted cash flov

1404 commercializatio $ 3,80( model Probability of succes 59%
Period of milestone expected achieven 2019
Discount rate 10%

MIP-1095 Probability adjusted discounted cash fl
commercializatior $ 40C model Probability of succes 19%
Period of milestone expected achieven 2023
Discount rate 10%

19% - 59%

Net sales targe $ 10,70( Monte-Carlo simulatior Probability of succes (37.4%)
Period of milestone expected achieven 2019- 2026
Discount rate:(2) 12%/3.5%

Fair Value as

of
December 31, Range
2013 Valuation Technique Unobservable Input (Weighted Average)
Asset:
5 to 15 year:
Auction Rate Securitie $ 2,20¢ Discounted cash flow mod Redemption perio (6 years;
Discount rate 0.25%- 3.00% (1.55%
Contingent consideration liability:
Probability adjusted discounted cash fl
Azedra commercializatio  $ 2,30( model Probability of succes 40%
Period of milestone expected achieven 2017
Discount rate 10%
Probability adjusted discounted cash flov
1404 commercializatio $ 2,00 model Probability of succes 31%
Period of milestone expected achieven 2018
Discount rate 10%
MIP-1095 Probability adjusted discounted cash fl
commercializatior $ 50C model Probability of succes 19%
Period of milestone expected achieven 2021
Discount rate 10%
19% - 40%
Net sales targe $ 10,90( Monte-Carlo simulatior Probability of succes (32.8%)
Period of milestone expected achieven 2018- 2022
Discount rate1) 12.5%

(1) At December 31, 2014, net sales targets contingmrgideration liability was derived from a modetlena risk neutral framework resulting in the agggtiion of 12% and 3.5
discount rates to estimated cash flo



F-18




Table of Content
PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC .

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued
(amounts in thousands, except per share amouass atherwise noted)

For those financial instruments with significantvee3 inputs, the following table summarizes thévitees for the periods indicated:

Asset— Auction Rate Securities
Fair Value Measurements Using

Significant
Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)
Description 2014 2013
Balance at beginning of peri $ 2,20¢ % 3,24(
Transfers into Level - -
Total realized/unrealized gains (loss
Included in net income (los - -
Included in comprehensive income (lo 192 68
Settlements (2,400 (1,100
Balance at end of period $ - $ 2,20¢
Total amount of unrealized gains (losses) for teogl included in othe
comprehensive income (loss) attributable to thexghan fair market valu
of related assets still held at the reporting date $ - $ -

Liability — Contingent
Consideration
Fair Value Measurements Using

Significant
Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)
Description 2014 2013
Balance at beginning of peri $ 15,70C $ -
Fair value of contingent consideration — acquisiid
Molecular Insight - 15,90(
Fair value adjustment to contingent consideratimiuided
in net income (loss) 1,50( (200)
Balance at end of period $ 17,20 $ 15,70(
Changes in unrealized gains or losses for the gémiduded in earnings
(or changes in net assets) for liabilities helthatend of the reporting
period $ 150 $ (200)

The following tables summarize the amortized casid) the aggregate fair value and gross unredhakting gains and losses at
December 31, 2013:

Amortized Fair Unrealized Holding
2013: Cost Basis Value Gains (Losses) Net
Maturities greater than ten
years:
Auction rate securities  $ 2,400 % 2,20¢ $ - $ (192) $ (192)
$ 2,400 $ 2,20t $ - $ (192 $ (192)
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We compute the cost of its investments on a speidéintification basis. Such cost includes thedio®sts to acquire the securities,
adjusted for the amortization of any discount @mpium.

The following table shows the gross unrealizeddesnd fair value of our auction rate securitieh wirealized losses that are not
deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired, aggpesl by investment category and length of timéitidividual securities have been in a
continuous unrealized loss position, at DecembefB13.

2013: Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total

Description of Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

Securities Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses

Auction rate securitic $ - $ - $ 2,206 $ (192) $ 2,206 $ (192)
Total $ - 3 - 8 2,206 $ (192) $ 2,206 $ (192)

Other-than-temporary impairment analysis on auctionrate securities.The unrealized losses on our auction rate secsirigisulted
from an internal analysis of timing of expectedufiet successful auctions, collateralization of ulyileg assets of the security and credit quality
of the security. At December 31, 2013 there wassamueirity with a gross unrealized loss positio8182 ($2,208 of the total fair value).

The severity of the unrealized losses for auctaia securities at December 31, 2013 was 8 peredowtamortized cost, and the
weighted average duration of the unrealized lofmethese securities was 70 months.

We have evaluated our individual auction rate géearholdings for other-than-temporary impairmantl determined that the
unrealized losses as of December 31, 2013 weibuttble to uncertainty in the liquidity of the dioo rate security market. We did not
consider these securities to be other-than-temibomapaired at December 31, 2013.

4. Accounts Receivable

Our accounts receivable represent amounts duegeRics from collaborators, royalties, researcimigrand the sales of research
reagents, and as of December 31, 2014 and 2018isteah of the following:

2014 2013
Collaborators $ 14 % 12
Royalties 40 2,862
Other 65 12
11¢ 2,88¢
Less, allowance for doubtful accounts (10) (7)
Total $ 10 $ 2,87¢

F-20




Table of Content
PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC .
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued
(amounts in thousands, except per share amounts as otherwise noted)
5. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013stedsif the following:

2014 2013

Computer equipmet $ 1,78 % 2,23¢
Machinery and equipme 5,23¢ 7,091
Furniture and fixture 11€ 17¢
Leasehold improvemen 5,02 5,02(
Other 20€ 1€
12,37 14,53:

Less, accumulated depreciation and
amortization (9,827) (12,119
Total $ 255 $ 2,41%

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, $1.8 million and $illion, respectively, of leasehold improvememtst were being amortized
over periods of 6.4-10.8 years and 8.5-10.8 yeaspectively, under leases with terms through Dées@1, 2020.

6. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

The carrying value of our accounts payable andugttexpenses approximates fair value, as it repigseounts due to vendors and

employees, which will be satisfied within one yesecounts payable and accrued expenses as of Dec&hp2014 and 2013, consisted of the
following:

2014 2013
Accrued consulting and clinical trial co:  $ 2,66 $ 2,67
Accrued payroll and related co: 1,72z 2,12¢
Legal and professional fe 1,063 60¢
Accounts payable and oth 1,04C 793
Other 83 31€
Total $ 6,57C $ 6,517
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7. Restructuring

We incurred a $0.4 million headcount reductionrtegtiring obligation in the first quarter of 203hich was fully paid as of the end
of the third quarter 2014. A first quarter 2013 deaunt reduction resulted in a $1.5 million restuiiog obligation paid that year. During the
second quarter of 2013, we incurred other exit@mdract termination costs, including in connectigth termination of a Molecular facilities
lease ($0.9 million) and amendment and consolidatfidche Company's facilities lease ($0.5 million).

Activity in the restructuring accrual, which is Inded in accounts payable and accrued expenses i@ansolidated Balance Sheets,
and in research and development and general anihigthative expenses in the Consolidated Staten@fi@perations, is specified below.

Contract Total

Severance anc Termination Restructuring

Related Benefits  Other Exit Costs Costs Accrual
Balance at December 31,20 $ 571 $ 6 9 154 % 731
Additions, ne! 1,90¢ 184 3 2,092
Payments (1,667) (190 (157) (2,010
Balance at December 31, 201: 812 - - 812
Additions, nel 1,49 15 1,35¢ 2,86¢
Payments (2,305 (15) (1,359 (3,679
Balance at December 31, 201. - - - -
Additions, nel 35¢ - - 35¢
Payments (359) - - (35€)
Balance at December 31, 201 $ - $ - % - % -

8. Stockholders' Equity

We are authorized to issue 160.0 million sharéSahmon Stock, par value $.0013, and 20.0 millicerss of preferred stock, par
value $.001. The Board of Directors has the authéoiissue common and preferred shares, in sevigsrights and privileges as determined
by the Board of Directors. In the first quarter20fL4 we raised $37,459 in an underwritten publierafg of 8,750 shares of common stock,
entered into an agreement with an investment badkmwhich we may sell from time to time up to $80 of our stock. In July 2013 we
completed a public offering of 9,775 shares of cammstock, with net proceeds of approximately $48,07

9. Commitments and Contingencies
a. Operating Leases

As of December 31, 2014, we leased office, manufamd and laboratory space, under lease agreeragpiisng in December 2020.
Rental payments are recognized as rent expensetoaight-line basis over the term of the leasaddition to rents due under these

agreements, we are obligated to pay additiondlitiasicharges, including utilities, taxes and @tiglg expenses.
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As of December 31, 2014, future minimum annual payts under all operating lease agreements ardlaw$o

Years ending December 31

Minimum
Annual
Payments

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

Thereafter

Total

$ 1,88
1,93¢
1,98¢
2,032
2,08:
2,13¢

$ 12,054

Rental expense totaled approximately $1,864, $3a548$2,074 for 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivaly 2014, 2013 and 2012,
amounts paid exceeded rent expense by $3, $1684r8] respectively, due to the recognition of leéasentives. Additional facility charges,
including utilities, taxes and operating expengas2014, 2013 and 2012 were approximately $2,$27330 and $2,845, respectively.

b. Licensing, Service and Supply Agreements

Progenics and its subsidiaries have entered it¢tléctual property-based license and service ageegs in connection with product
development programs, and have recognized mileslicrase and sublicense fees and supply costsidied in research and development
expenses, totaling approximately $498, $567 anti”lduring the last three years, respectively.

Paid from
inception to
December 31, Future @
2014 Commitments Terms
PSMA LLC agreements with:
Milestone and periodic maintenance payments toAIEe technology to
Seattle Genetics. Inc link chemotherapeutic agents to monoclonal antib®that target prostate
U specific membrane antigen. ADC technology is basgxhrt on technolog
$ 4,501 13,80( licensed by SGI from third partie
Amgen Fremont, Inc. (formerly Milestones and royalties to use XenoMofigechnology for generating
Abgenix) 1,35(C 5,75C fully human antibodies to PSMA LLC's PSMA antig
Annual minimum royalty payments and milestonesge technology
Former member of PSMA LLC 316 52.19° related to PSMA
Paid from
acquisition date tc
December 31, Future @
2014 Commitments Terms
MIP agreements with:
University of Zurich and the Paul Annual maintenance and license fee payments, milestand royalties in
Scherrer Institut: $ 20¢ 1,16(C respect of licensed technology related to 1«
. . . Annual minimum royalty, administration and milestgpayments ii

University of Western Ontario 1€ 33t respect of licensed technology related to Aze

() Amounts based on known contractual obligationgasified in the respective license agreements,whie dependent on the achievement or occurrerfcéuoé milestones
or events and exclude amounts for royalties whiehdapendent on future sales and are unknown.
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In addition, we are planning to out-license or tieate nongermane Molecular Insight licenses and serviceaagests, as to which v
have paid $151 through December 31, 2014, and fodanee commitments of $14,425, subject to occureenicfuture milestones or events. In
February 2015 we have terminated one of Progdites'se agreements in respect of oncology and giteetucts, as to which we paid $909
through December 31, 2014, and had future commitsm&i777, subject to occurrence of milestonesvents.

c. Consulting Agreements

As part of our research and development effortshawee from time to time entered into consultingeggnents with external scientific
specialists. These agreements contain various tanahprovisions, including fees to be paid by u$ imyalties, in the event of future sales, an
milestone payments, upon achievement of definedtsypayable by us. Certain of these scientistadvesors to Progenics, and some have
purchased our Common Stock or received stock optidrich are subject to vesting provisions. We haeegnized expenses with regard to
consulting agreements of $67, $39 and $8 for 22043 and 2012, respectively. Those expenses inthedfair value of stock options granted
during 2013, of approximately $17 and $7 for 20fd 2013, respectively. Such amounts of fair vaheeircluded in research and developn
expense for each year presented (see Note 10).

d. Retirement Agreement

On March 14, 2012, Progenics and company founder P&addon entered into an agreement providindhi®retirement as Chief
Science Officer. In connection with Dr. Maddon'sresnent and termination of his employment agredirf@rogenics agreed to pay him an
amount equal to $1,789 and provide other benefitteuthe agreement.

e. Related Party Agreement

In December 2012, Progenics entered into a finhadwsory agreement with MTS Health Partners, LoPwhich the Company's
Board Chair is a Senior Managing Director and partan customary terms and conditions, wherebg20it3, MTS has received monthly
retainers totaling $55 during the term of the agreet and $300 for MTS' services in connection whth Molecular Insight acquisition. This
agreement was terminated in June 2013.

f. Legal Proceedings

Progenics is a party to a proceeding brought lyrmér employee complaining that the Company vidldte anti-retaliation
provisions of the federal Sarbanes-Oxley law bynteating the former employee. The Company beligkeformer employee's claims are
without merit and is contesting the matter vigotpushe federal District Court hearing the caseiéssin July 2013 an order denying our
motion for summary judgment dismissing the formmap@yee's complaint, making it likely that the pgeding will continue to trial. Given the
uncertainty attendant to the proceeding, we hageuad amounts in connection with this matter wtdol not material to these Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In the third quarter of 2014, Progenics and Orsofdtmer licensee of Relistor in Japan, settledlalims between them relating to an
arbitration commenced by Progenics in 2013, thégsOctober 2008 License Agreement, and the fofitensee's development and
commercialization of the drug. In connection thetkwthe parties exchanged mutual releases anfibtheer licensee paid Progenics $7.25
million, which has been recorded as other operatingme.

10. Share-Based Payment Arrangements

Our share-based compensation to employees inchategualified stock options, restricted stock and shi@sued under our Purchi
Plans, which are compensatory under ASC 718 Comagiens- Stock Compensation. We account for shasedaompensation to non-
employees, including non-qualified stock optiond asstricted stock, in accordance with ASC 505 Bui

Compensation cost for share-based awards will t@grézed in our financial statements over the eglaequisite service periods;
usually the vesting periods for awards with a serdondition. We have made an accounting policystetto use the straight-line method of
attribution of compensation expense, under whiehgitant date fair value of share-based awardsbeitecognized on a straight-line basis ove
the total requisite service period for the totahadv
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We have adopted two stock incentive plans, the ¥g86nded Stock Incentive Plan (terminated in 2G0®) the 2005 Stock Incenti
Plan. Under these Plans as amended, up to 5,0001a460 shares of common stock, respectively, baea reserved for the issuance of
awards to employees, consultants, directors aret atdividuals who render services to Progeniciéctively, Awardees). The Plans contain
anti-dilution provisions in the event of a stochitsigtock dividend or other capital adjustmentaéined. Each Plan provides for the Board or
Committee to grant to Awardees stock options, sagpkeciation rights, restricted stock, performaamards or phantom stock, as defined
(collectively, Awards). The Committee is also authed to determine the term and vesting of eachr8lvead the Committee may in its
discretion accelerate the vesting of an Award gttame. Stock options granted under the Plans gdligerest pro rata over three to five years
and have terms of ten years. Restricted stock dssoder either Plan generally vested annually dwee to five years, unless specified
otherwise by the Committee. The exercise priceut$tanding norgualified stock options is usually equal to the failue of our common sto
on the date of grant. The exercise price of noriigrh stock options granted from the 2005 Plan ar@ntive stock options (ISO) granted
from the Plans may not be lower than the fair vaiieur common stock on the dates of grant. At Ddwer 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, all
outstanding stock options were non-qualified opiorhe 2005 Plan will terminate on March 25, 208gtjions granted before termination of
the Plans will continue under the respective Plarig exercised, cancelled or expired.

We apply a forfeiture rate to the number of unvesteards in each reporting period in order to estinthe number of awards that are
expected to vest. Estimated forfeiture rates asedbapon historical data on vesting behavior ofleyges. We adjust the total amount of
compensation cost recognized for each award, ip¢hied in which each award vests, to reflect tttea forfeitures related to that award.
Changes in our estimated forfeiture rate will resuthanges in the rate at which compensationfoostn award is recognized over its vesting
period.

Under ASC 718 Compensation — Stock Compensatierfaih value of each non-qualified stock option edvia estimated on the date
of grant using the Blackcholes option pricing model, which requires inpsgumptions noted in the following table. Rangeasstimptions fc
inputs are disclosed where the value of such assomspvaried during the related period. Historiealatilities are based upon daily quoted
market prices of our common stock on The NASDAQcKtdarket LLC over a period equal to the expectgdtof the related equity
instruments. We rely only on historical volatilgjnce it provides the most reliable indication wufe volatility. Future volatility is expected to
be consistent with historical; historical volafilis calculated using a simple average calculatigstprical data is available for the length of the
option's expected term and a sufficient numbenigepbservations are used consistently. Sincestmek options are not traded on a public
market, we do not use implied volatility. For 202813 and 2012 our expected term was calculatezthgson historical data related to
exercise and post-termination cancellation actiagcordingly, for grants issued to employees arettbrs and officers, we are using expecte
terms of 5.3 and 7.5 years, 5.3 and 7.4 years ahdrisl 7.4 years, respectively. The expected termgtions granted to non-employees was
also calculated separately from stock options gihtd employees and directors and officers andteragears, which is the contractual term of
those options. We have never paid dividends ambtiexpect to pay dividends in the future. Therefaur dividend rate is zero. The risk-free
rate for periods within the expected term of théans is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curveffiect at the time of grant. The following
table presents assumptions used in computing theafme of option grants during 2014, 2013 and201

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 74%— 84% 73%—90% 70%- 85%
Expected dividends Zero Zero Zero
Expected term (years) 5.3-7.5 5.3-10 5.3-10
Weighted average expected term (ye 5.93 5.96 6.11
Risk-free rate 1.64% — 0.76% — 0.57% —

2.42% 2.83% 1.71%
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A summary of option activity under the Plans a®etember 31, 2014 and changes during the yearthded is presented below:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Options Shares Price Term (Yr.) Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2014 5,24¢ $ 10.9¢
Grantec 99: 4.6€
Exercised (77) 5.54
Forfeited (324) 6.0C
Expired (42%) 13.52
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 5,41¢ 9.9¢ 57¢ $ 6,85¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 4.11F $ 11.4C 48¢ $ 3,79¢

The weighted average grant-date fair value of atigranted under the Plans during 2014, 2013 ah? 2@s $3.41, $3.74 and $6.38,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of optiaercised during 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $102a#d1$5174, respectively.

The options granted under the Plans, describedealimsiude non-qualified stock options granteddo fermer CEO on July 3, 2006.
For the 2006 award, the requisite service periddasshortest of the explicit or implied serviceipds and the explicit service period for this
award is nine years and 11 months from the gratet da

At December 31, 2014, the estimated requisite semvériod for the 2006 award was 1.5 years. Fo4 22013 and 2012, the total
compensation expense recognized for the performbased options was $0.1 million, $0.1 million ar&i®million, respectively.

The total compensation expense of shares, grantecth employees and non-employees, under all oloare-based payment
arrangements that was recognized in operationsg@d14, 2013 and 2012 was:

2014 2013 2012
Recognized as
Research and
Developmen $ 1,84: $ 2,01z $ 4,06(
General and
Administrative 1,68( 1,53¢ 2,47¢
Total $ 3,52 % 3,546 $ 6,53¢

No tax benefit was recognized related to such corsgtgon cost because of the Company's net opetasegs and the related defer
tax assets were fully offset by valuation allowarnfsecordingly, no amounts related to windfall teenlefits have been reported in cash flows
from operations or cash flows from financing adias for the periods presented.

As of December 31, 2014, there was $3.2 milliototdl unrecognized compensation cost related touested stock options under 1
1996 and 2005 Plans. Those costs are expectedrézbgnized over a weighted average period of 2sy&msh received from exercises under
all share-based payment arrangements for 2014 vdsdillion. We issue new shares of our commonkstgaon share option exercises.
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In applying the treasury stock method for the dalidon of diluted EPS, amounts of unrecognized censgtion expense and windfall
tax benefits are required to be included in thei@ssl proceeds in the denominator of the diluted E&ilation unless they are anti-dilutive.
We reported net income for 2014 and included theide effect of unrecognized compensation expéngke assumed proceeds in the
denominator of the diluted EPS calculation. Theahi#o be issued upon the assumed conversion ebtitangent consideration liability in
2014 and 2013 have been excluded from the calounlafi diluted earnings per share, as their effemildshave been anti-dilutive. We incurred
net losses for 2013 and 2012 and, therefore, sucluats have not been included in the calculationshfose periods since they would be anti-
dilutive. As a result, basic and diluted EPS aseshame for the 2013 and 2012 periods. We have aradecounting policy decision to calcul
windfall tax benefits/shortfalls, for purposes dfited EPS calculation, excluding the impact ofetedd tax assets. This policy decision will
apply when we have net income and windfall tax fitsishortfalls are realizable.

11. Employee Savings Plan

The terms of the amended and restated ProgenicmBbeuticals 401(k) Plan (the Amended Plan), anathgr things, allow eligible
employees to participate in the Amended Plan bgtielg to contribute to the Amended Plan a percentdgheir compensation to be set aside
to pay their future retirement benefits. During theee years ended December 31, 2014, we matclédbthose employee contributions that
are equal to 598% of compensation and are made by eligible empleoye the Amended Plan (the Matching Contributibtmpddition, we ma
also make a discretionary contribution each yeavairalf of all participants who are non-highly canpated employees. We made Matching
Contributions of approximately $276, $330 and $&8the Amended Plan for 2014, 2013 and 2012, réispede No discretionary contributiol
were made during those years.

12. Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the liability Inoet in accordance with ASC 740 Income Taxes. Defeimcome taxes reflect the
net tax effects of temporary differences betweenctirrying amounts of assets and liabilities foaficial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for income tax purposes.

There is no provision or benefit for federal otstmcome taxes for 2014, 2013 and 2012, other $iad million and $0.4 million
income tax benefit in 2014 and 2013, respectivagulting from the change in the temporary diffeesbetween carrying amounts ofgreces
research and development assets for financial tieggourposes and the amounts used for incomeugoges. We have completed calculat
through July 15, 2014, under Internal Revenue Retetion 382, the results of which indicate that pasership changes will limit annual
utilization of NOLs in the future. Ownership chasgribsequent to July 15, 2014, may further lingtftiture utilization of net operating loss
and tax credit carry-forwards as defined by thefatland state tax codes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of Decerief014 and 2013, consisted of the following:

2014 2013
Deferred tax asset
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 577C  $ 6,16t
R&E tax credit carr-forwards 5,27( 5,02¢
NYS investment tax credit ca-forwards 1,09( 1,09t
AMT credit carn-forwards 211 211
Net operating loss cal-forwards 204,97 190,26:
Capitalized research and development
expenditure: 20,28( 25,23
Stock compensatic 13,84¢ 13,82¢
Other items - 1,097
Total gross deferred tax ass 251,44: 242 91
Less: Valuation allowance (251,44 (242,91)
Deferred tax asse - -
Deferred tax liability — long term (11,337) (12,327)
Net deferred tax liabilit $  (11.33) $  (12,32)
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We do not recognize deferred tax assets considerindistory of taxable losses and the uncertaiegyrding our ability to generate
sufficient taxable income in the future to utiliteese deferred tax assets. For 2014, 2013 and @@lidcurred net losses for tax purposes. We
recognized a full tax valuation against deferredassets at December 31, 2014 and 2013. In 2012Q@i#Iwe recognized deferred income tax
liabilities of $11,332 and $12,321, respectivelyeafiect the net tax effects of temporary differesbetween the carrying amounts of in proces
research and development assets for financial tiegguurposes and the amounts used for incomeugpoges.

The following is a reconciliation of income taxeswputed at the Federal statutory income tax rated@ctual effective income tax
provision during 2014, 2013 and 2012:

2014 2013 2012
U.S. Federal statutory rate 34.0% (34.0)% (35.0)%
State income taxes, net of
Federal benefi 13.2 (4.9 (5.4
Research and experimental ta
credit (15.8) (3.8) -
Effect of federal and state tax
rate change 15 8.7 -
Permanent difference 47.9 3.2 4.2
Change in valuation allowance (109.6) 30.0 36.2
Income tax (benefit) (28.8)% (0.8)% 0.0%

As of December 31, 2014, we had available, forédrn purposes, unused federal NOLs of approximn&&57.2 million, which will
expire in various years from 2018 to 2034, $18.loni of which were generated from deductions plzstuary 1, 2006 that, when realized,
reduce taxes payable and will increase paid-intaband are not reflected in our deferred tax assieove. Additionally, $11.2 million of the
valuation allowance relates to NOLSs attributablexoess tax deductions for equity compensatiodaneary 1, 2006. When realized this will
also be reflected as an increase to paid-in-cagitab, we had available, for tax return purposesised state NOLs of approximately $475.6
million, which will expire in various years from 28 to 2034.

We have reviewed our nexus in various tax jurisoist and our tax positions related to all openytars for events that could change
the status of our ASC 740 Income Taxes liabilityariy, or require an additional liability to be ceded. We have not, as of yet, conducted a
study of our research and development credit damyards. Such a study might result in an adjusti@our research and development credit
carry-forwards, but until a study is completed ang adjustment is known, no amounts are being ptedeas an uncertain tax position under
ASC 740-10 except for uncertain tax positions aeglin connection with the Molecular Insight acdios. A full valuation allowance has
been provided against the Company's research amdiogenent credits and, if an adjustment is requlitieid adjustment would be offset by an
adjustment to the valuation allowance. Thus, theyald be no impact to the statements of operatomscomprehensive loss if an adjustment
was required.

As of December 31, 2014, we are subject to fedmerdlstate income tax in the U.S. Open tax yeaaseréd years in which unused net
operating losses were generated or, if used, fachwthe statute of limitation for examination byitag authorities has not expired. Our open
years extend back to 1997. No amounts of intemregepalties were recognized in our ConsolidateteBtants of Operations or Consolida
Balance Sheets as of and for the years ended Detce8hph2014, 2013 and 2012.

Our research and experimental (R&E) tax creditycforwards of approximately $5.3 million at DecemB&, 2014 expire in various
years from 2018 to 203

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we have not rézed any liability for uncertain tax positions caese of our full valuation
allowance. We will recognize interest and penaltéated to these positions, should such costséesaed. The recognition of unrecognize:
benefits would not affect our effective tax ratedngse the tax benefit would be offset by an in@é@aur valuation allowance.
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The following is a tabular reconciliation of thedbamounts of unrecognized tax benefits for theryended December 31, 2014 and

2013.
2014 2013
Beginning uncertain tax benef $ 2,661 $ 2,661
Current yea- increase: - -
Current yea- decrease - -
Settlement: - -
Expired statuses - -
Ending uncertain tax benefits $ 2,661 $ 2,661

13. Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Our basic net income (loss) per share amounts lbeee computed by dividing net income (loss) byviegghted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Fbd 2@e reported net income, and the computatiatilofed earnings per share is based
upon the weighted-average number of our commoreshard dilutive effect, determined using the treastock method, of potential common
shares outstanding including amount of unrecognéoedpensation expense. In periods where sharesigsbed upon the assumed conversiol
of the contingent consideration liability have ami-ailutive effect on the calculation of dilutedmings per share, these shares are excluded
from the calculation. For 2013 and 2012, we regbrtet losses and, therefore, potential common shveeee not included since such inclusion
would have been anti-dilutive. As of December 3112 our 28 shares of unvested restricted stock mathforfeitable rights to dividends were
outstanding; all such shares were vested at th@ebdcember 31, 2013. The allocation of 2012 os$és to these participating securities
pursuant to the two-class method is not materiabtt basic and diluted earnings per share. Ttaulzdlons of net loss per share, basic and
diluted, are as follows:

Weighted
Net Income (Loss Average
Common Shares Per Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
2014:
Basic $ 4,41( 6s,18: $ _ 00€
Dilutive effect of contingent consideratio
liability - -
Dilutive effect of stock options - 58
Diluted $ 4,41( 68,24! $ 0.0¢
2013:
Basic and diluted $ (42,577) 55,79t § (0.76€)
2012:
Basic and diluted $ (35,43)) 34,75¢ $ (1.02)
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During 2014, 2013 and 2012, anti-dilutive commoarsk excluded from diluted per share amounts dowisike following:

2014 2013 2012
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average Average Average Average
Number Exercise Price Number Exercise Price Number Exercise Price
Options 5,03¢ $ 10.5¢ 5,96¢ $ 11.5¢ 5947 $ 12.3:
Contingent consideration liabili 3,45 3,54¢ -
Restricted stock - - 60
Total 8,49: 9,61 6,007

14. Unaudited Quarterly Results (unaudited)
Summarized quarterly financial data during 2014 2043 are as follows:

2014 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31
Revenues (losses® $ 1,81F $ 1477 $ 41,65¢ $ (577
Net income (loss (9,319 (11,079 36,97¢ (12,179
Net income (loss) per she- basic (0.15) (0.17) 0.53 (0.1¢)
Net income (loss) per she- diluted (0.15) (0.17) 0.51 (0.18¢)

2013 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Revenue: $ 2,22¢ $ 1,801 $ 867 $ 2,96¢
Net loss (11,259 (12,267) (20,500 (8,55))
Net loss per shar- basic and dilute (0.22) (0.2 (0.19) (0.19

(1) Revenues in the first and third quarters of2ditlude $1.0 million milestone revenue from Fand $40.0 million milestone revenue fr
Salix, respectively
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Additions
Charged to Genera Deductions
Year ended Decembe and administrative  Accounts Written
31, Beginning Balance expenses Off During Period Ending Balance
(in thousands)
2014 $ 7% 3% - $ 10
2013 $ - $ 7% - $ 7
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regitthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

PROGENICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC
By: /sl MARK R. BAKER
Mark R. Baker
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 16, 2015

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélptihe following persons on
behalf of the registrant in the capacities andhendates indicated.

Signature Capacity Date
/s/ PETER J. CROWLE® Chairmar March 16, 201!

Peter J. Crowle

/s/ PAUL J. MADDON Vice Chairmar March 16, 201t
Paul J. Maddon, M.D., Ph.I

Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principatécutive

/sl MARK R. BAKER Officer) March 16, 201!
Mark R. Bakel

/s/ KAREN J. FERRANTE Director March 16, 201!
Karen J. Ferrante, M.[

/s/ MICHAEL D. KISHBAUCH Director March 16, 201!
Michael D. Kishbaucl

/s/ DAVID A. SCHEINBERG Director March 16, 201!
David A. Scheinberg, M.D.,

Ph.D.

/s/ NICOLE S. WILLIAMS Director March 16, 201!
Nicole S. Williams

/sl ANGELO W. LOVALLO, Vice President, Finance and Treasurer (Principadiéial and

JR. Accounting Officer) March 16, 201!

Angelo W. Lovallo, Jr
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3.1(2) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe Registrant

3.2(2) Amended and Restated -laws of the Registran

4.1(3) Specimen Certificate for Common Stock, $0.0013vadue per share, of the Registre

10.5(4) Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Incentive F

10.6.3(5) Amended 2005 Stock Incentive Plal

10.6.4(6) Form of Nor-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreemen

10.6.5(6) Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreemerit

10.7(7) Form of Indemnification Agreemen

10.8.2(8) Retirement Agreement, dated as of March 14, 204®yden the Registrant and Dr. Paul J. Madc

10.9(3) Letter dated August 25, 1994 between the RegistnathtDr. Robert J. Israe

10.16(9)1 Development and License Agreement, dated Aprill3@9, between Protein Design Labs, Inc. and thesRagt.

10.16.1(10) Letter Agreement, dated November 24, 2003, reldtinge Development and License Agreement betweeteiR Design
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10.19(11) 1 Exclusive Su-license Agreement, dated September 21, 2001, battheeRegistrant and UR Labs, Ii

10.19.1(12 Amendment to Exclusive S-license Agreement, dated September 21, 2001, bettheeRegistrant and UR Labs, |i

10.21.1(13) Amended and Restated Agreement of Lease, dated@c28, 2009, between BMR-Landmark at Eastview lan@ the
Registrant

10.23 Information concerning compensation of the Regmtsanon-employee directors is included in the Biegint's proxy material
for its 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders anddtgrent Report on Form 8-K filed on September2l¥,3 and is
incorporated herein by referenci

10.25(14) t Option and License Agreement, dated May 8, 198%ra/between the University of Chicago and UR Laiis, as amended
by (i) Amendment to Option and License Agreemeated September 17, 1987, by and between the UitivefsChicago
and UR Labs, Inc. and (ii) Second Amendment to @pénd License Agreement, dated March 3, 1989nbyamong the
University of Chicago, ARCH Development Corporatanmd UR Labs, Inc

10.26(15) Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, dated 20riR006, between the Registrant Inc. and Cytdgmmporation,

10.27(15) t Amended and Restated PSMA/PSMP License Agreematd d\pril 20, 2006, by and among the Registrapto@en
Corporation and PSMA Development Company L

10.29(16) 1 License Agreement, dated as of October 16, 200&nbyamong Ono Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and thésReaqgt.

10.34(17) t Collaboration Agreement, effective June 14, 20@5amd between Seattle Genetics, Inc. and PSMA Dewsént Company,
LLC.

10.37(18) t License Agreement dated as of February 3, 201anbybetween Salix Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the RagistProgenics

10.37.1(18) t

10.38(19) t
10.39(19) t
10.40(20) t
10.41(21)
10.42(21)
10.43(22)

10.44(23)
10.45(17) t

12.1
21.1

Pharmaceuticals Nevada, Inc. and Excelsior Lifegms Ireland Limitec

2010 Agreement Related to Progenics' MNTX In-Lieerdated February 3, 2011, by and among the UriiyersChicago,
acting on behalf of itself and ARCH Development @mation, the Registrant, Progenics Pharmaceutidelsda, Inc. and
Salix Pharmaceuticals, In

Stock Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Janua2918, by and between Molecular Insight Pharmacalst Inc., its
Stockholders, the Registrant, and Highland Capi@ahagement, L.P., as Stockholders Represent:

License Agreement, dated September 1, 2012, bypeatvecen FUJIFILM RI Pharma Co., Ltd. and Molecuieight
Pharmaceuticals, In

License Agreement, dated May 4, 2012, between Mitded¢nsight Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the Universityurich and the
Paul Scherrer Institut:

License Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2@2@&¢elen Molecular Insight Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Bimel Board of
Governors of the University of Western Onta

License Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2008;dem Molecular Insight Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ansgaditis Pharma AC
together with First Amendment, dated January 472€@ereto

Controlled Equity Offering™ Sales Agreement dated as of January 23, 2014,dbetween the Registrant and Cantor
Fitzgerald & Co

Agreement, dated September 19, 2014, between thistRat and Dr. Hagop Youssoufiat

Collaboration Agreement, effective February 21,208/ and between Abgenix, Inc. and PSMA Developn@mpany,
LLC.

Statement re computation of ratio of earnings jlesgombined fixed charges and preferred stoclddids.

Subsidiaries of the Registra
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Consent of Ernst & Young LLF

Certification of Mark R. Baker, Chief Executive @#r of the Registrant pursuant to 13a-14(a) anié Rbd-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amen

Certification of Angelo W. Lovallo, Jr., Vice Préeint, Finance & Treasurer of the Registrant purstah3a-14(a) and Rule
15c¢-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934nasnded

Certification of Mark R. Baker, Chief Executive @#r of the Registrant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sacti8t0, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbiOxley Act of 2002

Certification of Angelo W. Lovallo, Jr., Vice Présint, Finance & Treasurer of the Registrant purstcah8 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBa-Oxley Act of 2002

Interactive Data Fils

101.INS XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schen

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkba
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkba
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkb.
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Docume
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Exhibits footnoted as previously filed have bededfias an exhibit to the document of the Registaather registrant referenced in the
footnote below, and are incorporated by refererseih.

Previously filed in Current Report on Forr-K filed on June 13, 201.

Previously filed in Current Report on Forr-K filed on March 16, 2012

Previously filed in Registration Statement on F@&-1, Commission File No. 3:-13627.
Previously filed in Registration Statement on F@&-8, Commission File No. 3:-120508.
Previously filed in Current Report on Forr-K filed on June 18, 201«

Previously filed in Current Report on Forr-K filed on July 8, 2008

Previously filed in Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 20
Previously filed in Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 20
Previously filed in Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1¢
Previously filed in Annual Report on Form-K for the year ended December 31, 2C
Previously filed in Annual Report on Form-K for the year ended December 31, 2C
Previously filed in Current Report on Forr-K filed on September 20, 200

Previously filed in Current Report on Forr-K filed on November 28, 201

Previously filed in Annual Report on Form-K for the year ended December 31, 2C
Previously filed in Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2
Previously filed in Annual Report on Form-K for the year ended December 31, 2C
Previously filed in Amendment No. 2 to Annual Repam Form 1+-K/A for the year ended December 31, 20
Previously filed in Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 20
Previously filed in Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 20
Previously filed in Annual Report on Form-K for the year ended December 31, 2C
Previously filed in Registration Statement on F@rt, Commission File No. 333-129570 filed by Moletunsight Pharmaceuticals,
Inc.

Previously filed in Registration Statement on F@&-3, Commission File No. 3-193521.
Previously filed in Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2

Confidential treatment granted as to certain pogiomitted and filed separately with the Commiss
Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage
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Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Ratio of Earnings (Loss) to Combined Fixed Chargeand Preferred Stock Dividends

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

Exhibit 12.1

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Determination of earnings (los:
Income (loss) from operatiol $ 441C $ (42,939 $ (35,43) $ 10,38. $ (69.820)
Add:
Fixed charge 373 71C 41C 69= 70¢
Earnings (loss), as adjust $ 4,78: % (42,229 $ (35,02) $ 11,07¢ $ (69,119
Fixed charges
Estimate of interest within rental exper 373 71C 41C 69t 70¢
Fixed charge $ 37 $ 71C % 41C  $ 69t $ 70¢
Preferred stock dividenc $ - % - $ - $ - % =
Ratio of earnings (loss) to fixed charges and prete

stock dividend: 13 * * 16 *
Coverage deficiency amount for total fixed charged

preferred stock dividend® $ - % 42,93¢ % 3543, $ - % 69,82(

(1) For the years ended 2010, 2012 and 2013, the Conspzoverage ratio is less than -to-one and it must generate additional earnings afetlspecified amounts to achie

a coverage ratio of 1:.



Exhibit 21.1

Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Subsidiaries
Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Excelsior Life Sciences Ireland Limite Ireland
Molecular Insight Pharmaceuticals, i Delaware
Molecular Insight Limited? England and Wale
Progenics Life Sciences Limite England and Wale
Progenics Pharmaceuticals Nevada, Nevada
PSMA Development Company LL Delaware

* Subsidiary of Molecular Insight Pharmaceuticéis,.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-193521) including the related Prospectus and Prospectus Supplement;

(2) Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-183511, 333-124910, 333-143670, 333-160389, 333-176204 and 333-
197071) pertaining to the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan;

(3) Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-52277 and 333-120508) pertaining to its Amended and Restated 1996
Stock Incentive Plan;

of our reports dated March 16, 2015, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Progenics
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc., included
in the Company's Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Hartford, Connecticut
March 16, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) AND RULE 15d-14(a) UNDERTHE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED
I, Mark R. Baker, certify tha
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Ir
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary

to make the statements made, in light of the cistarnces under which such statements were madmisieding with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, angtfie periods presented in this
report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant is made known to us byegtwithin the registrant,
particularly during the period in which this rep@teing preparec

b) designed such internal control over finah@aorting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijy

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the regisalisclosure controls and procedures and predémtéis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in #ggstrant's internal control over financial repagtihat occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; ant

5. The registrant's other certifying officer antllve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's independent regst@ublic accounting firm and the audit committé¢he registrant's board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalentfiom):

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internarobaver financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; anc

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabires management or other employees who have #dican role in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

/s/ Mark R. Baker

Date: March 16, 2015 Mark R. Bakel
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) AND RULE 15d-14(a) UNDERTHE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED
I, Angelo W. Lovallo, Jr., certify tha
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Ir
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary

to make the statements made, in light of the cistarnces under which such statements were madmisieding with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, angtfie periods presented in this
report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant is made known to us byegtwithin the registrant,
particularly during the period in which this rep@teing preparec

b) designed such internal control over finah@aorting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijy

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the regisalisclosure controls and procedures and predémtéis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in #ggstrant's internal control over financial repagtihat occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; ant

5. The registrant's other certifying officer antllve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's independent regst@ublic accounting firm and the audit committé¢he registrant's board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalentfiom):

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internarobaver financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; anc

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabires management or other employees who have #dican role in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

/s/ Angelo W. Lovallo, Jr.

Date: March 16, 2015 Angelo W. Lovallo, Jr
Vice President, Finance & Treasu
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT
TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned Chief Executive Officer of Progermttiarmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company") does hecebyfy as follows:

This annual report on Form 10-K of the Companytiier period ended December 31, 2014 and filed wighSecurities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the "Report") fabymplies with the requirements of Section 13(a)®(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 and the information contained in the Reparlyfa@resents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Mark R. Baker

Date: March 16, 2015 Mark R. Baker
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906, or other document authenticategnowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed foithimvthe electronic version of this written stagmrequired by Section 906, has been
provided to Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andbe&iretained by Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Intt famished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT
TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned Vice President, Finance & TreaafrBrogenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Compadg8s hereby certify as
follows:

This annual report on Form 10-K of the Companytiier period ended December 31, 2014 and filed wighSecurities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the "Report") faymplies with the requirements of Section 13(a)®(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and the information contained in the Reparlyfa@resents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Angelo W. Lovallo, Jr.

Date: March 16, 2015 Angelo W. Lovallo, Jr
Vice President, Finance & Treasu
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906, or other document authenticategnowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed foithimvthe electronic version of this written stagmrequired by Section 906, has been
provided to Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andbe&iretained by Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Intt famished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon req



